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| enclose the following documents lodged with the Australian Stock Exchange today:

. Announcement headed “Open Briefing ERG Ltd Chairman on CEO Change-Over”

. Announcement headed “ERG Group Announces CEQ Transition”
. Announcement headed “Notice of Annual General Meeting”
. Announcement headed “2003 Notice of Annual General Meeting”.
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FACSIMILE
Department: COMPANY ANNOUNCEMENTS OFFICE

DATE: 23/10/2003
TIME: 13:20:22
TO: ERG LIMITED

FAX NO: 08-9273-1208
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Australian Stock Exchange Limited
ABN 98 008 624 691

Exchange Centre

Level 4, 20 Bridge Street

Sydney NSW 2000

PO Bax H224

Australia Square

NSW 1215

Telephone 61 2 9227 0334

Intemet htip://www.asx.com.au
DX 10427 Stock Exchange Sydney

FROM: AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE LIMITED - Company Announcements Office

SUBJECT:  CONFIRMATICN OF RECEIPT AND RELEASE OF ANNOUNCEMENT

MESSAGE:

We confirm the receipt and release to the market of an announcement regarding:

Open Briefing ERG Ltd Chairman on CEO Change-Over

PLEASE NOTE:

In accordance with Guidance Note 14 of ASX Listing Rules -

® Use of ASX Online for lodgement of company announcements becomes mandatory

from 1 July 2003

¢ Handwritten and hand-delivered company announcements are no longer accepted
¢ Fee of A$38.50 (including GST) applies from 1 March 2003 for announcements faxed

to CAP

* New CAP fax number from 1 March 2003 for announcements sent within Australia is

1900 995 275 -




ASX.Online@asx.com. To: bjones@erggroup.com, koswald@erggroup.com,
au sduffy@erggroup.com, ggeen@erggroup.com

cc:
23/10/2003 11:20 Subject: ERG - ASX Online e-Lodgement - Chairman on CEQ Change-over

(Ref: CMP-0014-01)

ASX confirms the release to the market of Doc ID; 88844 as follows:
Release Time: 23-Oct-2003 13:20:20

ASX Code: ERG

File Name: 88844.pdf

Your Announcement Title: Open Briefing - Chairman on CEO Change-over

B8844.pdf




Attention ASX Company Anncuncements Platform
Lodgement of Open Briefimg

corporatefile.com.au

ERG Limited
247 Balcatta Road
Balcatta WA 6021

Date of lodgement: 23-Oct-2003
Title: Open Briefing. ERG Ltd. Chairman on CEO Change-Over
Record of interview:
corporatefile.com.au

ERG Group Limited today announced that Peter intended to retire as CEO at
the end of December 2003 following a recent accident. He’ll be replaced by
Dr Allan Sullivan. How was Allan chosen and what does he bring to ERG?

Chairman Tony Shepherd

Obviously we were all shocked by Peter’s accident but fully understand and
respect his decision. We’d been introduced to Allan about six months ago and
had been considering him for various roles in the group, including a senior role
in our European operations or an appointment as a non-executive director.

Fortunately, we’ve been able to reach an agreement quickly for Allan to leave
his current employment with Siemens in Europe and return to Australia in the
New Year. We did consider other candidates but Allan was our preference due
to his technology and engineering background and his strong international
business experience. He’s worked extensively across Asia and Europe and
speaks fluent German and Dutch. We see the German market as a significant
opportunity for the group going forward.

We didn’t want to go through a drawn-out recruitment process as we have a
full order book and our focus is to deliver those projects. Allan has the
background to ensure we succeed.

corporatefile.com.au
Did you consider an internal appointment?




Chairman Tony Shepherd

We did. However, our aim was to maintain stability across the group and not
change too dramatically what’s a relatively new management structure. We
have great confidence in our management team but didn’t believe an internal
candidate was the best choice at this time.

corporatefile.com.au

Given ERG has just undergone an extensive balance sheet restructure and a
business turnaround has only just begun, isn’t it bad timing for a CEO change-
over?

CEQ Peter Fogarty

In fact, the timing couldn’t be better. The company’s now back in great
financial shape with strong cash reserves, no bank debt and a very large order
book.

Certainly the board has been very supportive of my need to focus on recovery.
We’ve worked together to find the best replacement and ensure the transition
will be as seamless as possible.

corporatefile.com.au
Among investors, Peter is identified very strongly with ERG. Do you believe
his departure will significantly impact the group?

Chairman Tony Shepherd

As I've said in the media release today, Peter’s made an enormous contribution
to the group. His efforts over the last 12 months were outstanding and saved
the group when it was in a difficult position.

One reason we’ve asked him to stay on as a consultant to the company is to
ensure his retirement has as little impact as possible on the running of the
business. This will also ensure the smooth transition to the new CEO and at
the same time give comfort to our staff and customers.

cerporatefile.com.au
Was any consideration given to Peter’s remaining a director of the company?

CEQ Peter Fogarty

Yes. The board certainly asked me to remain available as a consultant to it and
the new management. But I was reluctant to remain as a director as I believe a
former CEQO shouldn’t be a director, certainly in the early stages, both from a
corporate governance perspective.and so as not to interfere in the new CEO’s
ability to lead management.

I certainly want to see the company prosper and achieve what I believe it’s
capable of. I'll be able to contribute best by working on specific strategic
projects and supporting the new CEC.

corporatefile.com.au
Will you retain a shareholding in ERG?

CEQ Peter Fogarty
Absolutely. I have tremendous belief in ERG’s potential. It has great
technology and people, and a fantastic portfolio of reference sites.




corporatefile.com.au
Termination payments to departing CEOs have drawn increasing criticism
from shareholders and investors. What payment is the board making to Peter?

Chairman Tony Shepherd

We’'re sensitive to shareholder concern at large payments to CEOs who’ve
underperformed. This situation is vastly different. Peter’s been CEO for 18
years and has operated under a management contract. He’ll receive only his
lump sum entitlement as per his contract. The total is less than $2 million. He
has no superannuation entitlements. We believe this is very fair given Peter’s
years of service and the fact that he will remain available to the company. He
has also entered restrictive covenants until 2005. His consultancy going
forward will be based on a retainer and success-related fee.

corporatefile.com.au
After 18 years in the CEO role Peter, what do you consider to be your legacy to
ERG?

CEO Peter Fogarty

The 18 years have been somewhat of a roller coaster. When I took over as
executive chairman/managing director in 1986, the company had three or four
staff and turnover of about $600,000. It was capitalised at less than $10
million. 1 have great pride in the fact that I led the development of the
company to the point where we now have tumover of $300 million, 800
employees and are the dominant player in our industry. I believe my
- commitment and drive attracted a fantastic group of people who’ve supported
me through the good times and the bad.

Together, we’ve demonstrated that a small Perth-based company that develops
~ technology locally can rise to be a global leader in its field. Very few
Australian companies have been able to achieve that.

I’m particularly pleased we got through the two very difficult years following
the tech crash. We were impacted by delays in contract awards and some fairly
aggressive media coverage. Notwithstanding those problems, we’ve rebuilt the
balance sheet and secured a solid portfolio of profitable contracts. Importantly,
we returned to profitability in the last quarter of 2003 and we’re confident the
group will be profitable in 2004.

My best possible legacy would be for ERG go on from here and generate the
profit it’s capable of achieving. That will secure the jobs of all ERG’s staff and
deliver returns to shareholders.

corporatefile.com.au
Thank you Tony and Peter.

For previous Open Briefings with ERG, visit www.corporatefile.com.au

For more information about ERG, visit www.erggroup.com
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AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE
Australian Stock Exchange Limited
ABN 88 008 624 €91

Exchange Centre
Level 4, 20 Bridge Street

Sydney NSW 2000

PO Box H224

Australia Square

NSW 1215
FACSIMILE Telephone 61 2 9227 0334
Department: COMPANY ANNOUNCEMENTS OFFICE Intemet http:/jwyew.asx.com.au

DX 10427 Stock Exchange Sydney
DATE: 23/10/2003
TIME: 13:21:15
TO: ERG LIMITED

FAX NO: 08-9273-1208
FROM: AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE LIMITED - Company Announcements Office

SUBJECT:  CONFIRMATION COF RECEIPT AND RELEASE OF ANNOUNCEMENT

MESSAGE:
We confirm the receipt and release to the market of an announcement regarding:

CEQO Transition

PLEASE NOTE:
In accordance with Guidance Note 14 of ASX Listing Rules —

° Use of ASX Online for lodgement of company announcements becomes mandatory
from 1 July 2003

° Handwritten and hand-delivered company announcements are no longer accepted

© Fee of A$38.50 (including GST) applies from 1 March 2003 for announcements faxed
to CAP

» New CAP fax number from 1 March 28¢3 for announcements sent within Australia is
1906 999 279




ASX.Online@asx.com. To: bjones@erggroup.com, koswald@erggroup.com,
au sduffy@erggroup.com, ggeen@erggroup.com

cC.
23/10/2003 11:21 Subject: ERG - ASX Online e-Lodgement - CEO Transition (Ref:

CMP-0014-01)

ASX confirms the release to the market of Doc ID: 88840 as follows:
Release Time: 23-0ct-2003 13:21:10

ASX Code: ERG

File Name: 88840.pdf

Your Announcement Title: ERG Group Announces CEO Transition

88840.pdf



DATE 23 October 2003

CONTACT Shaun Duffy — General Manager Investor Relations

PHONE +61 8 9273 1879
FAX +61 8 9273 1208
EMAIL sduffy@erggroup.com

ERG Group Announces CEQ Transition

The Board of ERG Group today announced it has put in place arrangements to allow
current CEQ Mr Peter Fogarty to step down as CEO in January 2004, following a recent
accident. Dr Allan Sullivan, cumrently a member of the Siemens Building Technology
Executive Board and Global Head of the Siemens HVAC Products Division based in
Switzerland, will assume full responsibility as CEO from 1 January 2004.

Dr Sullivan's background of 30 years' international experience in the development and
operation of engineering and technology companies, particularly in Europe, make him
ideally suited to execute ERG's forward strategy. He is Australian born and educated and is
fluent in German and Dutch. Dr Sullivan currently has responsibility for 3,500 employees
and his division reported net sales of US$675 million in fiscal 2002. His summary CV is
attached.

Mr Fo_garty has agreed to remain as a consultant to the Company for at least the next two
years, working on special projects for the Group and supporting the new CEO to ensure a
smooth transition.

In accepting Mr Fogarty's resignation, ERG's Chairman, Mr Tony Shepherd, paid tribute to
Peter whom he described as the “creator” of ERG.

“Without Peter Fogarty ERG certainly would not have become a world leader in the supply
of integrated ticketing systems,” Mr Shepherd said.

Mr Shepherd paid particular credit to Mr Fogarty's efforts in the last 12 months to guide the
significant positive transformation of the Company.

“Peter has driven the restructure of the Company and the sale of non-core assets like
Proton Worid International. He has overseen the re-establishment of the Rome contracts
and the successful bids for a number of major international projects.

“He will step down as CEO at a time when the Company has a sound balance sheet, a
strong order book and no outstanding issues to divert the Company from focusing on

profitable project delivery.

“Peter will be availabie to support Allan in all aspects of the business when Allan assumes
full responsibility in January,” Mr Shepherd said.

JAmedia\2003 - 2004\ceochangeoct03.doc
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23 October 2003

ERG Group Announces CEQ Transition

Mr Fogarty said his recent serious accident and recuperation process had prompted him to accelerate
his desire to step down from the demanding role of CEO of the fast growing company.

"However, Dr Sullivan’s high level international experience in the development and operation of
engineering and technology companies means that ERG will be in good hands and | look forward to
working with him to ensure a smooth transition,” Mr Fogarty said.

Mr Shepherd confirmed there would be no change in the Company's strategy of securing smart card
based ticketing projects that deliver appropriate positive returns to shareholders.

*Dr Sullivan’'s primary task will be to ensure the profitable and timely delivery of the current group of
significant projects,” Mr Shepherd said.

“In this respect, Dr Sullivan’s extensive engineering and operational experience makes him the ideal
replacement as CEO to guide the company through this next phase.

“Looking ahead, his strong insight into the European market will be of assistance in upcoming bids in
Europe including Berlin and Copenhagen,” he said.

ERG will remain headquartered in Perth, where its global technology centre is based.

On behalf of the Board, Mr Shepherd wished Mr Fogarty and his family the best for the future, and a full
recovery from his recent accident.

—END-
BACKGROUND INFORMATION
ERG Group

The ERG Group is a world leader in the development and supply of integrated fare management and
software systems for the transit industry, and for its smart card systems and services. The Group has
installed systems in major cities throughout the world including Hong Kong, Melbourne, Rome, San
Francisco and Singapore with installations in progress in Gothenburg, Seattle, Stockholm, Sydney and
Washington DC. ERG has delivered systems that support more than 20 million smart cards in
circulation and handle approximately 5 biliion transactions per annum. ERG is an Australian-based
company, listed on the Australian Stock Exchange and employs 800 people in 11 countries.

Amedia\2003 - 2004\c 03.doc Page 2




23 October 2003

ERE Group Announces CEQ Transition

Summary CV - Dr Allan Clive Sullivan

DOB
Residency
Languages

Quaiifications

Professional Experience
{(Previous 10 Years)

FAmedia\2003 - 20045 geoct0d doc

25 May 1947
Australian citizen

English, German and Dutch

University of Sydney

1866 BSc

1968 BEng Hons 1 (Electrical Eng)
1972 PhD (Electrical Eng)

2000 - Present

o  Siemens Building Technologies
Global Head HVAC Products Division
Member of Executive Board

2002 revenue US$675m
EBIT US$50m
Staff 3,500

1998 - 2000

° Siemens Building Technologies (foilowing Siemens
acquisition of Electrowatt)
Regional President Asia-Pacific
Member of Executive Board
2000 revenue US$200m
Staff 2,000

1996 - 1998

° Electrowatt Corporation (following Electrowatt
acquisition of Landis & Gyr)
Regional CEQ Asia-Pacific
Member of Executive Board
1997 revenue UsS$300m
Staff 2,200

1984 — 1996

o [landis & Gyr Corporation
Regional President Asia—Pacific
Member of Executive Board
1996 revenue US$250m
Staff 1,700

Page 3
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AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE LIMITED - Company Announcements Office

CONFIRMATION OF RECEIPT AND RELEASE OF ANNCUNCEMENT

We confirm the receipt and release to the market of an announcement regarding:

Notice of Annual General Meeting

PLEASE NOTE:

In accordance with Guidance Note 14 of ASX Listing Rules —

Use of ASX Online for lodgement of company announcements becomes mandatory

from 1 July 2663

Handwritten and hand-delivered company announcements are no longer accepted
Fee of A$38.50 (including GST) applies from 1 March 2683 for announcements faxed

to CAP

New CAP fax number from 1 March 2083 for announcements sent within Australia is

1900 999 279




ASX.Online@asx.com. To: bjones@erggroup.com, koswald@erggroup.com,
au sduffy@erggroup.com, ggeen@erggroup.com
cc:
22/10/2003 17:16 Subject: ERG - ASX Online e-Lodgement - Notice of AGM (Ref:
CMP-0014-01)

ASX confirms the release to the market of Doc ID: 88529 as foliows:
Release Time: 22-0ct-2003 18:16:23

ASX Code: ERG

File Name: 88529.pdf

Your Announcement Title: 2003 Notice of Annual General Meeting

88529, pdf
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ERG Limited

ABN 23 009 112 725

NOTICE OF ANMUAL GENERAL MEETING
AND

EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM

Place of Meeting:
Grand River Baliroom, Sheraton Perth Hotel, 207 Adelaide Terrace, Perth

Date of Meeting:
Wednesday 26 November 2003

Time of Meeting:
t0.30am
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

ERG LIMITED
ABN 23 009 112725

Notice is given that the 2003 Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the sharehoiders of ERG Limited (the Company)
will be held on Wednesday 26 November 2003 at 10.30am at the Sheraton Perth Hotel in the Grand River
Ballroom, 207 Adelaide Terrace, Perth, Western Australia.

Ordinary Business
Receiving Financial Statements
To receive the financial report of the Company and the entities it controlied for the year ended

30 June 2003, together with the statements and reports of Directors and auditors attached to
the accounts.

Resoiution |: Re-election of Directors
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions:
Resolution |.1 ~ Re-election of Mr Anthony Francis Shepherd

“That Mr Anthony Francis Shepherd, being a Director of the Company who was appointed by the
Board of Directors as an additional Director since the last AGM, retires pursuant to Rule 7.1(g)(i) of the
Company’s Constitution and, being eligible, is re-elected as a Director of the Company.”

Resolution [.2 — Re-election of Mr Duncan Paul Saville

“That Mr Duncan Paul Savilie, being a Director of the Company who was appointed by the Board of
Directors as an additional Director since the last AGM, retires pursuant to Rule 7.1(e){i) of the Company’s
Constitution and, being eligible, is re-elected as a Director of the Company.”

Explanatory Memorandum

Shareholders are referred to the Explanatory Memorandum accompanying and forming part of this
Notice of Meeting.

Entitiement to Yote
For the purposes of the meeting, the Directors have determined that ordinary shares in the Company
will be taken to be held by the persons who are the registered holders at 10.30am (VWST) on Monday
24 November 2003. Accordingly, share transfers registered after this time will be disregarded in
determining entitiements to attend and vote at the meeting.

Proxy Information _
A member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of shareholders of the Company is entitled to appoint
not more than two proxies to attend and vote instead of the member. If two proxies are appointed, and a
member does not specify the proportion or number of the member’s votes, each proxy may exercise half
of the member's votes.

A member may direct an appointed proxy to vote “for” or “against” any resolution or abstain from voting.
A member may also leave the manner in which the proxy may vote open for the proxy to decide after
discussion at the meeting.

A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

NMOTICE ©F MEETING 2003 |
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

ERG LIMITED
ABN 23 005 12 725

A Proxy Form accompanies this Notice. For the purposes of the receipt of proxy forms, please either
send, or facsimile, the form to:

The Company Secretary

ERG Limited

C/- Computershare investor Services Pty Ltd
GPO Box D182

Perth WA 6840

Facsimile: +61 8 9323 2033

by no later than 10.30am on Monday 24 November 2003.

By order of the Board

Ciare Barrett-Lennard
Company Secretary

NOTICE OF MEETING 2003 2



&

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

ERG LIMITED
ABN 23 009 112 725

Explanatory Memorandum to Shareholders
for the Notice of Annual General Meeting to be held
on Wednesday 26 November 2003 at 10.30am

~TFhis-Explanatory Memorandun has-been prepared €6 assist shareholders of
ERG Limited in understanding the business to be put to sharehoiders for
their consideration and, if thought fit, approvai at the forthcoming Annual
-General Meeting of the Company. : :

The Directors recommend that you read this Explanatory Memorandum and attend the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

Resolution [ - Re-election of Directors

In May 2003, your Directors announced the appointment to the Board of Mr Anthony (Tony) Shepherd as
Chairman and Mr Duncan Saville as a Non-Executive Director.

Tony Shepherd has over 30 years' experience in the commercialisation and development of major public
and private infrastructure projects both in Australia and South-East Asia. Mr Shepherd has had an
extensive career with the Transfield Holdings Group, which commenced in 1978, and is currently the
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman of Transfield Services Limited (since 2001). Mr Shepherd commenced his
career in the Federal Public Service and worked in several positions including a three-year posting to the
Australian Embassy in Washington DC.

Duncan Saville, a Chartered Accountant, is the principal of a funds management group. He is an
experienced director and currently holds directorships of a number of infrastructure funds, a water utility
company and an international airport company.

MOTICE OF MEETING 2003 3
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Level 4, 20 Bridge Street
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PO Box H224
Australia Square
NSW 1215
FACSIMILE Telephone 612 8227 0334
Department: COMPANY ANNOUNCEMENTS OFFICE “Intemet hitp:ffwww.asx.com.au
DX 10427 Stock Exchange Sydney
DATE: 22/10/2003
TIME: 16:22:41
TO: ERG LIMITED

FAX NO: 08-9273-1208
FROM: AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE LIMITED - Company Announcements Office

SUBJECT:  CONFIRMATICON OF RECEIPT AND RELEASE CF ANNOUNCEMENT

MESSAGE:
We confirm the receipt and release to the market of an announcement regarding:

Annual Review

PLEASE NOTE:
In accordance with Guidance Note 14 of ASX Listing Rules -

° Use of ASX Online for lodgement of company announcements becomes mandatory
trom 1 July 2003

* Handwritten and hand-delivered company announcements are no longer accepted

° Fee of A$38.50 (including GST) applies from 1 March 2003 for announcements faxed
to CAP

¢ New CAP fax number from ] March 2003 for announcements sent within Australia is
1900 999 279




ASX.Online@asx.com.
au

22/10/2003 17:16

To: bjones@erggroup.com, koswald@erggroup.com,

sduffy@erggroup.com, ggeen@erggroup.com
cc:

CMP-0014-01)

ASX confirms the release to the market of Doc ID; 88529 as follows:
Release Time: 22-Oct-2003 19:16:23
ASX Code: ERG

File Name: 88529.pdf
Your Announcement Title: 2003 Notice of Annual General Meeting

88529.pdf

Subject: ERG - ASX Online e-Lodgement - Notice of AGM (Ref:




ASX.Online@asx.com. To: bjones@erggroup.com, koswaid@erggroup.com,
au sduffy@erggroup.com, ggeen@erggroup.com

ce:
22/10/2003 17:22

CMP-0014-01)

ASX confirms the release to the market of Doc ID; 88546 as foliows:
Release Time: 22-Oct-2003 19:22:35

ASX Code:; ERG

File Name: 88546.pdf

Your Announcement Title: 2003 Annual Review

88546 pdf o

Subject: ERG - ASX Online e-Lodgement - Annual Review (Ref:






[FERN USTE FUTNR 1 S S N6 R ¢ DN CUn
BN [RST + A ¥ D D o B S Y

Lad
Lt

ERG Limited's annual report consists of two
documents - the 2003 Annual Review and the
2003 Financiai Report. The Annual Review
details the Group's operations and contains
statutory informatior.

Motice ot finnoual General Meeting
The Annual General Maeting of ERG Limited
will be held at the Sheraton Perth Hotel,

207 Adelaide Terrace, Perth, Western Australia

on Wednesday 26 November 2003 at 10.30am.
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ABN 23 00% 112725
A F Sheprerd (Chairman)
Espevive Directer

P | Fogarty (Chief Executive Officer?

D) Humann

D P Savilie

R N Topfe-

Y S Kwa

Cammpany SeeraEry

C L Barreit-Lennard

247 Balcatta Road

Balcaita Western Australia 6021
Telephone  +&1 89273 1100
Facsimile  +61 89273 189
Website  www.erggroup.com
Email info@erggroup.com

Computershare Investor Services Py Limitec

Level 2, Reserve Bank Building

45 St George's Terrace

Perth Wesiern Australia 5000

Telephone +&1 8 9323 2000

Facsimile  +61 8 9323 2033

Website vwww.computershare.com

Email perth.services@conpuic -shae.com.au

Avekaers

Delciite Touche Tohmatsu

Central Park

Level 16, 152-158 St George's "errace
Perth Western Australia 6000

Australian Stock Excdhange Lisdng
Australian Stock Exchange Limited
(Home Exchange: Perth, Western Austrata)

The Bank of New York

|01 Barclay Street

New York NY 10286
Telephone  +1 212 815 2276

Astealial

Austratia and New Zealand Banking Grour Lim ted

Babcock and Brown Pty Limited

Bank of Western Australia Limite

National Australia Bank Limited

St George Bank Limited

Citibank

Deutsche Bank AG

The Heng Kong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited

ING Bank

National Yvestminster Bank plc




ERG

Group

The ERG Group s an innovative, global technology company that
operates in the automated fare collection (AFC) and multi-application
smart card industries. ERG's objective is to be the most profitable
company providing fare management systems and services in the

transit environment.

ERG is focused on the application of smart cards for fare
collection in the transit industry. The nature of a transit
environment provides a compelling business case for

the initial adoption of a viable card base in a particular
region. A critical element of any AFC system is the central
computer processing system capable of managing the
personalisation and issuance of smart cards, the smart card
database, financial reconciliation and data management.
The Group has invested significant effort and funds in
developing the world's most advanced transit smart card
processing system in operation today and is clearly the
world leader in the supply and operation of fully integrated
multi-operator transit smart card systems,

ERG has built an enviable position in the market for
commercial adoption of smart cards. The Group has
a portfolio of AFC system reference sites—including
cities such as Hong Kong, Rome, San Francisco and
Singapore—that is unrivalled. In the past 12 months,
ERG has also won or delivered contracts (either directly
or in conjunction with its associates) in Bordeaux,
Gothenburg, Las Vegas, Oslo, the Rhein—Ruhr region,
Seattle, Stockholm, Sydney, Wales and Washington DC.
ERG's systems support more than 20 milion smart
cards and process approximately 5 billion smart card

transactions globally every day.
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Over $450 million In new automated fare
collection contracts:

- Lazic. ftaly {$43 million)
Seatile (3120 million)
Stockholm ($49 million)

- Sydney ($370 million)
Washington DC ($40 million)

awarded Yorkshire ($60 million)

$65 million settlement ta ERG subsidiary for
outstanding Melbourne claims

Signed Teaming Agreements with Northrep
Grumman |T for United States market and
T-Systems International for the German,
Swiss and Ausirian markets

ERG associaie, Prepayment Cards Limited,

Awustralian Exgort Finance and insurznce Cosporation
providing $25.6 million in preiect nerfermanrce bends
Recanitalisation and baance sheoet mestruciure
- Proton Waorld subsidiary scic for $94.6 milion
Rome coniract reslructured irziaming in
excess of $50 million
- Sold ECard shareholding for $5 millon

- Noteholders and shareholders aporaoved
$250 million debt to equity conversion

- Restructure of Board of Directors
Paid out unlisted converibic notes

[0 for | consolidation of sha-c capita:

2002 2002

$00C $000
Total revenue 327,630 301,552
Significant Jtemé 7 - (114,204 (165,300}
Operating profit (loss) before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 7 {146,684} (142,037)
Total research and development expenditure - 7 {16,956) (23177
Net interest payable o (18,643) (22052)
Income tax expense {347) {3,661)
Earnings before interest and tax 7 VU 79,268) (218,166)
Net profit (joss) attributable to members {198,258) (243,879)
Total assets 409,502 670,136
Totat iﬁterest-bearing liabilities 57,647 347,098
Total equity 198,715 151747
Depreciation and amortisation* 38,584 38,158
Earnings per share 7 {188.8} cents (316.6) cents
Net tangible assets per share 36 cents (116) cents
Nurﬁber of employees and contractorrsr 787 " 896

# Excluding significant items
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Chairman’s Overview

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | present to you the 2003 annual
report. | am pleased to have joined the Board at, what | believe is, an
exciting and challenging time in the development of the ERG Group.

ERG has been through a difficult two years; however, the
significant progress made this year has positioned the
Company to turn the corner.

We have successfully addressed three major issues this
year that, in conjunction with the new projects we have
won, lay the foundation for a return to profitability, namely:

| Shareholders and former convertible noteholders
voted in favour of a major capital restructure during the
year that saw $250 million in listed convertible notes
converted into ordinary shares and a subsequent share
consolidation. This transaction has had a positive effect
on our balance sheet, profit outlock and cash flow. As
a Board, we are grateful for the support shown by our
investors.

2 The sale of our subsidiary Proton World returned a
significant sum of capital to the Company. The sale
also had a positive effect on profitability, through the
removal of amortisation charges and operating losses,
and allows us to focus on our core business. Although
the transaction resutted in a book loss, the Group has
the ability to earn future prospective income from
royalties which could substantially recover the loss.

3 We have restructured our contract for the project in
Rome and the surrounding region of Lazio to return
capital to the Company and improve profitability

These achievements have transformed our balance sheet;
removed $40 million from our annual depreciation,
amortisation and interest charges; and left the Group with
cash of $54 million and no bank debt. While we have
been dealing with these issues, we have also secured and
commenced new major projects in Seattle, Stockholm,
Sydney and Washington DC. We also expect the second
phase of projects in Rome and San Francisco to move

ahead during the 2004 financial year: Our actions this
year have not only addressed our cost structures, but also
ensure that revenue growth lies ahead.

Following a comprehensive review, the Board resolved to
write down various intangible assets and make provisions
for diminution in value against the carrying value of a
number of current and non-current assets, totalling
$114.2 miflion. Our aim was to ensure that the valuation
of the Company's assets was fair and reasonable. These
significant items were the major contributor to the loss of
$198.3 million reported this year.

A snapshot of the Company at 30 June 2003 shows:

o net assets of $198.7 million

o cash reserves of $54.2 million, of which $31.3 million
is committed as security for performance bonds

° interest-bearing debt to equity ratio of 29 per cent
 contracted order book of aver $650 million.

The primary challenge in the year ahead is to deliver
our major projects simuftaneously in a timely and
profitable manner: | can assure our customers and
shareholders that this will be the primary goal of the
Board and management.

We also have a number of significant tender opportunities
in the coming 12 months, primarily in Europe and North
America, with the largest being for the cities of Berlin and
Copenhagen. We will be selective in our bidding, pursuing
only those projects we believe the Group can win and
which provide the best opportunities for us to deliver
returns to shareholders. We will continue to partner
selectively on major projects.




Chairman’s Overview

The accompanying report from our Chief Executive
Officer;, Mr Peter Fogarty, and the Review of Operations
provide detalls on the Group’s performance and outlook.

The Company is focused on the revenue opportunities
from long-term operating and maintenance
contracts—both existing and prospective—as well

as non-transit smart card applications. The advantages
of this approach will

° help balance the peaks and troughs of supply and
installation contracts through long-term revenue

e assist in building relationships with our customers and
grow a cufture of customer satisfaction

> provide long-term relationships which are cbviously
good for repeat business and up-selling of new
products/updates

° create a potential source of significant transaction-based
revenue from non-transit applications. The growth in
this area benefits the whole smart card sector.

From an organisational point of view, the Board

supports the current regional structure with technology
development largely centred in Perth with a smaller
technology group in Brussels. However, there will continue
to be a strong emphasis on worldwide integration of
effort and transparency across the whole organisation.
Unnecessary duplication and overlap will continue to be
rationalised. We wilt also continue to focus on reducing
the cost of goods sold.

The Company is investing significantly in its project and
financial management systems to ensure proper project
control, timely and accurate reporting, and early warning
on any issues that may arise.

The Board is reviewing and strengthening its corporate
governance and the major initiatives include:

> early compliance with the new Australian Stock
Exchange best-practice guidelines

e uniform accounting policies across the Company in
accordance with international and local standards
covering such issues as capitalisation, treatment of
research and development, amortisation and write-offs

e the direct participation by the Board in the assessment
of significant tenders and contracts.

The Board determined that a dividend would not be
declared for the year ended 30 June 2003.

I would like to record the appreciation of the Company
for the work of the previous Board, led by Mr Sandy
Murdoch. The last two years have been particularly
difficult but the Company, although facing many challenges,
is now on a much sounder footing.

Following the Rome settlement in September 2003, the
Company has a sound balance sheet; great epportunities,
a unique capability in automated fare collection, particularly
in systems integration and central computer processing
systems; and an experienced and committed management
team. On behalf of the Board, | thank all staff for their
significant contribution over the past 12 months. Qur
challenge is to return the Company to profitability as soon
as possible and the Board and management are totally
committed to achieving this objective.

Tony Shepherd
Chairman
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Chief Executive Officer’s Report

The 2003 year was one of enormous challenges as the Group struggled
to overcome continued delays in the commencement of projects, yet

maintain its core resources.

The delays in the commencement of projects saw
operating revenues fall 24 per cent to $205.6 million.

In addition, we made various write-downs against assets
and created provisions against the carrying value of

assets totalling $114.2 million. The reduced revenue and
significant items were the two key elements of our full-year
loss of $198.3 million.

Importantly, the Group's financial performance improved
significantly in the second half of the financial year,
Excluding the significant items, our EBITDA (earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) loss
narrowed from $25.4 million in the first half to $1.1 million
in the second half. Our operating activities generated

$6.5 million cash in the second half compared with an
outflow of $3.5 million in the first half,

This overall level of loss is certainly disappointing; however,
the second half contained elements that begin to
demonstrate the positive effects of the significant initiatives
we have undertaken during the year

During the past |2 months, we continued to make
considerable changes to our operations and management
structure. The basic objectives were to:

+ secure the new contracts we believed the Group
could win

* restructure our balance sheet so as to eliminate the
cash outflow, particularly the interest on the convertible
notes, during a period when sales were depressed

+ refocus our business on the fare collection activities
which is where the Group is clearly strongest. As part
of this we reviewed all assets and made the decision to
dispose of non-core assets

* restructure our Board and management to reduce
cost/overheads and put the Group in the best position
going forward

= return the Group to profitability and positive cash flow.

I am pleased to report that all these objectives were
achieved, although profitability was only achieved

from operations in the last quarter of the year This,
nevertheless, represents a considerable improvement over

the previous 21 months,

A brief review of how these objectives were achieved is
as follows:

New Contracts

During the year, the Group won new contracts in its three
main regions. In Asia-Pacific, we won the major contract
in Sydney, valued at approximately $370 million. We

were unsuccessful in Brisbane and Perth where contracts
were awarded to two different competitors. These two
contracts were awarded at prices which, we believe, were
unrealistic compared to the scope of work required.

In the Americas, we won contracts in Las Vegas, Seattle and
Washington DC. We also completed Phase | of the

San Francisco project and expect to move to Phase 2
during the 2004 financial year: This gives the Group over
A%$200 million of revenue in the United States.

In Europe, we won new contracts in Luxembourg and
Stockholm and a number of smaller contracts in France
and Portugal. Through our joint venture companies,
Prepayment Cards Limited in the United Kingdom and
cardetc AG in Germany, we delivered contracts in Wales
and the Rhein—Ruhr region respectively.




Chief Executive Officer’s Report

Overall, the Group successfully concluded contracts having
a total revenue stream (supply and operate) of over

$450 million. These contracts wilt add to our considerable
reference base globally and reaffirm ERG as the clear
leader in the supply and operation of fully integrated,
multi-operator smart card systems for public transport.

Balance Sheet Restructure

The restructuring of the balance sheet was a substantial
undertaking and required the support of both noteholders
and shareholders. It was successfully completed in June
this year with $250 million of new equity being converted
and the removal of $18.75 million of interest annually.

In addition to the note conversion, we also targeted all
other balance sheet items that could reduce both debt or
amortisation and depreciation. As a result, we sold assets
(detailed below) and also paid out the remaining unlisted
convertible notes and all bank debt.

During the year, net interest-bearing liabilities of $23.2 million
were paid out, which included the unlisted convertible notes.
Qur balance sheet now has a healthy interest-bearing debt
to equity ratio of 29 per cent.

The balance sheet has cash reserves totalling $54.2 million,
of which $31.3 million is on deposit as security for
performance bonds on projects. This cash is classified as a
non-current receivable. Our cash position is expected to
be further enhanced by a $25 million bonding facility that
has been provided by the Australian Export Finance and
Insurance Corporation. This facility will release $5 million
in cash currently on deposit and free up a further

$20 million.

The restructure of our contracts in Rome and Lazio
following year-end converts depreciating assets into cash
and wil remove annual depreciation of $7 million. Once
these contracts are signed, we should receive $75 million
in cash during the 2004 financial year and an additional
$25 million the following year.

We are confident the Group has the correct balance
sheet structure and sufficient cash reserves to profitably
deliver our current projects.

Refocusing of Activities

ERG sought to replace the lost revenue from the
telecommunications business that was sold in 2001 with
new expanded activities in the smart card sector. These
activities included joint ventures with major banking and
telecommunications groups interested in exploiting
smart cards.

In mid-2001, ERG negotiated the purchase of Proton
World. This gave the Group a strong position in the
banking sector for smart cards with Proton World
having refationships with American Express,Visa, all the

Dutch and Belgian banks, and many other organisations.
Unfortunately, the global IT downturn subsequently
flowed through to most industries and particularly to the
smart card sector: The banks and major card companies
also pushed back their plans to introduce smart card
technelogy. As a result, the performance of Proton World
did not meet expectations.

During the year, STMicroelectronics (ST) approached
ERG with a view to buying Proton World. At the same
time, management had determined that the Group’s focus
should be in the transit fare collection business and that
the sale was in ERG's best interests.

Accordingly, Proton World was sold as was the smart card
joint venture with the Australia and New Zealand Banking
Group Limited and Telstra Corporation Limited called
ECard. These transactions realised cash of approximately
$54 million for the Group.

Although the Proton World transaction realised an
accounting loss, the Group has the ability to earn
approximately $38 million from future royalties, payable
by ST. None of this future royalty income has been
accounted for in the loss calculation.

Collectively these transactions have eliminated

$136.8 million of goodwill and realised cash of $54 million,
The transactions have an important impact on the Group's
financial position, removing $15 million of amortisation
annually, as well as annualised losses of $2-3 million.

Board and Management Restructure

The restructure of the Board of Directors was part of the
note conversion. | would like to add my thanks to the
previous Board members who showed extreme resilience
during a difficult period. The new Board members have
shown strong support for management and a commitment
to returning the Group to profitability.

To assist this objective, significant changes were made

to management and staff during the year. The regional
structure was consolidated and several changes made in
senior management roles. Several long-term employees,
who played a vital role in the development of ERG, retired
after |5 years of service to the Group.

The overall objective was to resize our business to a level
where overheads were in balance with the delays being
experienced in the transit sector. In total, approximately
$30 million has been cut from overheads in the past

|8 months.

Return te Profitability

The Group returned to profitability at an operating level in
the last quarter of the 2003 financial year: Importantly, the
last six months of the year were cash-flow positive.
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The turnaround came about as a result of the impact
of our cost-cutting inftiatives and the commencement
of new projects.

Only some of the new projects commenced in the final
quarter. From July 2003, they progressively accelerate
with all projects contributing to the projects, supply and
installation segment by the end of the calendar year.

The Group's main focus will be to deliver these projects
in a timely and profitable manner; further adding to our
global reference sites. In addition, we are selectively
targeting new tenders, both in our own right and with
new alliance partners.

In the past two years, the Group's performance has been
far from satisfactory. Management is totally committed

to returning the Group to profitability in 2004 and
building positive operating cash flow. Although there will
continue to be challenges, | believe we have put the major
ones behind us and look forward to seeing the Group
consolidate its position to be the most successful and
profitable company in its sector:

In conjunction with the new Board, we have carried out

a full review of the Group’s activities and are currently
completing our strategic plan for the next five years. The
plan targets consistent growth in profitability and to remain
the supplier or operator of choice for our customer

base globally.

Our regional structure will provide the customer interface
and support in our three major markets. In the past

12 months we have made enormous inroads to the
American market winning new contracts in Las Vegas,
Seattle and Washington DC.  In the coming |2 months,
there is a considerable amount of new business that the
Group will pursue, particularly in Europe where major
tenders in Denmark and Germany are expected.

In addition to the delays that impacted upon our business
over the past 24 months, we also suffered through

delays in software development and budget overruns on
projects. These were largely caused by our major software
development taking longer than anticipated. However,

| am pleased to say that we have now completed the
major part of that development and can more readily
deliver solutions in a timely manner to our customers.

QOur software is extraordinarily complex as it has to
support card issuance, card management, data
management, financial reconciliation and security. In
particular; it has to manage high volumes of transactions
on a daily basis — something our competitors cannot do.

Recently one of our installed systems was tested by
external experts and proven to be capable of handling
42 million transactions daily. This transaction volume is
larger than the requirements of any individual city and
allows the processing of transactions from muttiple sites
through one installation. We are also able to provide
small-city solutions in addition to our large-scale
software solutions.

During the year, we restructured our research and
development and the management responsible for those
activities. We have retained all core technology expertise
and will manage resources according to contract demand.

The transit smart card sector has also been impacted
upon by delays in the finalisation of standards for both
smart cards and integrated ticketing. These standards are
complex and have largely evolved on a country-by-country
basis. Standards for both Germany and the United
Kingdom are expected to be completed by the end of
2003 and this should allow an increasing number of new
projects to move forward. ERG is actively involved in the
standards committees and fully supports standardisation
and open technology solutions.

Qutleok

The Group now has an improved structure in order to
achieve its goals. We have a balance sheet better suited
to our business and our actions this year have successfully
addressed the Group's cost structure while ensuring new
sources of revenue from major project wins.

Following year-end, a new $60 miillion contract win in
Yorkshire, UK by our associate Prepayment Cards Limited,
and an alliance in Germany, with Deutsche Telekom
subsidiary T-Systems, significantly strengthen our position in
both of these markets.

Our portfolio of long-term operating and maintenance
contracts will increasingly reduce our exposure to the
vagaries of new contract timings. Over time, we expect
these contracts to drive a more consistent and predictable
earnings stream for the Group.

| assure shareholders that every effort is being made to
deliver on our objective of improving profitability.

/ Peter Fogarty
Chief Executive Officer
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Avcnt ard Risi, Rerune:ation andd Nomingtions Committees

Anthory (Tony) Shepnerd was appeinted to the Board
as Non-Executive Chairman in May 2003. He has

over 30 years' experience n the commercialisation and
development of mejor public and private infrastructure
projects both in Australia and South-East Asia.

Mr Shepherd has had an extensive career with the
Transfield Hoidings Group, which commenced in 1978,
ard is currently the Nen-Executive Deputy Chairman of
Transfield Services Limited (since 2001). Mr Shepherd
ccmmenced nis career in the Federal Public Service and
worked in several positions including a three-year posting
to the Austral.an Embassy in Washington DC,

He s aiso a Directar of ADI Limited. Vice President of the
Austrzlian Councll fer Infrastructure Development Ltd
and a Trustee o the Sydney Cricket and Sports Ground.
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Dccument execution Committee

Peter Fogarty jcined the Board as a Non-Executive
Director in 1984 and was appointed Executive Chairman
in 1985. In 1991, he was appointed Chief Executive
Oicer and Managing Director. Previously he was a
partner of a myjor Australian legal firm specialising in
corporate and {axation law.
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Audit and Risk Committee Chairman
Docurnent txecdtior, ard Remurieration qoc Nommai,ons

Comimuliees

David Humann joined the Board zs Non-Fxecutive
Cirecter 'n January [998. He was oreviously a member
of both the Price Waterhouse Worlc 2caid and Executive
Management Camrmittee based in _ondon and New York.
Managing Partner “or Asia—Pacific, and Serior Partner of
Price Waierhouse Hong Kong anc the People’s Republic
of China irms. He was formerly a Memoer of the
Australiar and New Zealand firms' Pclcy enc Executive
Management Committea.

Mr Humann is presently Chairman of McMalon Hoidings
Ltd, Mincor Resources NL Tethyan Cooper Company
Limited, Matrix Metals Limited anc Westccas: Mning
Limited. He is alsc a Director of lico- Limited.

Aucit and Risk Committee,

Remunemton and Nemingtions Commitiee Chorman

Duncan Saville was appointed to the Board as Non-
Executive Director in May 2003, Mr Saville. a Chartered
Accountant, is the principal of a funds management
group. He is an experienced director and currently holds
directorships of a number of infrastructure furcs, & water
utllity company and an international airport company.
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Remunerction and Nomunatons Commitiee

Robert Topfer was appointed to the Board as Non-
Executive Director in Ociober 2002. He is currenily 4
director of Babcock and Brown and wazs previousiy a
founding partner of Atanaskovic Hartncll and prior o that
a partrer of Allen Allen and Hemsley. He brings 16 years
of specialist structured and corporaie finance exoerience
across many indust-y sectors.

In addition, MrTopfer has considerabie experience in large
projects, takeavers and structured equity and deot raisings.




Review of Operations Overview

The ERG Group is focused on providing the best automated fare
collection (AFC) solutions to its customers globally.

The Group has created a portfolio of major AFC
infrastructure installations throughout the world from
which it generates annuity style recurring revenues. The
infrastructure systems include a sophisticated central
computer processing system developed by ERG to handle
the transactions generated from the smart card base.

This strategic focus creates two key phases in the
relationship with the Group’s customers. Firstly, there
is the initial installation of an AFC transit syster that
generates revenue similar to any major engineering or
building contract.

Secondly, following the system installation, ERG will
generally then earn revenue from the maintenance and/or
outsourced operation of the system. These recurring
revenues are typically governed by long-term contracts.

The Group's business segments outlined below include
projects operated within ERG Transit Systemns and ERG
Card Systems. The major operations of ERG are reviewed
within these business units. The current focus of the
Group's activities is to deliver in a timely and profitable
manner the large transit projects it has recently been
awarded. Investments within ERG Card Systems have
been rationalised during the year to enhance the financial
position of the Group and to maintain focus on the
transit projects.

Projects, Supply and Installation

Revenue for the supply and installation of AFC systems
throughout the world was $89.0 million, with an operating
loss of $4.2 million before depreciation, amortisation and
significant items. Revenue was substantially down from the
previous year's figure of $140.4 million due to the delay in
commencement of major projects, the majority of which
commenced in the final quarter of the financial year. This
segment is expected to be the primary driver of revenue
growth in the 2004 financial year with the installation
phase of projects in Lazio, Seattle, Stockholm, Sydney and

Financial Performance

Washington DC; and San Francisco Phase 2 scheduled to
be in progress.

Operation and Maintenance

The operation and maintenance segment generates
revenue from an AFC installation once the system is
operational. This segment has previously been referred
to as the infrastructure and cards segment. Revenue
from these sources decreased to $115.7 million from
$139.9 million in the previous year; however, the prior
year included amounts related to the settlement of scope
creep claims for the Melbourne project. Profitability of
the segment improved significantly during the year with
an EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation) profit of $9.2 million before significant
items. During the financial year, the outsourced operation
of the Melbourne and Rome projects was the largest
individual contributor to this segment; however, the
accounting profitability was impacted upon by the sizeable
depreciation charges against the large-scale infrastructure
assets. This situation will be improved moving forward
with the restructure of the Rome contract removing

$7 million in annual depreciation charges.

In addition to Melbourne and Rome, maintenance
contracts in Hong Kong and Singapore contribute to this
segment. The infrastructure segment of the business also
includes an equity-accounted share of the result of ERG's
joint ventures and alllances which leverage off the smart
card base created by a transit project.

Corporate and Financing

This segment of the business provides the technology,
financing, business development and administrative support
to the two operational segments outlined above. It
incorporates all aspects of the Group's operations that

do not specifically relate to customer activities. The
technology (including research and development) division
supports all Group projects and designs and develops
hardware and software for those projects.

The financial contribution from each of the above business segments is as follows,

Projects,
Supply & Operation & Corporate &
Installation Maintenance Financing
$m $m $m

Revenue* 89.0 115.7 19.4
Operating result before depreciation and amortisation® (4.2) 9.2 544
Depreciation and amortisation® (20) (23.8) (12.7)
Segment resutt before tax* (6.2) (14.6) (67.1
Total assets 100.3 1711 138.1

* Excluding significant items
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Review of Operations ERG Transit Systems

ERG Transit Systems includes all operations of the ERG Group involved

in the design, development, supply, installation and operation of AFC

systems for customers in the public and private sectors,

The Group’s major projects are predominantly smart card
based systems; however, some of the projects can also
incorporate paper and magnetic tickets.

Projects in the AFC business initially contribute revenue to
the projects, supply and installation segment during their
build phase. Once the project is installed and operational,
it then contributes to the operation and maintenance
segment through maintenance and/or outsourced
operational revenues.

Major Projects
Below is a summary of the Group’s major projects.

Las Vegas

In September 2002, ERG was awarded the contract to
install a smart card based fare collection system for the
Las Vegas Monorail. The contract was awarded by
Bombardier Total Transportation Systems, a unit of
Bombardier Inc, a Canadian-based diversified
manufacturing and service company.

The Las Vegas monorail system is scheduled to be opened
tc the public in early 2004 and is expected to carry

|2 million passengers in its first year of operation. The
monorail will service 60,000 hotel rooms and the world's
largest convention centre. There will be seven stations
built in the first phase of the project and future extensions
are expected.

The system will provide contactless smart cards as well
as magnetic tickets for fare media. In addition, ERG has
been contracted to install its central computer processing
system which will be capable of expansion into multiple
applications for smart cards including electronic purse for

resort properties, security -access and loyalty schemes.
The monorail smart card scheme can also be integrated
in the future with other transport modes such as the
bus network.

Melbourne

Following the claims settlement in May 2002 with the
Victorian Government, ERG’s subsidiary, Onelink Transit
Systems, will be paid $65 million of which the majority has
been received.

As part of this settlement, Onelink's service contract was
amended to include a system for performance bonuses
and penalties under a new Customer Defined Availability
(CDA) Agreement. The first key challenge for Onelink
under the CDA Agreement was to pass a qualifying event
regarding system availability. The qualifying event was
staged over the period from November 2002 to February
2003 and was successfully completed by Onelink with a
comfortable margin.

The system has consistently performed at high availability
levels over the past two years, primarily due to the
improved management of vandalism.

Under the restructured performance measures,
Melbourne's automated ticketing equipment performance
levels are among the most stringent in the world.

The transit operators have used a variety of factors in
order to set performance measures with a focus on
machine availability.

With the qualifying event successfully completed and

the continued improvement to the level of product
standards, customer satisfaction is at an all time high in
Melbourne. Ticket sales continue to increase, with further
improvement programs planned for the near future.




Rome

During the year, the contracts for the Rome and Lazio
projects have been significantly restructured in two
components. The new structure will return approximately
$100 million to ERG and improve the Group's profitability.

The first component of the restructure involved approval
for the Phase 2 rollout of the smart card based AFC
system into the Lazio region surrounding Rome. The
expansion will generate revenues of approximately

$43 million to ERG during the installation period.

Under the terms of the original contract, ERG contracted
with ATAC, the operator of the transport system in Rome,
to deliver a smart card based AFC system for Rome

and the surrounding region of Lazio. However, due to
political change and issues outside ERG's control, ERG

was prevented from proceeding with the Phase 2 rollout
into Lazio in accordance with the timeframe originally
contemplated,

The restructured agreement allows ERG to contract
directly with Cotral, the operator of the Lazio system, for
the rollout of its smart card AFC system in that region.
Accordingly, ERG and Cotral have entered into a separate
agreement under which Cotral will own the equipment,
which is expected to be delivered and installed by ERG
over the next |8 months, with 400,000 smart cards
ultimately in circulation.

The second component of the restructured contracts,
completed subsequent to year-end, involves the existing
installation in Rome that has been operating successfully
since April 2001, The system currently supports
approximately 500,000 cards in circulation. ATAC has
contracted with ERG to purchase the public transport
ticketing hardware, with the exception of the central
clearing house; and to establish a new company, which will
be jointly owned with ERG, to operate the system moving
forward. ERG will be paid a total of approximately

$51 million for the hardware, technology rights and
additional software services. In addition, ERG will have an
ongoing involvement in the operation of the system for

a minimum of eight years, receiving a share of the profits
generated and ongoing software fees.

As at 30 june 2003, ERG owned the fare collection
equipment installed in Rome and carried the assets on its
balance sheet. The assets were being depreciated at an
annual rate of $6.8 miflion over the term of the original
operating contract. The sale to ATAC will remove these
assets from ERG's balance sheet, replacing them with cash,
while eliminating the depreciation charges moving forward.

San Francisco

Phase | of the San Francisco TransLink® pilot project,
which was granted final acceptance by the Bay Area’s
Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) in August
2003, was an outstanding success among transit patrons
and system operators. This initial phase involved select
bus, ferry, and fight, medium and heavy rail routes within
the Bay Area’s six largest transit operators. It included
the implementation of a central clearing house based in
Concord, California to process transactions and settle
payments, and the creation of a customer service centre.
It also involved installation of more than | 500 pieces of
equipment, including fare payment processors,

add-value machines, portable hand-held readers, ticket
office terminals and point-of-sale devices for retail outlets.

The MTC has moved forward with an order for over
4,000 pieces of equipment needed to launch Phase 2 and
full system implementation. ERG is currently in the design
process for Phase 2, with installation of the equipment
expected to commence in the 2004 financial year

ERG has provided an application development kit for
software that will be incorporated into new electronic
parking meters installed in San Francisco during 2003. The
software will allow the TransLink® card to be used for
payment at parking meters throughout the city. The pilot
program for the smart card enabled parking meters is
expected 1o begin at the end of 2003 and rollout in 2004.

Seattle _

In February 2003, ERG signed an agreement with seven
public transportation agencies for the establishment of a
regional fare collection system covering Seattle and the
Central Puget Sound area of Washington State. The seven
agencies include Community Transit, Everett Transit, King
County Metro Transit, Kitsap Transit, Pierce Transit, Sound
Transit, and Washington State Ferries.

The contract is worth approximately $120 million to ERG
for the system implementation and management for a
ten-year term once the system is operational. Work has
commenced, with the first phase expected to be in live
operation within two years.

The project involves the design and implementation of a
“seamless’’ smart card system across 2,100 buses, light rail,
commuter rail and ferry services throughout the region,
as well as the fare card and services management for ten
years after implementation. The tender was initiated by
the agencies in order to establish a common fare system
utilising smart cards in order to better coordinate their
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respective services and improve the availability, reliability
and convenience of public transportation.

The Seattle region collectively generates approximately

| 30 million passenger journeys per year and more than
$250 million in annual passenger revenues. It is expected
that 400,000 smart cards will be initially issued on
commencement of the project. Non-transit applications
such as parking and tolling may be added to the system at
a later stage.

ERG will use its San Francisco smart card transit service
bureau to provide ali of the required services including
card issuance, management, maintenance and the

clearing and settling of transactions. As such, it ideally
complements the San Francisco transit smart card project
and will produce significant operating synergies across
both locations.

Singapore

The ERG designed and installed smart card ticketing
systermn in Singapore, known as ez-link, has been in full
operation on the public transport network for just over
one year. The system has been a huge success with over
4 million smart cards sold to the public; 3.5 million
passenger trips per day; and over 7 million financial
transactions processed daily at the central clearing
house. In the first half of 2003, the central clearing house
processed over | billion financial transactions.

The Singapore System is one of the largest integrated
smart card based transit systems in the world with

more than 24,000 readers in place across the six transit
cperators covering bus, rail and light rail. It is more
advanced than the original system installed in Hong Kong
as the software and capability have been significantly
upgraded.

Stockholm

In April 2003, ERG signed a contract with Stockholm’s
public transport authority, AB Storstockholms Lokaltrafik
(SL), to implement a smart card based AFC system
throughout Greater Stockholm.

The project, known as Resekortet ("the Travel Card"),
will generate revenues in excess of $49 million plus
maintenance to ERG over the term of the system
implementation.

The contract involves the upgrade of the current rail

and metro magnetic ticketing system to ERG's faster,
more efficient smart card platform, together with the
introduction of ERG'’s latest mobile ticketing equipment to
the SL bus network. The contract provides for integration
using smart cards across SUs entire public transport
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network, comprising 150 rail and metro stations and more
than 1,800 buses. ERG will install its central computer
processing system to manage the smart card database,
financial reconciliation and management reporting. The
network currently handles over 2.4 million passenger trips
on a normal weekday and generates approximately

$690 million in ticketing revenue annually.

The project calls for the issue of around | million smart
cards within the next two and a half years. Work has
commenced on the project, with revenues flowing from
April 2003. The new system is expected tc be fully
operational by the end of 2005,

Sydney

Integrated Transit Solutions Ltd (ITS), a subsidiary of ERG,
signed a contract with the New South Wales Government
in February 2003 to supply. install and operate an
integrated smart card based ticketing system for the entire
Greater Sydney commuter transport network.

The contract covers all State Rail Authority commuter rail,
State Transit and private operator buses, State Transit and
private operator ferries, as well as Sydney’s light rail and
monorail. The transport network handles approximately
630 million passenger journeys each year with revenue
collections of approximately $800 million.

Work has commenced on the design and supply of all
components of the integrated ticketing system and ITS
will then operate the system on behalf of the transport
operators for a minimum period of ten years following
the initial installation. The project includes the installation
of ERG's proven multi-application smart card central
computer processing system.

It is expected that the first commuter smart card travel will
be available on inner-city services in late 2004, with current
plans to convert most of Greater Sydney's commuter
transport services to smart card ticketing during 2005. At
that time, it is expected there will be 2 million smart cards
on issue. The system is scheduled to be fully operational

in 2006.

Under a separate agreement, [TS has been granted the
right to commercialise the integrated ticketing system.
This potentially includes the use of the transit smart
card and its supporting system in other markets such as
vending, venue ticketing, parking, fast food and tolling,
This follows similar initiatives in Hong Kong and

San Francisco, where customers appreciated the extra
utility offered by the transit smart card for a range of
small-value everyday transactions.




Washington DC

In June 2003, the Group signed a contract with the
Wiashington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority
{(WMATA) to design, build, operate and maintain a new
Regional Customer Service Centre (Service Centre) for

its smart card based fare collection system, known as
SmarTrip®.

ERG and Northrop Grumman Information Technology will
establish and operate the Service Centre to manage card
distribution, reload value onto cards, provide customer
service, and to clear and settle smart card transactions
across |7 regional transit agencies participating in the
SmarTrip® program. The participating agencies provide
4(8 million trips annually via bus, commuter rail, light rail
and heavy rail across the Northern Virginia, Maryland and
the Washington DC area.

Work has commenced on the project and the Group is
expected to manage a card base exceeding 300,000 smart
cards when the Service Centre is completed in July 2004.
This number will grow to | million smart cards within the
initial five-year term of the contract.

The Service Centre will incorporate a central clearing
house for which ERG will use its existing transit centrat
computer processing system installed in San Francisco.
The established facility has been designed to process
transactions from muttiple North American cities. The
central clearing house will be responsible for clearing,
settlement and financial management of the SmarTrip®
program. The Service Centre will interface with existing
hardware, such as gates and vending machines. in
Washington DC.

The project also includes the establishment and operation
of extensive point-of-sale devices to support the sales and
reload of smart cards across the region.

The WMATA contract is the first project that ERG and
Northrop Grumman will implement together. Northrop
will be responsible for the distribution of smart cards and
the operation of the Service Centre from its facifities in
Reston, Virginia.

Outlook

ERG now has an outstanding number of installed reference
sites and new contracts for integrated multi-operator
smart card systems. In addition, ERG has integrated

its technology with all of its competitors’ hardware
solutions, when required, and with all contactless smart
card technologies available. As a result, ERG's technology
represents the only proven open system that can operate
with any hardware platform available,

The primary focus for the coming year is to deliver

the large number of projects which have recently been
awarded. The ability of the Group to be profitable in
2004 is largely dependent on the successful delivery of
these major projects. ERG will continue to tender for
AFC projects; however; it will continue to vigilantly manage
the cash flow and balance sheet implications of any

new projects. The majority of major new prospects are
expected to come from Europe and North America.
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Review of Operations ERG Card Systems

ERG Card Systems is the company operating strategic alliances and
holding investments in the smart card sector.

These activities are directed towards companies that
develop or have rights to complementary technology
suited to the smart card sector and operating companies
that provide processing and card management functions
for smart card issuers.

Typically, projects within ERG Card Systems contribute to
the operation and maintenance segment where they have
recurring or long-term revenue,

card.etc AG

ERG is a 19 per cent shareholder in the German company
card.etc AG. The major co-shareholders in the company
are VDV (the German association of public transport)

and DeTeCardService (German Telekom Group). The
company holds the licence to ERG's multi-application
smart card solution technology for Germany

(excluding Berlin).

During 2002 and 2003, card.etc AG delivered
approximately 2 million smart cards and over 7,000
security modules to the 44 local public transport
associations from Verkehrsverbund Rhein-Ruhr (VRR} and
Verkehrsverbund Rhein-Sieg (VRS) in the state of North-
Rhine Westphalia. This populous region of 10.6 million
people, with over 3 million users of public transport

daily, includes the major cities of Bonn, K&In (Cologne),
Disseldorf, Dortmund and Essen. They represent almost
25 per cent of the German transit market.

The VRR-VRS initial project was completed in a relatively
short time (15 months from contract award until final
delivery), and was delivered on time before the end of
2002. The VRR-VRS system is regarded as a landmark
transit system in Germany and continues 1o grow, with
new card types and additional card orders expected to
exceed 400,000 cards before the end of 2003,

ECard

In November 2002, ERG sold its 39 per cent shareholding
in ECard—an Australian company jointly owned with the
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited and
Telstra Corporation Limited—for $5 million.

Proton Werld

In April 2003, the Group finalised the sale of its subsidiary
Proton World to Geneva-based STMicroelectronics (ST)
for $94.6 million. As part of the transaction, ERG retains
the worldwide rights to the Proton technology, future
upgrades for 20 years and exclusive access to nominated
transit customers for a five-year term. ERG has the ability
to earn a further $38 million from this transaction based
on future milestones linked to ongoing support of the
Proton technology and ST over a ten-year term.

The transaction strengthened the Group's balance sheet
through the return of cash, while removing the significant
intangible assets associated with the Proton World
investment. This in turn leads to the elimination of the
annual $15 million goodwill amortisation charge.

At the same time, Proton World will have the resources to
fast track further development of its technology and this, in
turn, will more rapidly expand the multifunction nature of
ERG'’s smart cards under the global licence agreement.

ST is one of the world's major chip producers. Its
purchase of Proton World will allow ST to combine the
development of advanced chips with software in smart
cards to accelerate adoption of smart card technology.
The transaction also allows ERG and ST to establish a
broader alliance and to collaborate on development

of more advanced contactless smart card and chip
technology.
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Prepayment Cards Limited

Prepayment Cards Limited (PCL) was formed to provide a
smart card issuing and clearing system to enable UK transit
operators and passenger transit authorities to meet the
Government’s policy for integrated transport throughout
the UK.

In October 2003, PCL was selected as the preferred
proponent for a new transit fare collection project in
Yorkshire, known as the Yorcard scheme. The project
is expected to generate approximately $60 million in
revenue comprising up-front supply and a seven-year
operating contract.

When fully implemented, the Yorcard scheme will be
one of the largest multimodal, multi-operator smart
card schemes in the UK covering the cities of Leeds,
Sheffield and Bradford, and represents a population base
of approximately 3.4 million people. A card reading
infrastructure will be provided for more than 40 bus
operaters and over 5 train operating companies as well
as the Sheffield Supertram. In addition, over | million
cards will be issued.

ERG is currently finalising an agreement that will see

its shareholding in PCL move from 47 per cent to

55 per cent before the finalisation of the Yorcard contracts.
The remaining 45 per cent is held by Stagecoach,
FirstGroup and National Express Group — the three
largest transit operators in the UK.

Triumphant Launch

Triumphant Launch became a fully owned subsidiary

of ERG following the acquisition of Proton World.
Triumphant Launch retains the rights to the ERG and
Proton technologies in Malaysia; however, under the terms
of the disposal of Proton World, all customer contracts
that utilised the Proton technology were assigned to ST.
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Corporate Governance Statement

ERG Limited (ERG) is committed to maintaining the
highest corporate governance standards and has
completed a full review of corporate governance following
the announcement of the Australian Stock Exchange
Limited (ASX) Corporate Governance Principles and Best
Practice Recommendations (ASX Recommendations).

While the Company is not required to make disclosures
in relation to the ASX Recommendations until the 2004
financial year, the Board of Directors (Board) has taken
steps to report its compliance this year As at the date
of this report, ERG has established all required measures
to comply with the ASX Recommendations by the 2004
financial year.

Set out below is information regarding ERG's compliance
with the ASX Recommendations including details of any

charter or policy document available on the Company’s

website at <www.erggroup.com/corpgov>.

Principle [ - Lay Solid Foundations for
Management and Oversight

The Board has reviewed the existing Board charter
to ensure compliance with Principle | of the ASX

The Board supports a system of corporate governance
to ensure that the management of ERG is conducted to
maximise the shareholder wealth of ERG in a proper and
ethical manner.

The Board charter is available on the website.

Principle 2 - Structure the Board to Add Value
Principle 8 = Encourage Enhanced Performance
Principle 9 — Remunerate Fairly and
Responsibly

The Board confirms that all ASX Recommendations in
Principle 2 are complied with.

The ASX Recommendations require Non-Executive
Directors to meet additional criteria to be assessed as
independent. The Board is satisfied that a majority of it is
independent.

The following table sets out the date of appointment,
status and committee memberships of each Director

Recommendations.
Committee Membership
Board Audit Document Remuneration

Director Appointment Status and Risk Execution and Nominations
A F Shepherd (Chairman) May 2003 Independent Member Member

P | Fogarty (CEO) October 1984 Executive Member

D | Humann January 1998 independent Chairman Member Member

D P Saville May 2003 Non-Executive Member Chairman

R N Topfer October 2002 Independent Member

ERG GROUP 2003 ANNUAL REVIEW 22




The Board is satisfied that Mr Humann and Mr Shepherd
meet all criteria for independence required by Principle 2
of the ASX Recommendations. The Board has assessed
MrTopfer as independent notwithstanding his role

with Babcock and Brown which has acted as a material
professional advisor to ERG within the last three years.
The Board has made this assessment on the basis that fees
paid to Babcock and Brown were in conjunction with a
credit facility provided by Babcock and Brown. That credit
facility has been repaid in full and extinguished.

Further information concerning the individual Director's
experience and qualifications and attendance at meetings is
set out on pages 12 and 31,

The Board charter contains the right of any Director to
take independent professional advice at the expense of
the Company.

Remuneration and Nominations Committee
Following review of the ASX Recommendations, the Board
has joined the remuneration and nominations functions

under cne Remuneration and Nominations Committee.

The remuneration function of the committee includes
reviewing and recommending to the Board the
remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and senior
management, Directors' fees, retirement and termination
payments for Directors and the approval of invitations

to participate in the ERG Executive Option Plan,

The nominations function includes succession planning
for key executive roles, assessing the composition of the
Board for the desired competencies and recommending
appointment of new Directors. The nominations function

also includes Board induction and performance review.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee charter

is available on the website.

In May 2003, the structure and membership of the
Board were reviewed and revised. The Remuneration
and Nominations Committee will commence formal
performance evaluation in compliance with Principle 8

of the ASX Recommendations in the upcoming year:

The criteria against which Board performance is measured
is contained in the Board Performance Evaluation

document available on the website,

ERG Policy on Remuneration

The Company's remuneration policy reflects the market
practices in the countries in which it operates. The
Company participates in remuneration surveys and has a
salary administration system in place which gives effect to

market practices.

With respect to executive remuneration, the Board
requires that the Company meets certain performance
hurdles before executive remuneration is adjusted. For the
2003 financial year, the Company's performance hurdles
have not been met and therefore executive salaries have
not been adjusted.

The Company does not operate any schemes for
retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation,
for Non-Executive Directors.

Principle 3 - Promote Ethical and Responsible
Decision-making

The Board has reviewed and where necessary established
codes of conduct in compliance with Principle 3 of the
ASX Recommendations,

The following documents are available on the website:
> Code of Conduct for Directors

» Code of Conduct for Employees

> Policy for Trading in ERG Securities,

Principle 4 - Safeguard Integrity in Financial
Reporting

Principle 7 - Recognise and Manage Risk
Audit and Risk Committee

The Board has an established Audit Committee that
operates under a charter approved by the Board,
Following review of the ASX Recommendations, the
Board has joined the functions of audit, risk management,

internal control and compliance under the Audit and
Risk Committee.

The Audit and Risk Committee charter is available on
the website.

The audit function of the Audit and Risk Committee
includes to review the effectiveness of internal and
operating controls, monitor the quality and reliability of
financial information, ensure compliance with accounting
policies determined by the Board, and oversee the annual
audit and half-yearly review performed by the external
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auditor. Al audit meetings are held with the Company'’s
external audit representative and Chief Financial Officer.

The Board has also established an External Audit Policy
which is available on the website.

The risk function of the Audit and Risk Committee
includes to:

o facilitate and oversee the process for identification and

management of business risk

° review the business risk analysis and consider its rigour

and completeness

e manage the ERG insurance program in light of the

business risk analysis

* review the Company's preparedness for addressing

major loss events

= review and recommend risk management education

processes and tools.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the
effective management of business risks at ERG. In this
regard, ERG views risk management as applied corporate
governance — that is, effective risk management is one

of the functional means by which ERG achieves its high
corporate governance standards. ERG's approach to risk
management is summarised in the ERG Risk Management

Policy that was approved by the Board in June 2000.

ERG has established a number of structures and processes
for the effective management of business risks including

the following:

Risk Management Policy
The risk management policy can be summarised by the
following excerpt:

ERG is committed to the protection and enhancement of
its people, brand, assets and revenues, and return to its
shareholders. To this end, ERG will assess and manage
the full range of strategic, financial, operational, commercial
and technical risks and oppertunities that may dffect the
achievement of ERG s strategic objectives.

The risk management policy is available on the website.

Bid Review Committee

The Bid Review Committee is a management committee
that evaluates key projects for which ERG bids. The
committee reviews the assessment of the risks and returns
from the proposed project and the strategic importance

of opportunities.

Document Execution Committee

The Board has established a Document Execution
Committee to authorise execution of various documents.
The committee consists of any two Directors or a
Director and the Company Secretary.

Principle 5 — Make Timely and Balanced
Disclosure

ERG is committed to complying with the continuous
disclosure obligations of the Corporations Act 2001 and the
listing rules of the ASX.

The Board has established a Continuous Disclosure Policy
which is available on the website.

Principle & — Respect the Rights of
Shareholders

The Company recognises the right of shareholders to be
informed of matters, in addition to those prescribed by

law, which affect their investments in the Company.

The Board has established a Shareholder Communication

Policy which is available on the website,

Principle 10 — Recognise the Legitimate
Interests of Stakeholders

Following review of the ASX Recommendations, the
Board has established a Corporate Code of Conduct for
the Company. The Corporate Code of Conduct sets out
various statements in which the Company recognises its

legal and other respensibilities to stakeholders.

The Corporate Code of Conduct is available on
the website.
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ERG LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of ERG Limited (ERG) and its controlled entities at the end
of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2003. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report
as follows:

Details of Directors

The names and particulars of the Directors of ERG in office throughout the year and at the date of this report are summarised on
page 12 of this Annual Review.

Principal Activities
The principal continuing activities of ERG and its controlled entities during the year were:

> marketing, installation and service of automated fare collection equipment and systems
e smart card systems and services

* licensing of technology

e research and develcpment

°  management and investment.

Results and Dividends

Consolidated Result
The consolidated (loss) profit from ordinary activities after income tax for the year, attributable to members of ERG, was:

2003 2002
$000 $000
Consolidated (loss) profit from ordinary activities after income tax {201,554) (249,799)
Add back: Net loss attributable to outside equity interest 3,296 5920
Net (loss) profit attributable to the members of ERG Limited (198,258) (243.879)

Dividends
No dividend has been paid or proposed in respect of the year ended 30 june 2003 (2002: nil).

Review of Operations

A detailed Review of Operations is set out on pages 13 to 21 of this Annual Review.
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Directors’ Report

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year were as follows:

2003
$000

An increase in contributed equity of $260,871,000 arising from:
Conversion of 3,000,000 convertible notes into 9,000,000 ordinary shares 1,496
Issue of 62,499,492 shares as satisfaction of convertible note interest payment due on | April 2003 9,375
Issue of 1,666,666,710 shares as satisfaction of convertible notes repayable in October 2005 250,000
260,871

In addition, ERG implemented a ten for one share consolidation and the consolidated entity disposed of 100 per cent of the issued
capital of Proton World International SA (PWI) on 24 April 2003, Refer to note 39 in the 2003 Financial Report for full details on the
PWI disposal.

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year

The consolidated entity announced that an agreement has been signed with Azienda Tramvie e Autobus del Comune di Roma (ATAQ),
the organisation administering the public transport in Rome, to restructure the original contract for the supply, installation and operation
of the public transport ticketing system in Rome and Lazio.

The restructure will resuft in the return of approximately $50.8 million in cash to ERG in the short term, the elimination of
approximately $7 million in annual depreciation charges and the continued involvement in the operation of the system for eight years.
The terms of the new relationship are as follows:

+  ATAC will purchase the public transport ticketing hardware, with the exception of the central clearing house, from ERG for a
consideration of $35.7 million. On signing of the contracts, $27.9 million is due within |5 days, of which $10.2 million has been
received. The remainder of $7.8 million is due in two instalments within six months. ATAC has pre-arranged external bank
financing for this purchase.

«  ERG and ATAC will establish a new company ("Newco") that will operate the ticketing system. ERG will own 30 per cent of
Newco and will contribute approximately $3.1 million in cash to the new entity.

*  Newco will purchase the rights to use ERG's software for $10 million payable in cash on signing of the contracts. ERG will also
receive an annual software maintenance fee of $1.9 million for a period of eight years.

+ In return for operating the system, Newco will receive an annual fee from ATAC of 7.85 per cent of all transit fares processed by
the system. This operating contract has an initial term of eight vears, with the annual fee estimated to be in the range of
$35-40 million, before operating costs.

*  ERG will be paid an additional $5.] million for software engineering services to be supplied over the next ]2 months.

The above event did not have a financial impact in the year ended 30 June 2003.

77
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Directors’ Report

At the date of this report, other than as already detailed, no matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2003 that will
significantly affect or may significantly affect:

e the operations in the financial year subsequent to 30 June 2003 of the consolidated entity constituted by ERG and entities it
controls from time to time; or

o the results of those operations; or

> the state of affairs in the financial year subsequent to 30 June 2003 of the consolidated entity.

Environmental Regulation

Following a review of the consolidated entity's operations, the Directors confirm that there are no particular environmental obligations
to which ERG or its controlled entities are subject, outside of the usual common law and legislative requirements.

Directors’ and Executives’ Emeluments

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee advises the Board on remuneration policies and practices generally. and makes specific
recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of employment.

Executive remuneration and other terms of employment are reviewed annually by the Committee having regard to performance against
goals set at the start of the year

Remuneration packages are set at levels that are intended to attract and retain executives capable of managing the consolidated entity's
diverse operations.

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Board within the maximum amounts approved by shareholders from
time to time.

Performance-related bonuses are available to executives up to a maximum of 50 per cent of base salary. Bonuses are not payable to
Non-Executive Directors.

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each Director of ERG and each of the five officers of the
consolidated entity receiving the highest emoluments are set out in the following tables.

Non-Executive Directors of ERG Limited

Directors’
Name Base Fee Superannuation Consultancy Total
$ $ $ $
A F Shepherd — Chairman (appointed 2 May 2003) - - - -
A S Murdoch (resigned 2 May 2003) 78,261 7,043 - 85,304
E L Bolto (resigned 2 May 2003) 45,198 4,067 - 49,265
D J Humann 54,000 4,860 129,360 188,220
G L Crew (resigned 2 May 2003) 51,707 4,653 - 56,360

D P Saville (appointed 2 May 2003) - - - -
R N Topfer (appointed 8 October 2002) - - - -
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ERG LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Directors’ Report

Executive Director of ERG Limited and the Consolidated Entity

Name Base Consulting Fee Cther * Total
$ $ $
P ) Fogarty — for the services of LTC Management Pty Ltd 950,000 325,000 1,275,000

* | TC Management Pty Ltd received payments as a result of achieving various performance objectives and includes a capital payment

for an amendment to the contract and new restrictive covenants.

Other Executives of the Consolidated Entity

Name Position Base Salary  Superannuation Otger 'H'os;tal

V| Miners' Chief Technology Officer (resigned 6 December 2002) 282,377 - 360,920 643,297
A E Linkens' Managing Director — EMEA* (resigned 24 April 2003) 391,842 - 56,804° 448,646
F R Carbonez'  Executive Chairman — EMEA 431,205 - - 431,205
R D Howson Chief Financial Officer (resigned 4 January 2003) 151,200 3,608 260,682° 425,490
G Constable' Global Head of Knowledge Management 400518 - - 400,518

*  Europe, Middle East and Africa

These executives are overseas-based and are paid in foreign currencies.
Includes termination payments.

Includes a bonus payment.
There are no executives of ERG Limited.

Information on the options granted, including the number of options granted to Directors and other executives, is set out in the
following sections of this report.

Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations

The consolidated entity intends to continue with the various activities outlined under Principal Activities concentrating on growth of the
key activities; namely, in the areas of automated fare collection equipment, smart card systems and services, and technology licensing,

Share Options Granted to Directors and the Most Highly Remunerated Officers

There were no options over unissued ordinary shares of ERG granted during, or since the end of, the financial year to any of the
Directors or the five most highly remunerated officers of the parent entity and consolidated entity as part of their remuneration.
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Shares Under Option

At the date of this report, unissued ordinary shares of the parent entity under option are:

Expiry Date Notes Exercise Price  Number of Options
|7 November 2003 (a) $31.80 300
|5 March 2007 $3.80 100,000
29 March 2007 $376 100,000
29 March 2007 (b) $3.76-%4.39 400,000
29 March 2007 $4.50 200,000
9 December 2008 €] $3.70 375,000
| I December 2008 (a) $3.80 7,500
| February 2009 $4.00 706,662
16 july 2009 (a) $9.30 190,500
30 August 2009 (a) $11.90 15,000
26 November 2009 () . $26.00 7,500
29 November 2009 (a) $26.00 7.500
2 December 2009 (a) $26.40 31,500
(0 January 2010 (a) $25.40 4,200
[l January 2010 (@) $25.90 4,500
|2 January 2010 @) $26.10 16,500
I3 January 2010 @) $26.20 5400
14 January 2010 (a) $27.00 19,650
25 February 2010 (a) $37.50 1,200
|4 June 2010 (@) $30.80 18,000
| November 2010 (a) $32.30 79,500
17 November 2010 @ $31.80 97,600
2,388,012

(a) These options are exercisable after the expiration of two years after the date of grant. The options will expire on termination of
the employee's employment or ten years after the date of grant.

In addition, the exercise of options for Mr P | Fogarty and other key executives is conditional on the achievement of certain
performance hurdles.

(b) These options are exercisable in tranches dependent upon the use of the Proton technology and software within certain periods.

[nterests in the Shares of the Parent Entity

As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares of the parent entity were:

Shares Issued Under
the ERG Limited Employee
Share Incentive Scheme
Name Cptions Listed Shares (Unlisted)

A F Shepherd - - -
P ] Fogarty 375,000 654,599 525,000

D | Humann - _ _
D P Saville ~ 64,317,041 -
R N Topfer - - -

Directors’ Meetings

To assist in the execution of responsibilities, and in addition to its regular meetings, the Board has established several committees
including the Audit and Risk, Document Execution, and Remuneration and Nominations Committees. Meetings are held as required.

The following table sets out the number of meetings of the parent entity's Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2003 and the
number attended by each Director:




ERG LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Directors’ Report

Board Meetings Committee Meetings
Audit & Risk Document Execution Remuneration & Nominations
Name Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended
A F Shepherd 5 5 - - * * * *
A S Murdoch 33 33 3 3 - - I I
P ] Fogarty 37 37 * * - - * *
E L Bolto 33 30 3 3 - - J |
G L Crew 33 29 4 4 - - I I
D | Humann 37 32 4 4 - - I |
D P Saville 5 4 - - * * - -
R N Topfer 27 [5 * * * * - -

*  Not a member of the Committee
Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers

indemnification

The parent entity's Constitution provides for an indemnity of Directors, executive officers and company secretaries where liability is
incurred in connection with the performance of their duties in those roles other than as a result of their negligence, default or breach
of duty in relation to the consolidated entity. The indemnification will also meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including legal fees
where that person is acquitted or where preceedings are withdrawn before judgment.

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the
Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such by an officer or auditor:

Insurance Premiums

The consolidated entity has paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors and officers’ liability, legal expenses and insurance contracts
for current Directors and officers, including executive officers and company secretaries of the consclidated entity; and Directors,
executive officers and company secretaries of its controlled entities, other than for Onelink Holdings Pty Ltd and OneLink Transit
Systems Pty Ltd which have their own Directors and officers’ insurance policy. In addition, the consolidated entity's Directors and
officers’ insurance policy has been extended to cover officers serving as non-executive directors of AFC Equipment Co Pty Ltd and
Prepayment Cards Limited. In accordance with commercial practices, the insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the terms of the policy
including the nature of the liability insured against and the amount of the premiums paid.

Rounding off of Amounts to Mearest Thousand Dollars

The parent entity is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission,
relating to the "rounding off" of amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial report. Amounts in the Directors’ Report and the
financial report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars or, in certain cases, to the nearest doilar, in accordance with that
Class Order.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors made pursuant to s298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001,

On behalf of the Directors

P } Fogarty
Director

Perth, Western Australia, 30 September 2003




ERG LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Statement of Financial Performance
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 - 2003 2002
$000 $00¢C $000 $000
Revenue from ordinary activities 327,631 301,552 38,519 17,900
Expenses from ordinary activities (504,729) (514,499)  (181,3559) (246,374)
Borrowing costs (21,059) (29,703) (19,055) (27.954)
Share of net loss of associates accounted for using
the equity method _ (2,950) (3488) - -
Correction of fundamertal error - - (46,625) -
(Loss) from ordinary activities before income tax expense (201,207) (246,138)  (208,720) (256,428)
Income tax (expense) benefit relating to ordinary activities (347) (3,661} - 3,509
(Loss) from ordinary activities after related income tax expense (201,554) 249,799y  (208,720) (252919)
Net loss attributable to outside equity interest 3,296 5920 - -
Net (loss) attributable to members of ERG Limited (198,258) (243,879)  (208,720) (252919)
Net exchange differences on translation of financial reports
of self-sustaining foreign operations (7,345) (1,183) 704 -
Total changes in equity other than those resulting
from transactions with owners as owners (205,603) (245,062)  (208,006) (252919)
Cents Cents
Basic (loss) earnings per share (188.8) (316.6)
Diluted (loss) earnings per share (188.8) (316.6)

Complete financial statements of the consolidated entity and parent entity are available in the 2003 Financial Report.




ERG LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 30 JUNE 2003

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000C $000

Current Assets
Cash assets 22,873 38,401 12,475 15
Receivables 81,523 124,650 7,472 6,380
Inventories 25,053 34902 1,675 -
Other financial assets - 15,793 - -
Other 12,705 21466 1,008 l4
Total current assets 142,154 235212 22,627 6409
Non-Current Assets
Receivables 90,3710 67,633 128,840 391,937
Investments accounted for using the equity method 2,405 5355 - -
Other financial assets 724 5554 8,286 21911
Property, plant and equipment 70,226 84,841 53,666 929
Intangible assets 89,926 2437243 26,294 30,044
Other 13,696 28298 - -
Total non-current assets 267,348 434924 217,086 44487 |
Total assets 409,502 670,136 239,713 451,230
Current Liabilities
Payables 59,846 93224 12,059 6,239
Interest-bearing liabilities 32,212 78217 - 42818
Current tax liabilities 969 803 - -
Provisions 12,021 [1970 1,706 813
Other 22,069 14991 2,803 4337
Total current liabilities 127,017 199,205 16,570 54207
Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 42 - 42 -
Interest-bearing liabilities 25,435 268,881 25,433 2477218
Provisions 359 465 - -
Other 57,834 49838 - -
Total non-current liabilities 83,670 319,184 25,477 247218
Total liabilities 210,787 518389 42,047 301,425
Net assets 198,715 151,747 197,686 149,805
Equity
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 617,831 361,964 617,831 361964

Reserves (%,705) (4.016) 714 -

(Accumulated losses) (423,228) (223314)  (420,879) (212,159)
Total parent entity interest 184,898 134,634 197,666 149,805
Qutside equity interests in controlled entities 13,817 (7,013 - -
Total equity 198,715 151,747 197,666 149,805

Complete financial statements of the consolidated entity and parent entity are available in the 2003 Financial Report.
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ERG LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

Consolidated

Parent Entity

2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 257,729 279231 30,917 13409
Payments to suppliers and employees (224,279) (300.609) (26,810) (4.386)
Dividends received - 3 - -
Interest received 950 3303 451 2,668
Income tax {paid) refund received (181) 1o - -
Government grants received - | - -
Interest paid and borrowing costs (13,671) (24,215) (10,919) (23,121)
Research and development expenditure (016,956) (10594) - -
Redundancy costs (664) (1,943) - -
Restructure and advisory costs {6,380) - (6,380) -
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities (3,452) (54.713) (12,741) (11,430)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Research and development expenditure capitalised - (12,583) - -
Repayments from associated entity 8,721 - 8,721 9,364
Advances to associated entity (7,675) (2,170 - -
Payments for investment in associated entity (4,337) (13,983) (4,337) (13,983)
Payment for purchase of controlled entity, net of

cash acquired - (7,455) - -
Proceeds from sale of investment in associated entity 5,000 - - -
Proceeds from sale of controlled entity, net of cash disposed 48,956 - - -
Payments for purchase of technology licence (8,905) - - -
Payments for property, plant and equipment (4,395) (14911 (1,999) -
Payments for purchase of investment - (6,139) - -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,379 795 1,409 -
Proceeds from sale of investment 16,125 22,604 - -
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities 55,869 (33,842) 3,794 (4,619)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Advances to controlled entities - - 53,602 (91,060)
Proceeds from issue of shares - 99,954 - 99954
Dividends paid (17) (4.885) (17) (4,885)
Repayment of other loans (23,719) (5,259) (16,392) -
Repayment of convertible notes (21,322) - (21,322) -
Share issue expenses (2,445) - (2,445) -
Proceeds from other loans 41,827 - 41,827 -
Bond payments (32,079) - (17,566) -
Proceeds from commercial bills - 45,000 - 45,000
Repayment of commercial bills {20,000) (35,000} (20,000) (35,000)
Repayment of finance lease principal (942) (1.321) - -
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities (58,797) 98,489 17,687 14,009
Net (decrease) increase in cash held {6,380) 9934 8,740 (2,040)
Cash at the beginning cf the financial year 28,984 20512 15 2,055
ERG Limited (ftalian Branch) - - 3,618 -
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash

held in foreign currencies 269 (1,462) 102 -
Cash at the end of the financial year 22,873 28984 12,475 {5

Complete financial statements of the consolidated entity and parent entity are available in the 2003 Financial Report.
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ERG LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Investor Information

The investor information set out below was applicable as at 23 September 2003.

Twenty Largest Shareholders

Number of Percentage of
Name Shares Issued Capital
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 47,186,043 17.64
National Nominees Limited 12,633,882 4.72
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 11,093,820 4.15
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 10,993,966 411
PAN Australian Nominees Pty Limited 9,755,867 365
ANZ Nominees Limited 4,096,229 [.53
Banksys SA 3,101,651 [.16
AMP Life Limited 2736014 [.02
UCA Growth Fund Limited 2,000,000 0.75
Beck Corporation Pty Ltd 1,900,000 0.71
Tower Trust Limited 1,698,654 0.64
American Express Travel Related Services Company Inc 1,484,165 0.55
Interpay Nederland BV 1,484,165 0.55
Visa International Service Association 1,484,165 0.55
Comsec Nominees Pty Limited 1,087,348 041
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 1,084,176 041
Utilico International Limited 1,063,764 040
Townson Property Corporation Pty Ltd 1,044,000 0.3%9
Mr Peter John Fogarty 794494 030
KPL Limited 749,731 0.28

117,472,134 4392

Substantial Shareholders

The Ingot Entities collectively hold 64,317,041 shares as at 23 September 2003. The majerity of the beneficial holdings are held through
nominee registered holders. The beneficial holdings are detailed as follows:

Entity Address Holding

Utilico Investment Trust PLC 8" Floor, Exchange House, Primrose Street 44502210
London EC2A 2NY England

Ingot Capital Investments Pty Limited Level ||, | York Street 2819436
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

Stocks Convertible Trust PLC 77a High Street, Brentwood 8,891,739
Essex CM14 4RR England

Utllico International Limited 97 The Terrace 1,103,656

Wellington New Zealand

Distribution of Listed Ordinary Shareholders

Units Held - Listed Ordinary Shares Holders Total Units Percentage
I - 1,000 31,933 13,137,781 49
1,001 — 5000 13,136 30,848,415 1.5
5001 — 10,000 2479 18920461 7.1
10001 — 100,000 2,154 56,387010 211
100,001+ 156 148,201,882 554
49,858 267495549 100.0

There were 22,554 holders of less than a marketable parcel of shares.

The percentage of the total holding held by the twenty largest shareholders was 43.92 per cent.
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ERG LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Investor Information

Shareholder Enquiries
Shareholders seeking information regarding their shareholdings should contact the Company’s share registry:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

Level 2, Reserve Bank Building

45 St George's Terrace

Perth Western Australia 6000

Telephone  +61 8 9323 2000

Facsimile +61 893232033

Website www.computershare.com

Email perth.services@computershare.com.au

Each enquiry should refer to the Securityholder Reference Number (SRN) or Holder Identification Number (HIN) which is shown on
the holding statements and dividend statements,

Alternatively, you can conveniently check your details by visiting our website www.erggroup.com and clicking on the Investor Relations
heading. For security reasons you will then need to key in your SRN or HIN, plus family name and postcode, to enable you to access
your personal information.

This service can provide you with:

°  current holding balances

e dividend history

e tax file number (TFN) quotation status

e historical price information

*  graphs of the share price against market indices

= downloadable forms for making changes to your shareholder detalils, such as change of address or dividend direct
credit instructions.

Your Shareholding in ERG Limited

ERG Limited is a participating company in the Australian Stock Exchange’s Clearing House Electronic Subregister System (CHESS) which
provides a faster and more efficient settlement of share sales and purchases.

Shareholders with queries concerning the operation of CHESS may contact their stockbroker, the Australian Stock Exchange or the
Company’s share registry detailed above. Shareholders with specific enquiries about their buy and sell transactions should contact their
sponsoring stockbroker.

American Depositary Receipts, sponsored by The Bank of New York, can be purchased through brokers in the US,

Change of Address

if you change your address, please notify the share registry in writing as soon as possible, quoting your SRN and your old address for
security purposes. Broker-sponsored shareholders should directly notify their sponsoring stockbroker.

Change of Name

Shareholders who have changed their name should notify the share registry or their sponsoring stockbroker in writing attaching a copy
of the relevant marriage certificate or deed poll.

Tax File Number

The Company is obliged to deduct tax from dividend payments to shareholders registered in Australia who have not quoted their TFN
to the Company. If you have not already quoted your TFN, you may do so by contacting the share registry,

Remaoval from Annual Report Mailing List

Shareholders who do not wish to receive the annual report, or who are receiving more than one copy, or elect to view the annual
report through cur website, should advise the registry in writing.
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Wiestern Australia
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ERG Group
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Telephone
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of ERG Limited (ERG) and its controlled entities at the end
of, or during, the year ended 30 june 2003. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corperations Act 2001, the Directors report
as follows:

Details of Directors

The names and particulars of the Directors of ERG in office throughout the year and at the date of this report are summarised on
page 12 in the 2003 Annual Review.

Principal Activities

The principal continuing activities of ERG and its controlled entities during the year were:

e marketing, installation and service of automated fare collection equipment and systems
e smart card systems and services

> licensing of technology

> research and development

°  management and investment.

Results and Dividends

Consolidated Result

The consolidated (loss) profit from ordinary activities after income tax for the year, attributable to members of ERG, was:

2003 2002
$000 $000
Consolidated (loss) profit from ordinary activities after income tax (201,554) (249.799)
Add back: Net loss attributable to outside equity interest 3,296 5920
Net (loss) profit ettributable to the members of ERG Limited (198,258) (243,879)

Dividends
No dividend has been paid or proposed in respect of the year ended 30 June 2003 (2002: nif).

Review of Operations

A detailed Review of Operations is set out on pages 13 to 21 in the 2003 Annual Review.
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IRC LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Directors’ Report

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year were as follows:

2003
$000

An increase in contributed equity of $260,871,000 arising from:
Conversion of 3,000,000 convertible notes into 9,000,000 ordinary shares 1,496
Issue of 62,499,492 shares as satisfaction of convertible note interest payment due on | April 2003 9,375
Issue of |,666,666,710 shares as satisfaction of convertible notes repayable in October 2005 250,000
260,871

In addition, ERG implemented a ten for one share consolidation and the consolidated entity disposed of 100 per cent of the issued
capital of Proton World International SA (PW1) on 24 April 2003. Refer to note 39 for full details on the PWI disposal.

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year

The consolidated entity announced that an agreement has been signed with Azienda Tramvie e Autobus det Comune di Roma (ATAC),
the organisation administering the public transport in Rome, to restructure the original contract for the supply, installation and operation
of the public transport ticketing system in Rome and Lazio.

The restructure will result in the return of approximately $50.8 million in cash to ERG in the short term, the elimination of
approximately $7 million in annual depreciation charges and the continued involvement in the operation of the system for eight years.
The terms of the new relationship are as follows:

= ATAC will purchase the public transport ticketing hardware, with the exception of the central clearing house, from ERG for a
consideration of $35.7 million. On signing of the contracts, $27.9 million is due within 15 days, of which $10.2 million has been
received. The remainder of $7.8 million is due in twa instalments within six months. ATAC has pre-arranged external bank
financing for this purchase.

*  ERG and ATAC will establish a new company (“Newco") that will operate the ticketing system. ERG will own 30 per cent of
Newco and will contribute approximately $3.1 million in cash to the new entity.

o Newco will purchase the rights to use ERG's software for $10 million payable in cash on signing of the contracts. ERG will also
receive an annual software maintenance fee of $1.9 million for a period of eight years.

e In return for operating the system, Newco will receive an annual fee from ATAC of 7.85 per cent of all transit fares processed by
the system. This operating contract has an initial term of eight years, with the annual fee estimated to be in the range of
$35~40 million, before operating costs.

o ERG will be paid an additionat $5.1 million for software engineering services to be supplied over the next 12 months.

The above event did not have a financial impact in the year ended 30 June 2003.
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Directors’ Report

At the date of this report. other than as already detailed, no matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2003 that will
significantly affect or may significantly affect:

°  the operations in the financial year subsequent to 30 June 2003 of the consolidated entity constituted by ERG and entities it
controls from time to time; or

o the results of those operations; or

o the state of affairs in the financial year subsequent to 30 June 2003 of the consolidated entity.

Environmental Regulation

Following a review of the consolidated entity's operations, the Directors confirm that there are no particular environmental obligations
to which ERG or its controlled entities are subject, outside of the usual common law and legislative requirements.

Directors’ and Executives’ Emoluments

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee advises the Board on remuneration policies and practices generally, and makes specific
recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of employment,

Executive remuneration and other terms of employment are reviewed annually by the Committee having regard to performance against
goals set at the start of the vear

Remuneration packages are set at levels that are intended to attract and retain executives capable of managing the consolidated entity’s
diverse operations.

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Board within the maximum amounts approved by shareholders from
time to time.

Performance-related bonuses are available to executives up to a maximum of 50 per cent of base salary. Bonuses are not payable to
Non-Executive Directors.

Detalls of the nature end amount of each element of the emoluments of each Director of ERG and each of the five officers of the
consalidated entity receiving the highest emoluments are set out in the following tables.

Non-Executive Directors of ERG Limited

Directors’
Name Base Fee Superannuation  Consultancy Total
$ $ $ $
A F Shepherd — Chairman (appointed 2 May 2003) - - - -
A S Murdoch (resigned 2 May 2003) 78,261 7,043 - 85,304
E L Bolto {resigned 2 May 2003) 45,198 4,067 - 49,265
D J Humann 54,000 4,860 129,360 188,220
G L Crew (resigned 2 May 2003) 51,707 4,653 - 56,360

D P Saville (appcinted 2 May 2003) - ~ - _
R NTopfer (appointed 8 October 2002) - - - -

ERG GROUP 2003 FINANCIAL REPORT 4
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Directors’ Report

Executive Director of ERG Limited and the Consolidated Entity

Name Base Consulting Fee Other * Total

P | Fogarty — for the services of LTC Management Pty Ltd 950,000 325,000 1,275,000

¥ LTC Management Pty Ltd received payments as a result of achieving various performance objectives and includes a capital payment
for an amendment to the contract and new restrictive covenants.

Other Executives of the Consolidated Entity

Mame Position Base Salary  Superannuation Otger To;al

V| Miners' Chief Technology Officer (resigned 6 December 2002) 282,377 Co— 3609207 643297
A E Linkens' Managing Director — EMEA* (resigned 24 April 2003) 391842 - 56804 448 646
F R Carbonez'  Executive Chalrman — EMEA 431,205 - - 431205
R D Howson Chief Financial Officer (resigned 4 January 2003) 151,200 13,608 260,682 425,490
G Constable' Global Head of Knowledge Management 400518 - - 400518

*  Europe, Middle East and Africa
These executives are overseas-based and are paid in foreign currencies.
Includes termination payments.

Includes a bonus payment.
There are no executives of ERG Limited.

Information on the options granted, including the number of options granted to Directors and other executives, is set out in the
following sections of this report.

Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations

The consolidated entity intends to continue with the various activities outlined under Principal Activities concentrating on growth of the
key activities; namely, in the areas of automated fare collection equipment, smart card systems and services, and technology licensing,

Share Options Granted to Directors and the Most Highly Remunerated Officers

There were no options over unissued ordinary shares of ERG granted during, or since the end of, the financial year to any of the
Directors or the five most highly remunerated officers of the parent entity and consolidated entity as part of their remuneration.
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Directors’ Report

Shares Under Option

At the date of this report, unissued ordinary shares of the parent entity under option are:

Expiry Date Notes Exercise Price Number of Options
17 November 2003 (a) $31.80 300
IS March 2007 $3.80 100,000
29 March 2007 $3.76 100,000
29 March 2007 (b) $3.76-%$4.3%9 400,000
29 March 2007 $4.50 200,000
9 December 2008 (a) $3.70 375,000
I December 2008 (a) $3.80 7,500
| February 2009 $4.00 706,662
16 july 2009 (a) $9.30 190,500
30 August 2009 (a) $11.90 15,000
26 November 20C9 (a) $26.00 7,500
29 November 2009 (a) $26.00 7,500
2 December 2009 () $26.40 31,500
10 January 2010 (a) $25.40 4,200
I'l January 2010 (@) $25.90 4,500
|2 January 2010 (@) $26.10 16,500
I 3 January 2010 (a) $26.20 5,400
[4 January 2010 (a) $27.00 19,650
25 February 2010 (a) $37.50 1,200
14 June 2010 (a) $30.80 18,000
| November 2010 (a) $32.30 79,500
|7 November 2010 €] $31.80 97,600
2,388012

{a) These options are exercisable after the expiration of two years after the date of grant. The options will expire on termination of
the employee's employment or ten years after the date of grant.

In addition, the exercise of options for Mr P | Fogarty and other key executives is conditional on the achievement of certain
performance hurdles.

(b) These options are exercisable in tranches dependent upon the use of the Proton technology and software within certain periods.

Interests in the Shares of the Parent Entity

As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares of the parent entity were:

Shares [ssued Under
the ERG Limited Employee
Share Incentive Scheme
Name Opticns Listed Shares {(Unlisted)

A F Shepherd - - -
P | Fogarty 375,000 654,599 525,000

D J Humann - — _
D P Saville - 64,317,041 -
R N Topfer - - -

Directors’ Meetings

To assist in the execution of responsibilities, and in addition to its regular meetings, the Board has established several committees
including the Audit and Risk, Document Execution, and Remuneration and Nominations Committees. Meetings are held as required.

The following table sets out the number of meetings of the parent entity's Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2003 and the
number attended by each Director.

ERG GROUP 2003 FINANCIAL REPORT 6
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Directors’ Report

Board Meetings Committee Meetings
Audit and Risk Document Execution Remuneration & Nominations
Name Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended
A F Shepherd 5 5 - - * * * *
A S Murdoch 33 33 3 3 - - I I
P | Fogarty 37 37 * * - - * *
E L Bolto 33 30 3 3 - - | \
G L Crew 33 29 4 4 - - I |
D J Humann 37 32 4 4 - - | |
D P Saville 5 4 - - * * - -
R N Topfer 27 I5 * * * * - -

*  Not a member of the Committee

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers

Indemnification

The parent entity’s Constitution provides for an indemnity of Directors, executive officers and company secretaries where liability is
incurred in connection with the performance of their duties in those roles other than as a result of their negligence, default or breach
of duty in relation to the consolidated entity. The indemnification will also meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including legal fees
where that person is acquitted or where proceedings are withdrawn before judgment.

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the
Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such by an officer or auditor.

Insurance Premiums

The consolidated entity has paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors and officers' liability, legal expenses and insurance contracts
for current Directors and officers, including executive officers and company secretaries of the consolidated entity; and Directors,
executive officers and company secretaries of its controlled entities, other than for OneLink Holdings Pty Ltd and OneLink Transit
Systems Pty Ltd which have their own Directors and officers' insurance policy. In addition, the consolidated entity's Directors and
officers’ insurance policy has been extended 1o cover officers serving as non-executive directors of AFC Equipment Co Pty Lid and
Prepayment Cards Limited. In accordance with commercial practices, the insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the terms of the policy
including the nature of the liability insured against and the amount of the premiums paid.

Rounding off of Amounts to Nearest Thousand Dollars

The parent entity is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission,
relating to the "rounding off" of amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial repert. Amounts in the Directors' Report and the
financial report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars or; in certain cases, to the nearest dollar; in accordance with that
Class Order:

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors made pursuant to s298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

P ) Fogarty
Director

Perth, Western Australia, 30 September 2003
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Statement of Financial Performance
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

Consclidated

Parent Entity

2003 2002 2003 2002
Notes $000 $000 $000 $000
Revenue from ordinary activities 3 327,631 301552 38,519 17,900
Expenses from ordinary activities 3 (504,729) (514499)  (181,559) (246,374)
Borrowing costs 4 (21,159) (29,703) (19,055) (27.954)
Share of net loss of associates accounted
for using the equity method 4| (2,950) (3,488) - -
Correction of fundamental error 48 - - (46,625) -
(Loss) from ordinary activities before
income tax expense 4 (2010,207) (246,138)  (208,720) (256,428)
Income tax (expense) benefit relating to
ordinary activities 5 (347) (3,661) - 3,509
(Loss) from ordinary activities after related
income tax expense {201,354) (245,799)  (208,720) (252919)
Net loss attributable to outside equity interest 3,296 5920 - -
Net (loss) attributable to members of
ERG Limited 29(b) (198,258) (243879)  (208,720) (252919)
Net exchange differences on translation of
financial reports of self-sustaining foreign
operations 29(a) (7,345) (1,183) 714 -
Total changes in equity other than those resulting
from transactions with owners as owners 31 {205,603) (245,062)  (208,006) (252,919)
Cents Cents
Basic (loss) earnings per share 45 (188.8) (316.6)
Diluted (loss) earnings per share 45 (188.8) (316.6)

The above statement of financial performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 30 JUNE 2003

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
Notes $000 $000 $000 $000
Current Assets
Cash assets 8 22,873 38401 12,475 15
Receivables 9 80,523 124,650 7,472 6,380
Inventories [0 25,053 34502 1,675 -
Other financial assets [ - 15793 - -
Other [2 12,705 21,466 1,005 14
Total current assets 142,154 235212 22,627 6,409
Non-Current Assets
Receivables I3 90,371 67,633 128,840 391537
Investments accounted for using the equity method 14 2,405 5,355 - -
Other financial assets [5 724 5554 8,286 21911
Property, plant and equipment 16 70,228 84,84 53,666 929
Intangible assets |7 89,926 243,243 26,294 30,044
Other I8 13,696 28,298 - -
Total non-current assets 267,348 434924 217,086 444821
Total assets 409,502 670,136 239,713 451,230
Current Liabilities
Payables 19 59,846 93224 12,059 6,239
Interest-bearing liabilities 20 32,202 78217 - 42818
Current tax liabilities 21 969 803 - -
Provisions 22 12,021 11970 1,706 813
Other 23 22,069 14991 2,805 4337
Total current liabilities 127,017 199,205 16,570 54207
Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 24 42 - 42 -
Interest-bearing liabilities 25 25,435 268,881 25,435 247218
Provisions 26 359 465 - -
Other 27 57,834 49,838 - -
Total non-current liabilities 83,670 319,184 25,477 247218
Total liabilities 210,787 518,389 42,047 301,425
Net assets 198,715 151,747 197,666 149,805
Equity
Parent entity interest
Contributed equity 28 617,831 361,964 617,831 361964
Reserves 29(a) (9,703) (4016) 714 -
(Accumulated losses) 29(b) (423,228) (223314)  (420,879) (212,159)
Total parent entity interest 184,898 134,634 197,666 149,805
Quitside equity interests in controlled entities 30 13,817 17,113 - -
Total equity 31 198,715 151,747 197,666 149,805

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 jUNE 2003

Consolidated

Parent Entity

2003 2002 2003 2002
Notes $000 $000 $000 $000
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 257,729 2797231 30,917 13,409
Payments to suppliers and employees (224,279) (300,609) (26,810) (4.386)
Dividends received - 3 - -
Interest received 950 3,303 451 2,668
fIncome tax (paid) refund received (181) 10 - -
Government grants received - I - -
Interest paid and borrowing costs (013,6710) (24,215) (10,919) (23,121
Research and development expenditure 7 (16,956} (10,594) - -
Redundancy costs (664) (1,943) - -
Restructure and advisory costs (6,380) - (6,380) -
Net cash (outfllow) inflow from operating activities 43 (3,452) (54.713) (12,741) (11,430)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Research and development expenditure capitalised 7 - (12,583) - -
Repayments from associated entity 8,721 - 8,721 9,364
Advances to associated entity (7,675) 2,170} - -
Payments for investment in associated entity (4,337) (13,983) (4,337) (13,983)
Payment for purchase of controlled entity, net of
cash acquired 3% - (7,455) - -
Proceeds from sale of investment in associated entity 5,000 - - -
Proceeds from sale of controlled entity, net of cash
disposed 3% 48,956 - - -
Payments for purchase of technelogy licence (8,905) - - -
Payments for property, plant and equipment (4,395) (14911 (1,999) -
Payments for purchase of investment - (6,139) - -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,379 795 1,409 -
Proceeds from sale of investment 16,125 22,604 - -
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities 55,869 (33,842) 3,794 (4619)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Advances to controlled entities - - 53,602 (91,060)
Proceeds from issue of shares - 99,954 - 99,954
Dividends paid (17 (4,885) (a7 (4,885)
Repayment of other loans (23,719) (5259) (16,392) -
Repayment of convertible notes (21,322) - (21,322) -
Share issue expenses (2,445) - (2,445) -
Proceeds from other loans 41,827 - 41,827 -
Bond payments (32,179) - (17,566) -
Proceeds from commercial bills - 45,000 - 45,000
Repayment of commercial bills (20,000) (35,000) (20,000) (35,000)
Repayment of finance lease principal (942) (1321) - -
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities (58,797) 98,489 17,687 14,009
Net (decrease) increase in cash held (6,380) 9,934 8,740 (2,040)
Cash at the beginning of the financial year 28,984 20,512 15 2,055
ERG Limited (ltalian Branch) - - 3,618 -
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash
held in foreign currencies 269 (1.462) 102 -
Cash at the end of the financial year 8 22,873 28984 12,475 15
Financing arrangements 43
Non-cash financing and investing activities 44

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

ERG GROUP 2003 FINANCIAL REPORT 10




IRE JMITID AND CONTRGCLLED ENTITIE

otes to the Financial Statements
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial report covers both ERG Limited as an
individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of
ERG Limited and its controlled entities.

ERG Limited is a listed company, incorporated and
domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal
place of business is:

ERG Limited
247 Balcatta Road
Balcatta Western Australia 602

Basis of Accounting and Preparation

The financial report is a general purpose financial

report which has been prepared in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, the Austrafian Accounting Standards
Board (AASB) and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views
and complies with other requirements of the law.

It is prepared in accordance with the historical cost
convention and except where stated, does not take into
account changing money values or current valuations of
non-current assets. Unless otherwise stated, the accounting
policies are consistent with those of the previous year

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner
which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies
the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring
the substance of the underlying transactions or other events
is reported.

Going Concern Basis

The consolidated entity has recorded a loss of
$198,258,000, after outside equity interest, for the year
ended 30 June 2003. This includes a loss of $56,394,000
in refation to the disposal of Proton World International
SA (PWI) and an additional charge for the provision of the
deferred liability on the PWI acquisition of $10,885,000.

The consolidated entity generated a positive operating cash
flow of $17,263,000 before interest and borrowing costs
($13.671,000). restructure and advisory costs ($6,380,000)
and redundancy ($664,000). Including these costs, operating
cash flow was a negative $3,452,000 for the year

During the vear, the ERG Group restructured its
statement of financial position with the conversion of the
$250,000,000 listed convertible notes into equity and the
disposal of the PWI investment. The net cash received
on disposal amounted to $48,956,000 with a further
$13,733,000 receivable post—year-end.

Subsequent to year-end, an agreement has been signed
with Azienda Tramvie e Autobus del Comune di Roma
(ATAC) to restructure the Rome contract. The assets

for the operation in Rome and the rights to use ERG
software have been sold to ATAC for $45,700,000 in

cash with $27,900,000 due on signing of the renegotiated
contract. An additional $5,100,000 wilt be paid for software
engineering services to be supplied over the next

|2 months.

(®)

The Export Finance and Insurance Corporation has
provided a facility of approximately $25,000,000 to assist
with performance bonds for some of the major contracts.
The facility will be able to be drawn down subject to certain
conditions precedent.

The Directors believe that the ERG Group will return to
profitability with the successful delivery of major transit
projects in Seattle, Stockholm, Sydney and Washington DC.
The successful delivery of these projects involves certain
risks and uncertainties some of which are outside the
control of the Group.

As a result of the above, the Directors are of the

opinion that it is appropriate for the financial statements
to be prepared on a going-concern basis and that the
consolidated entity has the appropriate resources to meet
its debts and commitments as and when they fall due.

The financial performance of the consolidated entity
resulted in both the parent entity and the consolidated
entity breaching a number of banking covenants. Waivers
in respect of these breaches have been obtained.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are those of the
consolidated entity, comprising ERG Limited (the parent
entity) and all entities which ERG Limited controlied (as
defined in AASB 1024 “Consolidated Accounts”) during the
year and at year-end. A list of controlled entities is shown in
note 39.

Where control of an entity is obtained during a financial
year, its results are included in the consolidated statement
of financial performance from the date on which control
commenced. Where control of an entity ceases during a
financial year, its results are included for that part of the vear
during which control existed.

The financial statements of controlled entities are prepared
for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using
consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to
bring into line dissimilar accounting policies which may exist.

The effects of all transactions between entities in the
consolidated entity are eliminated in full. Outside equity
interests in the results and equity of controlled entities are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of financial
performance and statement of financial position respectively.

Investments

Interests in listed and unlisted securities, other than
controlled entities and associates in the consolidated
financial statements, are brought to account at cost and
dividend income is recognised in the statement of financial
performance when receivable. Controlled entities and
associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements as set out in notes | (b} and [(e).
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
{continued)

Acquisitions of Assets

The purchase method of accounting is used for all
acquisitions of assets regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is
determined as the fair value of the assets given up, shares
issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition
plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
Where equity instruments are issued in an acquisition, the
value of the instruments is their market price as at the
acquisition date.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of the acquisition. The
discount rate used is the incremental borrowing rate, being
the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained
from an independent financier under comparable terms
and conditions.

A liability for restructuring costs is recognised as at the
date of acquisition of an entity or part thereof when there
is a demonstrable commitment to a restructuring of the
acquired entity and a reliable estimate of the amount of the
liability can be made.

Goodwill is brought to account on the basis described in
note [(p).

Where an entity or operation is acquired and the fair value
of the identifiable net assets acquired, including any liability
for restructuring costs, exceeds the cost of acquisition,

the difference, representing a discount on acquisition, is
accounted for by reducing proportionately the fair values

of the non-monetary assets acquired until the discount is
eliminated. Where, after reducing to zero the recorded
amounts of the non-monetary assets acquired, a discount
balance remains, it is recognised as revenue in the statement
of financial performance.

Equity Accounting of Associates

Investments in associates are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method
and the cost methcd in the Company's financial statements.
Under the equity method, the consolidated entity's share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is
recognised in the consclidated statement of financial
performance and its share of post-acquisition movements
in reserves is recognised in consolidated reserves, The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the cost of the investment. Associates are those entities
over which the consolidated entity exercises significant
influence, but not control.

®

(&

Income Tax

Tax effect accounting is applied whereby the income tax
expense shown in the statement of financial performance
is based on the profit (loss) before tax, adjusted for any
permanent differences.

Timing differences, which arise from the recognition in the
financial statements of items of revenue and expenditure in
periods different to those in which they are assessable or
allowable for income tax purposes, are brought to account
as a provision for deferred income tax or future income tax
benefit at the current taxation rates.

The future income tax benefit refating to timing differences
is carried forward as an asset to the extent that realisation
is considered beyond reasonable doubt. The future income
tax benefit relating to tax losses is not carried forward as an
asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.

Where the earnings of overseas entities are subject to
taxation under the Controlled Foreign Companies Rules, this
tax has been provided for in the financial report.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances

Translation of Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
to Australian currency at the rate of exchange applicable

at the date of the transactions. Except for specific hedges,
foreign currency balances outstanding at balance date are
translated at the rates of exchange ruling on that date.
Resulting exchange gains and losses arising from such
translations are reflected in the profit or loss for the year

Specific Hedges

Hedging is undertaken in order to avoid or minimise
possible adverse financial effects of movements in exchange
rates. Where a purchase or sale is specifically hedged,
exchange gains or losses on the hedging transaction arising
up to the date of purchase or sale, and costs, premiums and
discounts relative to the hedging transaction are included
with the purchase or sale. Exchange gains and losses arising
on the hedge transaction after that date are taken to the
statement of financial performance.

In the case of hedges of monetary items, exchange gains or
losses are brought to account in the financial year in which
the exchange rate changes. Gains or costs arising at the
time of entering into such hedging transactions are brought
to account in the statement of financial performance over
the lives of the hedges.

If the hedging transaction is terminated prior to its maturity
date and the hedged transaction s still expected to occur
as designated, deferral of any gains and losses which arose
prior to termination continues and those gains and losses
are included in the measurement of the hedged transaction.

ERG GROUP 2003 FINANCIAL REPORT 12
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I Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (k) Recoverable Amount of Non-Current Assets

(continued) Non-current assets are written down 1o recoverable

. ‘ . amount where the carrying value of any non-current
In those circumstances where a hedging transaction ere the carrying v Y

is terminated prior to maturity because the hedged
transaction is no longer expected to occur as designated,
any previously deferred gains and losses are recognised in
the statement of financial performance on the date

asset exceeds recoverable amount. In determining

the recoverable amount of non-current assets, the
expected net cash flows have been discounted to their
present value.

of termination. () Employee Share Incentive Scheme - Receivables

Translation of Foreign Controlled Entities Amounts receivable under the terms of the ERG Limited
Employee Share Incentive Scheme are disclosed as current
where shares are available after a two-year escrowed term

Gains or losses on translation of the financial statements
of financially dependent foreign operations are calculated
using the temporal method. Such gains or losses are then
taken into account in determining the profit or loss for
the year. Translation of financial statements of operations

and the issue price is below the current market price for
shares traded on the Australian Stock Exchange. Repayment
of loan monies can be made any time after the two-year
period. Shares outstanding and held by employees who
terminate their employment within the two-year escrowed
term are repurchased and cancelled by ERG Limited for the
original subscription price. Amounts receivable in relation

deemed self-sustaining, being financially and operationally
independent of ERG Limited, are translated using the
current rate method and any exchange difference is taken

directly to the foreign currency translation reserve. . ‘
to the employee share incentive scheme are reduced by any

(h) Cash necessary provision for doubtful debts.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash

includes cash on hand and in banks and money-market
investments readily convertible to cash within two Cost
working days and subject to an insignificant risk of change

(m

it

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost and

in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts and current capitalised leasehold assets are included at the present value

bank borrowings. of the minimum lease payments.

(i} Receivables Any gain or loss on the disposal of fixed assets is
determined as the difference between the carrying amount
Trade Debtors . ‘

of the asset at the time of disposal and the proceeds of
All trade debtors are recognised at the amounts due less disposal, and is included in the result of the consolidated
any provision for doubtful debts. entity in the year of disposal.

Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are
written off, A provision for doubtful debts is raised where
some doubt as to collection exists.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings
but excluding freehold land, are depreciated to write off
the net cost of each asset on a straight-line basis over their
() Inventories expected useful economic lives. Estimates of remaining

‘ useful lives are made on a regular basis for all assets, with
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net g

: annual measurements for major items.
realisable value.
The following estimated useful fives are used in the

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present ‘ e
calculation of depreciation:

location and condition are accounted for as follows:

° raw materials — purchase cost on a weighted average * buildings — 25 10 40 years

cost basis  plant and equipment — 3 to |6 years.

¢ finished goods and work in progress — costs of direct Land and Buildings
material, labour and a proportion of manufacturing

‘ . The consolidated entity obtains a current valuation for its
overheads based on normal operating capacity.

interests in land and buildings every three years based on
an existing-use basis. Note |6 discloses the most recent
valuation and the date of that valuation.

Where the carrying amount of land and buildings is in
excess of the valuation, the decrement is recognised as an
expense in the statement of financial performance.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
{continued)

Leasehold Improvements

The cost of improvements to, or on, leasehold properties

is amortised over the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the improvement to the consolidated
entity, whichever is the shorter. Leasehold improvements
held at the reporting date are being amortised over three
to eight years.

Leased Non-Current Assets

Assets which are acquired under leases deemed to be
“finance leases”, which effectively transfer from the lessor to
the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits incidental
to the ownership of the leased assets, are capitalised at the
present value of the minimum lease payments and disclosed
as leased plant and equipment.

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an initial asset
and liability equal to the present value of the minimum
lease payments including any guaranteed residual values,
Leased assets are amortised over their expected useful
lives using the straight-line method, or the period of the
lease, whichever is the lesser. Lease payments are allocated
between interest expense and lease liability.

Lease expenditure relating to leases deemed to be
"operating leases” is recognised as an expense on a basis
which reflects the pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed.

Intangible Assets
Goodwill

Goodwill purchased is shown in the consolidated financial
statements at cost less accumulated amortisation. Goodwill
arising on consolidation is the excess of the fair value of
the purchase consideration for shares in controlled entities
over the fair value attributed to the identifiable net assets
acquired, at the acquisition dates. Goodwill purchased and
goodwil on consolidation are amortised on a straight-

line basis over the period in which the future benefits are
expected to arise. This is taken as being ten years.

Licences, Rights and Brand Names

Licences, rights and brand names are initially brought to
account at the cost of acquisition and are amortised over
their useful lives. Current amortisation periods are five to
ten years.

otes to the Financial Statements
N
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Software Development Costs

Software development costs are carried at cost and are
deferred to future periods where they are expected to be
recovered beyond any reasonable doubt. Costs include

all materials used, direct labour, borrowing costs incurred
during development and an appropriate proportion of
direct and indirect overheads.

These assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the period during which the benefits are expected to arise
which is currently ten years.

The unamortised balance of software development costs
is reviewed regularly and at each reporting date to ensure
that the criterion for deferral continues to be met. Where
such costs are no longer considered recoverable, they are
written off as an expense.

Research and Development

Expenditure on research and development is reported as
a charge against net profit or loss in the year in which the
expenditure is incurred, except where unamortised
deferred costs are expected to be recoverable, beyond
reasonable doubt.

Amortisation

Where research and development costs are deferred,
they are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period
of expected benefits. The current amortisation period is
ten years.

The unamortised balance of research and development
costs deferred in previous periods is reviewed regularly
and at each reporting date, to ensure that the criterion for
deferral continues to be met. Where such costs are no
longer considered recoverable, they are written off as

an expense.

Grants

Grants and subsidies received in relation to research and
development activities are offset against capitalised research
and development costs.

Trade and Other Creditors

These amounts are recognised when the consclidated entity
becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from
the purchase of goods and services.

ERG GROUP 2003 FINANCIAL REPORT 1 4
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Interest-Bearing Liabilities

Loans, commercial bills and other borrowings are recorded
at an amount equal to the net proceeds received. Interest
is accrued over the period it becomes due and is recorded
as part of cther creditors and accruals.

On issue of convertible notes, the fiability component,
originally brought to account, is the present value of
future payments of principal and interest to noteholders.
The residual amount, representing the fair value of the
conversion option, is included in equity as other equity
securities with no recognition of any change in the value of
the option in subsequent periods. The liability is included
in borrowings and carried on an amortised cost basis with
interest on the notes recognised as borrowing costs on
an effective yield basis until the liability is extinguished on
conversion or maturity of the notes.

Employee Entitlements

The estimated value of the shares issued under the ERG
Limited Employee Share Incentive Scheme described in note
37 is not charged as an employee entitiement expense.

The contributions made to superannuation funds by entities
within the consolidated entity are charged against the profit
or loss for the period when due.

Woages and Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave and sick
leave are expected to be settled within |2 months at their
nominal values using the remuneration rates to apply at the

time of settlement.

Long Service Leave

Liabilities for long service leave, which are not expected to
be settled within |2 months, are measured as the present
value of expected future payments to be made in respect
of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of
service. Expected future payments are discounted using
interest rates applicable to national government guaranteed
securities with the terms to maturity that match, as closely
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows,

Pension Fund

Liabilities or assets in respect of a defined benefit pension
fund are measured as the difference between the present
value of employees’ accrued benefits at the reporting
date and the net market value of the superannuation
fund's assets at that date. The present value of accrued
benefits is based on expected future payments which
arise from membership of the fund to the reporting date.
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary

™)

levels, experience of employee departures and periods of
service. Expected future payments are discounted using
interest rates on national government guaranteed securities
with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible,
the estimated future cash outflows. The amount charged
to the statement of financial performance in respect of the
pension funds represents the contributions made by the
consolidated entity to the funds, adjusted by the movement
in the liability or asset.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The consolidated entity enters into forward foreign
exchange contracts and interest rate swap agreements.
Neither of these types of derivative financial instruments are
recognised in the financial statements on inception.

The accounting for forward foreign exchange contracts is in
accordance with note 1(g).

The net amount receivable or payable under interest rate
swap agreements is progressively brought to account

over the period to settlement. The amount recognised is
accounted for as an adjustment to interest expense during
the period and included in other debtors or other creditors
at each reporting date.

Revenue Recognition

Sales and Long-Term Projects

Sales revenue is recognised at the point of final manufacture
of product for which contracts are in place and delivery of

the product is required under the contracts. Sales revenue

is disclosed net of returns, trade allowances, and duties and

taxes paid.

In the case of long-term projects involving the supply of an
automated fare collection system, revenue is recognised in
accordance with the percentage of completion method and
stage of completion is measured by the proportion that
costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total costs of
the contract.

Profit is accounted for by taking the percentage of
completion of the total contract value and applying the
percentage against the total current forecast profit for the
project. Where it is probable that a loss will arise from a
contract, the excess of total forecast cost over total forecast
revenue is recognised as an operating expense immediately.

Service Revenue

Service revenue is recognised once the service has been
provided.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in thé period in
which they are incurred, except where they are included in
the costs of qualifying assets. Borrowing costs include:

° interest and associated fees on bank overdrafts and
short-term and long-term borrowings

e amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to
borrowings

> finance lease charges

e amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in the issue of
convertible notes.

Financial Instruments Issued by the Company

Debt and Equity Instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement. Refer to note 1(s) for treatment
of the convertible notes (compound instrument).

Transaction Costs on the Issue of Equity Instruments

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments
are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the
proceeds of the equity instruments to which the costs
relate. Transaction costs are the costs that are incurred
directly in connection with the issue of those equity
instruments and which would not have been incurred had
those instruments not been issued,

Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

° where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable
from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the
cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of
expense; or

 for receivables and payables which are recognised
inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to,
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables
or payables respectively.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a
gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from

investing and financing activities which is recoverable from,
or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating
cash flows.

@

(a3)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity

has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic
benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be
measured reliably,

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, the recelvable is recognised as an asset if it is
probable that recovery will be received and the amount of
the receivable can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration reguired to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated

to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.

Service Warranties

Provision is made for the estimated liability on all products
still under warranty at balance date. Amounts provided for
are classified as current liabilities. The estimate is based on
the consolidated entity's warranty costs experience over
previous years.

Onerous Contracts

An onerous contract is considered to exist where the
consolidated entity has a contract under which the
unavoidable cost of meeting the contractual obligations
exceeds the economic benefits to be received. Present
obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised
as a provision to the extent that the present obligation
exceeds unrecognised assets.

Project Contract Costs

Project contract costs include direct materials, project
management, engineering labour and direct and indirect
overheads incurred on contracts of significant value and
duration. These costs are written off over the life of the
contract.

(ab) Changes in Accounting Policies

In accordance with AASB 1028 "Employee Benefits", on

I July 2002, the consolidated entity changed its policy for
recognising provisions for annual leave. Under the new
policy the amount of the provision is calculated using
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of
settlement, rather than the remuneration that applies at
reporting date.
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(ac)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

There is no material effect of this change in accounting policy
to opening retained profits in the consolidated entity and the
Company.

In accordance with AASB 1044 "Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, on | July 2002, the
consolidated entity changed its policy for providing for
dividends. Under the new policy a provision for dividend is
recognised when the Directors have declared, determined
or publicly recommended the dividend. There is no material
effect of this change in accounting policy to opening retained
profits for the consclidated entity and the Company.

In addition, on | July 2002, the consolidated entity has, as a
result of the adoption of AASB 1044, changed its accounting
policy for recognising a provision in respect of warranty
obligations. The provision for warranty is, under the new
policy, calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows to their net present value. There is no material effect
of this change in accounting policy to opening retained
profits in the consolidated entity and the Company.

Restatement of Comparative Information

Comparative information has been reclassified to ensure
comparability with the current reporting period.

In the current financial year, project contract costs have been
reclassified from inventories to other assets. This has resulted
in a reclassification of the 2002 financial year disclosure from
current inventories to other current assets of $9,409,000
(parent entity: nif) and from non-current inventories of
$58,068,000 (parent entity: $30,044,000) to other non-
current assets of $27,776,000 (parent entity: nil) and to
intangible assets of $30,292,000 (parent entity: $30,044.000).

In the current financial year, software development costs
capitalised have been reclassified from property, plant

and equipment to intangibles. This has resulted in a
reclassification of the 2002 financial year disclosure from
property, plant and equipment to intangibles of $65286,000
(parent entity: nil).

In the current financial year, GST credits have been netted
off with GST debits to disclose net GST receivables.

This has resulted in reclassification of the 2002 financial
year disclosure from payables to other current assets of
$5.878,000 {parent entity: nil).

Included in non-current other financial assets in 2002 was a
receivable of $2,786,000 (parent entity: nil). Accordingly, this
amount has been redlassified from non-current other financial
assets to non-current receivables.

The complete set of reclassifications is summarised in the
following table:

Consolidated Parent Entity

2002 2002

$000 $000
Increase (decrease) in assets:
Current assets — inventories (8,409) -
Current assets — other 3531 -
Non-current assets — receivables 2,786 -
Non-current assets — inventories (58,068) (30,044)
Non-current assets — other financial assets (2,786) -
Non-current assets — property, plant and equipment (65.286) -
Non-current assets — intangible assets 95,578 30,044
Non-current assets — other 27,776 -
Decrease in liabilities:
Current liabilities — payables 5,878 -
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2 Segment Information

Business Segments
The consolidated ertity is organised on a global basis into the following business segments:

Projects, Supply and Installation

The supply and installation of automated fare collection (AFC) systems throughout the world,

Operation and Maintenance

The operation and maintenance segment of the business represents the source of long-term recurring revenue for the
consolidated entity derived primarily from the outsourced operation and/or fong-term maintenance of AFC systems once installed.

Corporate and Financing

This segment of the business provides the technology, financing, business development and administrative support to the two
operational segments outlined above.

Geographical Segments

The consolidated eritity's business segments operate in the following three main geographical areas:

¢ Asia—Pacific — comprises operations in Australia, Hong Kong, Malaysia and Singapore. Australia is the home country of the
parent entity and provides all of the consolidated entity's Corporate support

* Europe, the Middie East and Africa — comprises operations in Belgium, France, Germany, ltaly, Sweden and the United Kingdem

> North America — comprises operations in Canada and the United States.

Projects,
Supply and Operation and Corporate and Intersegment
installation Maintenance Financing Eliminations C lidated
5000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Primary Reporting - Business Segments 2003
Sales to customers outside the consolidated entity 87,404 18221 - - 205,625
Intersegment sales - - - - -
Share of net loss of associates - (2,950) - - (2.950)
Other revenue 1633 100,058 19,365 - 121,056
Unallocated revenue 950
Total segment revenue 89,037 215329 19,365 - 324,681
Segment result before individually significant items (6.200) (14,626} (45.968) - (66,794}
Borrowing costs - - (21,159) - (21.15%9)
Individually significant items (22,665) (84,506) (7.033) - (114,204
Unallocated revenue 950
Segment result (28,865) (99.132) (74,160) - (201,207)
Unallocated expenses -
Loss from ordinary activities before income tax (201,207)
Income tax expense (347)
Loss from ordinary activities after income tax (201,554)
Segment assets 100,309 171,102 138,091 - 409,502
Unallocated assets _
Total assets 100,309 71,102 138,091 - 409,502
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2 Segment Information (continued)

Projects,
Supply and Operation and Corporate and Intersegment
Installation Maintenance Financing Eliminations Consolidated
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Segment liabilities 41,154 144412 24252 - 209818
Unallocated liabilities 969
Total liabilities 41,154 144,412 24252 - 210787
Investments in associates - 2405 - - 2405
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment;
intangibles and other non-current segment assets 1,678 10,663 634 - 12975
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2,004 23,840 12,740 - 38,584
Other non-cash expenses 22,665 34421 6470 - 63556
Projects,
Supply and Operation and Corporate and Intersegment
Installation Maintenance Financing Eliminations Consolidated
$000 $000 $000 3000 $000
Primary Reporting - Business Segments 2002
Sales to customers outside the consolidated entity 136,554 139,325 (4.061) - 271818
Intersegment sales 14914 - 2,165 (17.079) -
Share of net loss of associates - (3,488) - - (3.488)
Other revenue 3844 616 25274 - 29.734
Unallocated revenue -
Total segment revenue 155312 136,453 23,378 (17,079) 298,064
Segment result before individually significant items 1,603 (37,031) (22,385) - (57,813)
Borrowing costs - - (29,703) - (29,703)
individually significant items {12283} (139,187) (7.152) - (158,622)
Segment resuft (10,680} (176218) (59.240) - (246,138)
Unallocated expenses -
Loss from ordinary activities before income tax (246,138)
Income tax expense (3661
Loss from ordinary activities after income tax (249,799)
Segment assets 174789 368,327 127.020 - 670,136
Unallocated assets -
Total assets 174,789 368,327 127,020 - 670,136
Segment liabilities 56,302 66,305 394,579 - 517586
Unallocated liabilities 803
Total liabilities 56,302 66,305 394,979 - 518389
Investments in associates - 5355 - - 5355
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment:
intangibles and other non-current segment assets 29,529 36515 173,689 - 239733

Depreciation and amortisation expense 4,216 51,684 20,229 - 76,129
Other non-cash expenses 21,832 24915 - - 46,747
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2 Segment Information (continued)

Europe,
Middle East North
Asia~-Pacific and Africa America Consolidated
$000 $000 $000 $000

Secondary Reporting - Geographical Segments 2003
Sales to customers outside the consolidated entity 84,847 98,237 22,541 205,625
Segment assets 276,332 119,859 13,31 409,502
Acquisitions of property. plant and equipment; intangibles and

other non-current segment assets L7 F1745 b3 12975
Secondary Reporting — Geographical Segments 2002
Sales to customers outside the consolidated entity 144,870 103,904 23,044 271818
Segment assets 490,747 167,441 11,948 670,136
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment; intangibles and

other non-current segment assets 214,123 14,328 o 11,282 239733

Notes to and Forming Part of the Segment Information

Intersegment Transfers

Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments. Such transfers are priced on a cost plus mark-up
basis and are eliminated on consolidation.

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
3 Revenue and Expenses from Ordinary Activities
Revenue from Operating Activities
Sales revenue 205,625 271818 35,808 14914
Revenue from Qutside the Operating Activities
Other revenue:
Interest received/receivable 950 3,303 1,166 2,405
Dividends - 754 - -
Proceeds from sale of current investments 15,866 - - -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,379 795 1,409 -
Proceeds from sale of non-current investments 5,259 22,604 - -
Proceeds from sale of investment in former controlled entity 94,598 - - -
Proceeds from sale of business assets 8 2 - -
Management fees from controlled entities - - - 443
Net foreign exchange gain - - - 127
Other income 2,946 2,236 126 [
Total other revenue 122,006 29734 2,701 2,986
Total revenue from ordinary activities 327,631 301,552 38,519 | 7,900
Sales revenue includes construction contract revenue of 60,403 73,336 - 14914
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Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
3 Revenue and Expenses from Ordinary Activities
(continued)
Expenses from Ordinary Activities
Cost of sales:
Changes in inventories of raw materials, finished
goods and work in progress (9,848) (11.453) - -
Raw materials and consumables used 95,054 71856 25,871 14,168
Changes in project costs 2,811 5235 727 -
Total cost of sales 95,017 165,638 26,598 14,168
Employee benefits expense 58,033 53,983 5,419 498
Other labour and consulting costs 25,684 43,865 10,033 1,025
Depreciation 13,335 19,686 8,017 31
Amortisation 25,249 56,443 3,805 4,291
Rental expense relating to operating leases 25,125 24312 412 7
Travel expenses 4,741 9,631 50 4
Legal fees 3,098 3515 589 -
Communication costs 2,551 4579 714 21
Cost of sale of investment 15,878 22,678 - 11,797
Cost of sale of investment in former controlled entity 150,992 - - -
Cost of sale of property, plant and equipment 1,643 41 1,494 -
Provision for deferred consideration 10,885 - - -
Write down to recoverable amount of:
Investments 4,790 1,057 7,567 1,082
Investments accounted for using the equity method - 58,876 6,137 21,406
Provision for doubtful debts 16,101 1,542 103,744 190,000
Intangibles 2,465 - - -
Other assets 15,587 - - -
Other ordinary expenses 33,555 47,283 6,770 2,044
Total expenses from ordinary activities 504,729 514,499 181,559 246,374
4 (Loss) Profit from Ordinary Activities
(a) Gains and Expenses
{Loss) profit from ordinary activities before income tax
includes the following specific net gains and expenses:
Gains
Interest received/receivable:
Other persons and/or corporations 950 3,303 518 2,405
Related entities - - 648 -
Total interest received/receivable 950 3,303 1,166 2,405
Profit on sale of assets:
Investments 5,247 - - -
Plant and equipment 738 - - -
5,983 - - -
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Consclidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 3000 $000 $000
4 (Loss) Profit from Crdinary Activities (continued)
Expenses
Cost of goods sold 95,007 165,638 26,598 14,168
Borrowing costs expensed:
Interest paid/payable — other persons and/or corporations 18,688 24,264 16,641 22,637
Other charges 1,566 222 1,544 222
Amortisation - 495 - 495
Accelerated amortisation - 3,631 - 3,631
Interest on debt component of convertible notes 870 969 870 969
Finance charges relating to finance leases 35 122 - -
Total borrowing costs 20,159 29,703 19,0585 27954
Loss on sale of non-current assets:
Investment in former controlled entity 56,394 - - -
Investments - 14,064 - -
Property, plant and equipment - 616 85 -
Total loss on sale of non-current assets 56,394 14,680 8% -
Depreciation:
Buildings 349 387 4 31
Plant and equipment 12,986 19,299 8,113 -
Total depreciation 13,333 19686 8,117 31
Other charges:
Rental expense relating to operating leases 25,125 24312 412 7
Other net foreign exchange losses 2,409 - 934 -
Total other charges 27,534 24,312 1,346 7
Amortisation:
Leasehold improvements 529 633 65 -
Plant and equipment under finance leases 106 720 - -
Software development costs 7,296 45995 - -
Goodwill on consolidation 12,406 2,857 - -
Licences, rights and brand names 591 1,649 - -
Other development costs 3,994 4589 3,750 47291
Other 317 - - -
Total amortisation 25,249 56,443 3,815 4291
Other provisions:
Doubtful debts
Directors and Director-related entities 3,238 - 3,238 -
Controlled entities - i - 100,000 190,000
Associated entities 6,000 - - —~
Other persons ard/or corporations 6,863 1,542 506 -
16,101 1,542 103,744 190,000
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Consolidated

Parent Entity

2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
4 (Loss) Profit from Qrdinary Activities (continued)
Inventory obsolescence 1,654 2,195 1,594 -
Service warranties (reversal of) 1,423 (523) - -
Employee entitlements 3,676 4,036 il -
Total other provisions 22,854 7,250 105,449 190,000
(b) [ndividually Significant Items

Gains
Gain on sale of former associate 5,000 - - -
Technology licence fees - 3,046 - _
Losses
Loss on sale of former controlled entity 56,394 - - -
Expenses
Write down to recoverable amount of project contract costs 15,587 - - -
Provision for doubtful debts 14,771 - - -
Provision for deferred consideration 10,885 - - -
Restructure and advisory fees 6,380 - 6,380 -
Write down to recoverable amount of other financial assets 4,790 1,057 - 945
Provision for project losses and delays 4,137 10,170 - ~
Other 6,260 1,943 - -
Write down to recoverable amount of investments

accounted for using the equity method (unlisted companies) - 58876 6,137 21406
Accelerated amortisation of software development costs

and technology licence rights - 37971 - -
Accelerated amortisation of project contract costs - 33912 - -
Reversal of prior year profit, exchange movement

and equity fosses applicable to Prepayment Cards Limited - 13,990 - 1,797
Provision for doubtful debt applicable to controlled entities - - 100,000 190,000
Write down to recoverable amount of investment in

controlled entities - - 7,567 1,082
Write off of project receivable - 3,750 - -
Accelerated amortisation of borrowing costs - 3,631 - -
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Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
5 Income Tax
The income tax for the financial year differs from the amount
calculated on the (loss) profit. The differences are reconciled
as follows:
{Loss) from ordinary activities before income tax (201,207) (246,138)  (208,720) (256,428)
Income tax calculated at 30% (60,362) (73,841) (62,616) (76,928)
Tax effect of permanent differences:
Amortisation of goodwill 3,725 857 - -
Provision for diminution - 17,980 - 7,199
Share of losses of associates - 1,046 - -
Prepayment Cards Limited profit reversal - 4,197 - 4,197
Net capital gain - 5512 - -
Rebateable dividend - (615) - -
Other items (5,750) 3631 20,627 (240)
Research and development allowance (561) (1,738) - -
Income tax adjusted for permanent differences (62,948) (42,971) (41,989) (65.772)
Tax losses not brought to account 70,487 51,124 35,134 63,786
Tax losses recouped/transferred (5,365) (4,549) 6,855 1,986
Overseas tax rate differential on taxable profit (1,827) (2.335) - -
Prior year over-provision - (1.507) - -
Reversal of deferrec tax assets and liabilities - 3440 - (3,509)
Change in income tax rates - 459 - -
Income tax expense (benefit) relating to ordinary activities 347 3,661 - (3,509)
The Directors estimate that the potential future income
tax benefit in respect of tax losses not brought to
account is 62,0310 69,566 [3,855 -

This benefit for tax losses will only be obtained if:
(i) the consolidated entity derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the
deductions for the losses to be realised; or

(i) the losses are transferred to an eligible entity in the consolidated entity;
(i) the consolidated entity continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and

(iv) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consclidated entity in realising the benefit from the deductions for the losses.

Tax Consolidation Legislation

ERG Limited and its wholly owned Australian subsidiaries have decided to implement the tax consolidation legislation as of
I'July 2003. The Australian Taxation Office has not yet been notified of this decision. The entities also intend to enter into a
tax-sharing agreement, but detalls of this agreement are vet to be finalised.

As a consequence, ERG Limited, as the head entity in the tax consolidated group, will recognise current and deferred tax amounts
relating to transactions, events and balances of the wholly owned Australian-controlled entities in this group in future financial
statements as if those transactions, events and balances were its own, in addition to the current and deferred tax balances arising
in relation to its own transactions, events and balances. Amounts receivable or payable under the tax-sharing agreement will be
recognised separately by ERG Limited as tax-related amounts receivable or payable.

The financial effect of the implementation of the legislation has not been recognised in the financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2003.
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Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
é Dividends
(@) No dividend has been paid or proposed in respect of the
current or previous financial year - - - -
(b) Adjusted franking account balance (tax paid basis) (note 6(i)} 1,061 L6l - -

() Due to the changes in Australian income tax legislation from | July 2002, franking accounts are maintained on a “tax paid” rather
than an “after tax distributable profits” basis. The comparative franking account balance as at 30 June 2002 has been restated on
the “tax paid basis’ so as to be comparable with the disclosure as at 30 June 2003

Franking Credits Available for Subsequent Financial Years
The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:
¢ franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liability

° franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date
°  franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date

o franking credits that may be prevented from being distributed in subsequent financial years.

The consolidated amounts include franking credits that would be available to the parent entity if distributable profits of controlled
entities were paid as dividends.

7 Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs written off 16,956 10,594 - -
Research and development costs capitalised - 12,583 - -
Amortisation of capitalised software development costs 7,296 45995 - -

The research and development costs as capitalised at balance date, together with the net carrying value thereof, are disclosed as
capitalised software development costs in note 17.

8 Current Assets ~ Cash Assets

Cash at bank and on hand 12,202 19019 3,412 15
Deposits at call 10,671 19382 9,063 -
Total current assets — cash assets 22,873 38401 12,475 15

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the
end of the financial year as shown in the
statement of cash flows as follows:

Balance as above 22,873 38,401 12,475 I5
Less: Unsecured bank borrowings — other (note 20) - G417 - -
Balances per statement of cash flows 22,873 28984 12,475 I5

Cash at bank balances are bearing floating interest rates between 0.00% and 4.50% (2002: 0.00% and 4.50%) and deposits at call
are bearing floating interest rates between 0.00% and 4.75% (2002: 0.00% and 4.70%).

® Current Assets -~ Receivables

Trade debtors 83,738 122,347 5,775 -
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (4,400) (4.723) (303) -
79,338 [ 17,624 5,472 -
Debtor retentions 185 646 - -
79,523 118,270 5,472 -
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Consclidated

Parent Entity

2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
9 Current Assets — Receivables (continued)
Amounts due under the ERG Limited Employee Share
Incentive Scheme:
Loans due by employees - 40 - 40
- 40 - 40
Receivables from equity associates * 2,000 6,340 2,000 6,340
Total current assets — receivables 81,523 [24.650 7,472 6,380
* Refer to note |13 for the non-current portion of these receivables.
Further information relating to receivables from equity associates is set out in note 38.
10 Current Assets — Inventories
Raw materials and stores:
At cost 102 879 - -
At net realisable value 6,062 5,293 1,261 -
Work in progress — at cost 1,421 3,699 33 -
Finished goods:
At cost 3,969 16814 - -
At net realisable value 13,489 8217 381 -
Total current assets — inventories 25,053 34,902 1,675 -
[l Current Assets — Other Financial Assets
Investments Traded on Organised Markets
Shares in other corporations — at cost - 15793 - -
Total current assets — other financial assets - 15,793 - -

Shares in other corporations were sold during the year The market value of these shares in the previous financial year was

$15,844,326.

12 Current Assets — Other

Prepayments 6,750 9,128 262 l4
Project contract cosss 4,748 9,409 - -
Other 1,207 2,929 743 -
Total current assets — other 12,705 21,466 1,005 14
Other primarily relates to GST receivable and interest receivable.
13 Non-Current Assets — Receivables
Loans to controlled entities - - 408,508 579423
Less: Provision for doubtful debts - - (309,775) (209,775)
- - 98,743 369,648
Receivables from equity associates * 40,358 40,780 13,375 17,756
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (6,000) - - -
34,358 40,780 13,375 17,756
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Notes to the Financial Statements
30 JUNE 2003

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
13 Non-Current Assets — Receivables (continued)

Debtor retentions 17,533 19,048 - -
Bonds receivable 31,335 - 16,722 -

Deferred consideration — on disposal of Proton World
International SA 7,106 - - -
55,984 19,048 16,722 -
Other receivables 2,815 3272 - -
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (2,786) - - -
29 3272 - -

Amounts due under the ERG Limited Employee Share

Incentive Scheme:

Loans due by employees 688 1,295 688 1,295
Loans due by Executive Director 3,238 3,238 3,238 3,238
Less: Provision for non-recovery (3,926) - (3,926) -
- 4,533 - 4,533
Total non-current assets — receivables 90,371 67,633 128,840 391,937

* Refer to note 9 for the current portion of these receivables.
Further information relating to receivables from equity associates is set out in note 38.

Bonds receivable relate to performance bonds collateralised by cash which is not available for use until certain contractual
conditions are fulfilled.

ERG Limited Employee Share Incentive Scheme

Amounts due under the ERG Limited Employee Share Incentive Scheme (Scheme) represent loans provided to employees and
Executive Directors to purchase shares under the terms and conditions associated with the Scheme. The market value of these
shares at 30 June 2003 was $719,608 (2002: $2,698,530). Amounts recorded as current receivables are set out in note 9 and
represent shares available to participants in the Scheme after the completion of a two-year qualifying period and where the issue
price is below the current market value. Amounts recorded as non-current receivables are set out above. In accordance with the
terms of the Scheme, the employee is required to repay the loan to ERG when the shares are made available to him/her. As the
subscription prices are considerably higher than the current market prices of these shares, it is unlikely that employees will take up
the shares and in turn repay the loan to ERG. For this reason the receivable has been fully provided for. It is expected that when
the shares are cancelled the provision will be reversed and a corresponding reduction in share capital will be recognised. Further
information relating to the Scheme and the loans to Executive Directors under the Scheme is set out in notes 37 and 38.

14 Non-Current Assets - Investments Accounted
for Using the Equity Method

Investments in associates (note 41) 2,405 5,355 - -

Investments in Associates

Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting and are
carried at recoverable amount by the parent entity (refer to note |5).

During the previous financial year, the investment in Prepayment Cards Limited was written down to the assessed recoverable
amount of $5355,186 in the consolidated entity.

The investment in ECard Pty Limited was sold during the current financial year. In the previous financial year, this investment was
written down 1o a nil recoverable amount in the consolidated entity.

The above investments in associates represent interests in associated entities which are involved in the development and
commercialisation of the consolidated entity's smart card and electronic ticketing solutions.

Further details regarding the investments in associates are included in note 41.
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Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$00C $000 $000 $000
[5 Non-Current Assets — Other Financial Assets
Investments Traded on Organised Markets
Shares in other corporations — at recoverable amount 724 843 677 598
Other (Non-Traded) Investments
Shares in controlled entities and a trust — at recoverable amount - - 5,204 12,771
Investments in associates — at recoverable amount - - 2,403 8,542
Shares in other corporations — at recoverable amount - 4711 - -
Total of other (non-traded) investments - 4711 7,609 21313
Total non-current assets — other financial assets 724 5554 8,286 21911

Traded Shares in Other Corporations
The market value at balance date of the shares traded on organised markets was $723,733 (2002: $813.135).

Non-Traded Shares in Other Corporations

Investments in other corporations represent interests in cardetc AG. At 30 June 2003, ERG held 19.997% (2002: 19.997%) of the
share capital of card.etc AG. The company is involved in the development and marketing of smart card technology and provides
strategic alliances for the commercialisation of the consolidated entity's own smart card and electronic ticketing solutions. This
investment has been written down to the assessed recoverable amount of nil, previcusly having been recorded at cost value of
$4.711.374 at 30 June 2002,

Investments in Associates

During the financial year, the investment in AFC Equipment Co Pty Ltd has been written down to the assessed recoverable
amount of nil,

During the previous financial year, the investment in Prepayment Cards Pty Limited was written down to the assessed recoverable
amount of $6,542,412.

Further details regarding the investments in associates are included in note 41.

16 Non-Current Assets — Property, Plant and Equipment

Land and Buildings (note 16(i))

Freehold land — at cost 1,764 2,277 - 450

Buildings:

At cost ' 10,477 11,625 - 695

Less: Accumulated depreciation (2,893) 3.011) - (216)
7,584 8614 - 479

Leasehold improvements:

At cost 4,606 5026 432 -

Less: Accumulated amortisation (2,852) (2.862) (74) -
1,754 2,164 358 -

Total land and buildings 11,102 13,055 358 929
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Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
16 Non-Current Assets — Property, Plant and Equipment
(continued)
Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment;
At cost 116,394 19,567 72,646 -
Less: Accumulated depreciation (57,270) (48.120) (19,338) -
59,024 71,447 53,308 -
Plant and equiprment under finance lease:
At cost - 2,696 - -
Less: Accumulated amortisation - (2.357) - -
- 339 - -
Total plant and equipment 59,0124 71,786 53,308 -
Total non-current assets — property, plant and equipment 70,226 84,841 53,666 929

() Land and Buildings Valuations
During the vear, freehold land and a building at Balcatta, Western Australia were disposed of. The remaining freehold land and
buildings at Balcatta, Western Australia have been independently valued at $1 1,950,000 on an existing-use basis. The valuations
were performed on |2 November 1998 by Mr B Lamers AAPI and by the Directors in September 2002. The valuations are
estimates of the amounts for which assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable
willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the valuation date. The Directors have reviewed this 1998 valuation in the context of
reports on current market conditions and are satisfied the valuation remains a fair estimate of the exchange value of the property.

The current valuation of freehold land and buildings is greater than the carrying value of the underlying assets of $3.911,873
(2002: $11,343,759). Revaluation increments above cost are not taken into account in these financial statements.
(i) Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current and
previous financial years are set out below:

Project Leased
Freehold Leasehold Plant & Assets Under Plant &
Land Buildings Improvements Equipment Construction Equipment Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Consolidated - 2003
Carrying amount at start of year 2277 8614 2,164 71447 - 339 84.84]
Additions - - 278 3341 - - 3619
Disposals [CIRD] (564) (75) {331) - - (1.481)
Disposals through sale of entity - - - {359) - - (359)
Transfers to (from) classes of assets - (183) (39) 461 - (239) -
Write off of assets - - - (49) - - (49)
Depreciationfamortisation expense (note 4(a)) - (349) (529) (12.986) - (106) (13970)
Foreign currency exchange differences (2) 66 (45) (2,400) - 6 (2.375)
Carrying amount at end of year 1,764 7.584 1.754 59.124 - - 70226
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30 JUNE 2003

16 Non-Current Assets — Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Project Leased
Freehold Leasehold Plant & Assets Under Plant &
Land Buildings fmprovements Equipment Construction Equipment Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Consolidated — 2002
Carrying amount at start of year 2274 8729 1,873 15,036 68,710 133 97.755
Additions - 90 955 6922 - ~ 7967
Disposals - - n (293) - - (2943
Additions through acquisition of entity -~ 19 - 842 - ~ 961
Transfers to (from) classes of assets - - - 68,784 (68,710) 74) -
Write off of assets - 7 - - - - )
Depreciation/amortisation expense (note 4(a)) - (387) (633) (19.299) - (720) (21039
Foreign currency exchange differences 3 70 (30) (545) - ~ (502)
Carrying amount at end of year 2277 8614 2,164 71447 - 339 84,841
Freehold Leasehold Plant &
Land Buildings Improvements  Equipment Total
$000 $000 $000 $00¢C $000
Parent - 2003
Carrying amount at start of year 450 479 - - 929
Inclusion of ERG Limited (lalian Branch)
at | July 2002 - - 414 61,746 62,160
Additions - - 17 1,559 1576
Disposals (450) (475) - (291) (1216)
Transfers from other controlled entities - - - 176 176
Write off of assets - - - (33) (33)
Depreciation/amortisatior expense (note 4(a)) - @) (65) (8,113) (8,182)
Foreign currency exchange differences - - (8) (1,736) (1,744
Carrying amount at end of year - - 358 53,308 53,666
Parent - 2002
Carrying amount at start of year 450 510 - - 960
Depreciation/amortisation expense (note 4(a)) - (31 - - 3H
Carrying amount at end of year 450 479 - - 929
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30 JUNE 2003

Consolidated

Parent Entity

2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
17 Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets
Goodwill:
At cost - 150,377 - _
Less: Accumulated amortisation - (2,857) - -
- 147,520 - -
Licences, rights and brand names:
At cost 36,395 30,887 - -
Less: Accumulated amortisation (28,445) (30,742) - -
7,950 (45 - -
Software development costs:
At cost 126,596 129,097 35,238 35238
Less: Accumulated amortisation (44,620) (33519) (8,944) (5.194)
81,976 95578 26,294 30,044
Total non-current assets — intangible assets 89,926 2437243 26,294 30,044

Effective |5 March 2002, the consolidated entity acquired the remaining 90% of the shares of Proton World International SA (PWI)
that it did not previously own, PWI became a 100% owned controlled entity and the goodwill on acquisition of $150,377,624 was
recorded in the consolidated financial statements of ERG. The consolidated entity disposed of its shareholding in PWI on 24 April

2003. Refer to note 39.

18 Non-Current Assets — Other

Project contract costs — at recoverable amount 13,118 27,776 - -
Cther 578 522 - -
Total non-current assets — other 13,696 28,298 - -

19 Current Liabilities - Payables

Trade creditors 32,502 38,249 5,706 -
Payables to equity associates - 3716 - -
Other creditors and accruals 27,344 51,259 6,353 6,239
Total current liabilities — payables 59,846 93,224 12,059 6,239

Further information relating to payables to equity associates is set out in note 38.

31




oy e R T N Pt T I
-~ - T 5N e L o

i

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 JUNE 2003

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $¢00 $000 $000
20 Current Liabilities — Interest-Bearing Liabilities
Secured
Lease liabilities (note 36) - 817 - -
Commercial bills {(note 25} - 20,000 - 20,000
Other loans (note 20(1)) 32,210 - - -
32,210 20817 - 20,000
Details of the security relating to each of these liabilities are set out in note 25.
Unsecured
Bank borrowings — other (note 8) - 9417 - -
Convertible notes (note 25) - 22818 - 22,818
Other loans (note 20(7)) 2 25,165 - -
2 57400 - 22818
Total current fiabilities — interest-bearing liabilities 32,202 78217 - 42818
Borrowings are bearing floating interest rates as follows:
Commercial bills — nit (2002: between 5.34% and 5.54%)
Bank borrowings — nil (2002 between 2.16% and 6.21%)
Other loans — between 2.33% and 3.80% (2002: between 2.33% and 3.80%)

(iy Other secured loans in the current year were the deferred consideration amounts payable to the original vendors of Proton
World International SA. In the prior year, these loans were unsecured interest-bearing liabilities and had both a current and
non-current element.

21 Current Liabilities — Tax Liabilities

Income tax 969 803 - -

Total current liabilities — tax liabilities 969 803 - -

22 Current Liabilities - Provisions

Provision for dividend 796 813 796 813
Employee entitlements (note 37) 4,114 5,487 206 -
Service warranties 2,766 2,177 - -
Project losses 4,137 - 704 -
Sundry provisions 208 3493 - -
Total current liabilities — provisions 12,0210 11,970 1,706 813
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22 Current Liabilities — Provisions (continued)

Service Project Sundry
Dividends Warranties Losses Provisions Total

Represented by $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Consolidated 2003
Carrying amount at start of year 813 2,177 - 3493 6,483
Additional provisions recognised - 882 4,137 208 5227
Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices

of future economic benefits (17) (293) - (296) (6086)
Reductions resulting from the re-measurement

of the estimated future sacrifice - - - (3,197) (3.197)
Carrying amount at end of year 796 2766 4,137 208 7907

Service Project Sundry
Dividends Warranties Losses Provisions Total

Represented by $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Parent Entity 2003
Carrying amount at start of year 813 - - - 813
Additional provisions recognised - - 704 - 704
Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices

of future economic benefits (17) - - - (7
Reductions resulting from the re-measurement

of the estimated future sacrifice - - - - -
Carrying amount at end of year 796 - 704 - 1,500

Provision for dividend represents the aggregate amount of dividends declared which remain undistributed as at the reporting date,
regardless of the extent to which they are expected to be paid in cash.

Provision for service warranties represents the Directors' best estimate of the future sacrifice of economic benefits that will be
required under the consolidated entity's warranty program. The estimate has been made on the basis of historical warranty trends.

Provision for project losses represents the excess of total forecast cost over total forecast revenue of a project where it is probatle
that a loss will arise.

Consolidated Parent Entity

2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $060

23 Current Liabilities - Other
Progress payments in advance 22,062 9,347 2,805 -
Amounts due on acquisition of outside equity interests 7 7 - -
Other loans - 5637 - 4,337
Total current liabilities — other 22,069 14991 2,805 4,337

Included in other loans in 2002 is an amount of $1,300,000 secured by a first registered mortgage over land. This refates to a loan
in respect of the land at Balcatta, Western Australia, payable to the Western Australian Department of Industry and Technology,

Also included in other loans in 2002 is an amount of $4,337,036 which relates to the deferred settlement in respect of the shares
purchased in Prepayment Cards Limited. This loan has been repaid during the current year.
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Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
24 Non-Current Liabilities — Payables
Sundry creditors 42 - 42 -
Total non-current liabilities — payables 42 - 42 -
25 Non-Current Liabilities - Interest-Bearing Liabilities
Secured
Other loans — Director-related entities (note 38) 25,435 - 25,435 -
Lease liabilities (note 36) - 123 - -
25,435 123 25,435 -
Unsecured
Convertible notes * - 247218 - 247218
Bank borrowings - 7011 - -
Other loans * (note 25(1)) - 14,529 - -
- 268,758 - 247,218
Total non-current liabilities — interest-bearing liabilities 25,435 268,881 25,435 247218

* Refer to note 20 for the current portion of these interest-bearing liabilities.

(i) Other unsecured loans in the previous year relate to deferred consideration amounts payable to the original vendors of Proton
World International SA. These loans are now current secured interest-bearing liabilities — other loans (refer to note 20).

Bank Borrowings
Bank borrowings bear an interest rate of nil (2002: 6.00%).

Commercial Bills
Commercial bills bear an interest rate of nil (2002: between 5.34% and 5.54%).

Other Loans
Other loans bear interest rates of between 2.33% and 10.00% (2002: between 2.33% and 3.80%).

Convertible Notes

The parent entity issued 18,178,989 five-year 8% convertible notes at $1.65 per note on |6 October 1997 with a maturity date
of 15 October 2002, During the term of these notes, 7,350,000 notes were converted into ordinary shares (refer to note 28(g)).
In December 2002, 5,828,989 notes were paid out, while the balance of 5,000,000 notes, including accumulated interest, were
repaid during the current yean

The parent entity also issued 18,518,519 five-year and seven-month 7.5% convertible notes at $13.50 per note on 28 February
2000. On 28 March 2003 and 30 April 2003, the noteholders and shareholders respectively approved the conversion of these
notes into ordinary shares. The recapitalisation of the listed convertible notes into ordinary shares was completed in june 2003
(refer to note 28(1)).
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Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
25 Non-Current Liabilities ~ Interest-Bearing Liabilities
{continued)
The convertible notes are presented in the financial statements
as follows:
Face value of notes issued - 272818 - 272818
Other equity securities — value of conversion rights (note 28(d)) - (5,069) - (5.069)
- 267,749 - 267,749
Accrued interest on valuation of conversion rights - 2287 - 2,287
Total convertible note liability - 270,036 - 270036
Current liability (note 20) - 22818 - 22818
Non-current liability - 247218 - 247218
Total convertible note liability - 270036 - 270,036

Security for Borrowings

The commercial bills, bank overdraft, other loans and other bank facilities are part of a multi-option facility, which includes letters of
credit, guarantees and forward currency hedging. This facility is secured by:

° afirst registered fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertakings of ERG Limited, ERG Management Services Ltd,
ERG Transit Systems Ltd, ERG Telecommunications Pty Ltd, ERG R&D Pty Ltd, ERG Holdings Ltd, ERG IP Pty Ltd, ERG Property
Pty Ltd in its own right and as trustee for The Energy Research Group Unit Trust, ERG Card Systems Ltd and ERG Card
Systemns (Aust) Ltd

e across-guarantee and indemnity given by ERG Limited, ERG Management Services Ltd, ERG Transit Systems Ltd,
ERG Telecommunications Pty Ltd, ERG R&D Pty Ltd, ERG Holdings Ltd, ERG IP Pty Ltd, ERG Property Pty Ltd in its own right
and as trustee for The Energy Research Group Unit Trust, ERG Card Systems Ltd and ERG Card Systems (Aust) Ltd

e a share mortgage given by ERG Holdings Ltd and ERG Transit Systems Ltd over their respective shares in ERG Transit Systems
(Eur) NV

 real property mortgages given by ERG Property Pty Ltd and ERG Limited.

Lease liabilities are secured by various financiers over the assets leased.

Assets Pledged as Security

The carrying amounts of non-current assets pledged as security are:

First Mortgage
Freehold land and buildings 92,218 10,440 - 930

Finance Lease

Plant and equipment under finance lease - 339 - -

Floating Charge

Receivables 63,050 48,583 30,097 22,289
Investments accounted for using the equity method 2,405 5,355 2,405 8,542
Other financial assets 677 5.309 677 598
Intangibles 81,819 65,286 - -
Plant and equipment 3,301 3997 14 -
Total non-current assets pledged as security 160,470 139,309 33,193 32,359
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Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

25 Non-Current Liabilities — Interest-Bearing Liabilities

(continued)

The following current assets are also pledged as security under

the floating charge:

Cash assets 9,699 33921 9,493 I5

Receivables 9,680 21949 2,002 6,380

Inventories 2,437 18729 - -

Other financial assets - 15793 - -

Other current assets 2,686 4,309 172 15

Total current assets pledged as security 24,502 94701 11,667 6410

Total assets pledged as security 184,972 234010 44,8560 38,769
26 Non-Current Liabilities — Provisions

Employee entitlements (note 37) 359 465 - -

Total non-current liabilities — provisions 359 465 - -
27 Non-Current Liabilities — Other

Deferred consideration 48,906 38,022 - -

Progress payments in advance 1,004 [,186 - -

Other loans 1,300 - - -

Other 6,624 10,630 - -

Total non-current liabilities — other 57,834 49,838 - -

The liability for deferred consideration relates to additional consideration payable by the consolidated entity in relation to the
acquisition of shares ir Proton World International SA (PWI). Under the acquisition agreements with three of the PWI vendors,
they each received 14,841,655 ERG shares which cannot be sold or otherwise disposed of prior to 16 March 2005 without

the prior written consent of ERG (“Restricted Shares™). The additional consideration is payable should those vendors sell their
Restricted Shares in the 90-day period following |6 March 2005 for an average price per share less than a guaranteed minimum
price. The amount of additional consideration payable will be calculated as the difference between that sale price of those shares
and the guaranteed minimum price. The additional consideration is payable by the consolidated entity in cash within 30 days of the
completion of any such sale of the Restricted Shares.

Based on the Company's share price at balance date, it is probable that the consolidated entity will be required to pay additional
cash consideration to those vendors for the sale of their PVWI shares. The liability recognised in respect of this additional
consideration has been calculated based on the net present value of the difference between the Company’s share price at balance
date and the guaranteed minimum price for each Restricted Share. In calculating the net present value, the Company has adopted
a risk-free discount rate of 5.045% per annum.

There is $1,300,000 (2002: nil) included in other non-current liabilities due in respect of the land at Balcatta, Western Australia,
payable to the Western Australian Department of Industry and Technology. The amount is secured by a first registered mortgage.

Included in other non-current liabilities is an amount of $6,623,864 (2002: $8,093,816) due to shareholders of Onelink Transit
Systems Pty Ltd (OLT). The amount relates to settlements receivable from a recognised scope creep claim.

Also included in other non-current liabilities in 2002, is an amount of $2,535,818 which was set aside to cover the unfunded liability
in the PWI defined benefit pension fund. On 24 April 2003, ERG Card Systems Ltd disposed of 100% of the issued capital of PWI.
On disposal of PWI, this liability was no tonger a responsibility of ERG,
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Parent Entity Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
Shares Shares $000 $000

28 Contributed Equity = ERG Limited

(a) Issued capital

Ordinary shares — fully paid 267,504,537 936,879,165 617,831 356,895
(b) Other equity securities (note 28(d)) - - - 5,069
267,504,537 936879165 617,831 361,964
() Movements in ordinary share capital of the Company during the past two years were as follows:
Issue/ Issued and
Number of Buy-back Paid Up
Date Details Notes Shares Price $000
[ July 2001 Opening balance 637387417 227351
3 August 2001 Ordinary shares (&) 150,000 $0.93 140
6 August 2001 Ordinary shares (e) 25,000 $0.37 9
10 August 2001 Share buy-back 9 (3,000) $0.43 €D
I3 November 2001  Conversion of convertible notes to equity (& 13,050,000 $0.55 7.178
30 November 2001  Dividend Reinvestment Plan issues (h) 2754146 3052 1432
4 January 2002 Rights issue (i 207974122 $0.50 103,986
15 March 2002 Ordinary shares 0 75541480 $0.28 21,152
133,896
Rights issue costs during the year (4352)
129,544
30 June 2002 Balance 936,879,165 356,895
8 October 2002 Conversion of convertible notes to equity (® 6,000,000 $0.17 997
14 October 2002 Conversion of convertible notes to equity ) 3,000,000 $0.17 499
I April 2003 Convertible note interest (k) 62499492 $0.15 9,375
10 June 2003 Debt and capital restructure 0} [,666,666,710 $0.15 250,000
260871
Reversal of equity component of convertible note (d) 5,069
Interest not already expensed on equity
component of convertible note ()] (1912)
Share issue expenses (2.445)
Provision for Employee Share Incentive Scheme {m) (647)
260,936
24 June 2003 Share conversion (n) 2,675045.367 -
30 June 2003 Balance 267,504,537 617.831
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28
(@)

Contributed Equity - ERG Limited (continued)

Other Equity Securities

The amount shown for other equity securities is the value of the conversion rights relating to the 7.5% convertible notes, details of
which are set out in note 25. In accordance with the 2003 Recapitalisation Proposal, the convertible notes were repaid by way of
share issue during the year. Accordingly, the value of the conversion rights, less the interest not already expensed in relation to the
conversion rights during the life of the convertible notes, was allocated against issued capital.

Conversion of Employee Options
There were no employee options (2002; 175,000} converted into ordinary shares during the year in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the ERG Limited Executive Option Plan. For further information on the Option Plan, refer to note 37.

Share Buy-back
In accordance with the rules of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme, ERG bought back shares from an employee.

Convertible Note Conversion

Motorola Inc converied 4,350,000 convertible notes into 13,050,000 shares in the previous financial year. Utilico International
Limited, a Director-related entity, converted 2,000,000 convertible notes into 6,000,000 shares and Special Utilities Investment Trust,
a Director-related entity, converted 1,000,000 convertible notes into 3,000,000 shares during the current financial year.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Shares totalling 2,754,146 were issued at a discount of 10% under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan, The Plan was reinstated in
October 2001,

Rights Issue
The Company issued 207,974,122 new shares pursuant to a rights issue, conducted under the terms of the prospectus dated
31 October 2001.

Shares [ssued Relating to the Proton World International SA (PWI) Acquisition
The Company issued 75,541,480 shares to the former shareholders of PWI as part of the acquisition of PWI. The shares are
subject to certain escrow agreements.

Convertible Note [nterest
In accordance with the 2003 Recapitalisation Proposal, 62,499,492 shares were issued to convertible noteholders in satisfaction of
the interest payment due on the convertible notes on 1 April 2003.

Debt and Capital Restructure
In accordance with the 2003 Recapitalisation Proposal, | 666,666,710 shares were issued in satisfaction of $250,000,000 convertible
notes repayable in October 2005.

Employee Share Incentive Scheme
The Company has offset employee shares totalling $647,091 against issued capital for employees who have ceased employment
with the Company.

Share Conversion
In accordance with the 2003 Recapitalisation Proposal, the Company implemented a ten for one share consolidation.

Ordinary Shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in the dividends and proceeds on winding up of ERG Limited in proportion to the
number of, and amounts paid on, the shares held.

On a show of hands, every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy is entitled to one vote, and upon
a poll, each share is entitled to one vote,
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Consolidated

Parent Entity

2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
29 Reserves and (Accumulated Losses) Retained Profits
(a) Reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve (9,924) (4.245) 714 -
General reserve 229 229 - -
Total reserves (9,705) (4016) 704 -
Movements:
Foreign currency translation reserve
Opening balance (4,245) (3.062) - -
Foreign currency translation transfer due to disposal
of controlled entity 1,656 - - -
Net exchange differences on translation of financial reports
of self-sustaining, foreign-controlled entities (7,345) (1,183) 704 -
Closing balance (9,934) (4,245) 714 -
General reserve (note 29(c)(ii))

Opening balance 229 229 - -
Closing balance 229 229 - -
Total reserves (9,705) (4.016) 7014 -

(b) (Accumulated Losses) Retained Profits
(Accumulated losses) retained profits at the beginning

of the financial year (223,304) 20,565 (212,0159) 40,760
Net (loss) profit attributable to members of ERG Limited (198,258) (243,879)  (208,720) (252519)
Foreign currency translation transfer due to disposal of

controlled entity (1,656) - - -
(Accumulated losses) at the end of the financial year (423,228) (223314)  (420,879) (212,159)

(c) MNature and Purpese of Reserves
(i) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of self-sustaining, foreign-controlled entities are taken to the foreign currency

transiation reserve as described in note 1(g).

(i) General Reserve

The general reserve represents overseas foreign entities’ legislative requirements to provide for a retention of retained profits

for future distributions and recoupment of contributed equity.

30 Qutside Equity Interests

Analysis of outside equity interests in controlled entities:

Share capital 23,033 23,033 - -
(Accumulated losses) (9,206) (5.920) - -
Total outside equity interests 13,807 (7,113 - -
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Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
31 Equity
Total equity at the beginning of the financial year 151,747 273,185 149,805 273,180
Total changes in equity recognised in the
statement of financial performance {205,603) (245.062)  (208,006) (252919)
Transactions with owners and employees:
Contributions of equity {net of transaction costs
and employee share cancellations) (note 28(c)) 260,936 129544 260,936 129,544
Movement in outside equity interests (note 30) (3,296) (5,920) - -
Other equity securities (note 28(b)) (5,069) - (5,069) -
Total equity at the end of the financial year 198,715 51,747 197,666 149,805
Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$ $ $ $
32 Remuneration of Directors
The aggregate of income paid or payable, or otherwise made
available, in respect of the financial year, to alf Directors of the
parent entity, directly or indirectly, by the parent entity or by any
related party 1,654,149 1,456,117
The aggregate of income paid or payable, or otherwise made
available, in respect of the financial year to all Directors of each
entity In the consolidated entity, directly or indirectly, by the
entities in which they are Directors or by any related party 4,461,655 4267,178

The number of parent entity Directors whose aggregate income paid or payable, or otherwise made available, falls within the

specified bands is as follows:
Directors of
the Parent Entity

2003 2002

Number Number
$ o - 3 9,999 3 _
$ 40000 - $ 49999 [
$ 50000 - $ 59999 i _
$ 80000 - $ 89999 l |
$ 100000 - % 109999 - |
$ 200000 - % 209999 i _
$ 240000 - % 249999 - |
$ 950000 - % 959,999 - |
$1,270000 - $1.279999 [ -

Options Issued to Directors of the Parent Entity and Controlled Entities

Executive Directors of the parent entity and controlled entities participate in the ERG Limited Executive Option Plan, details of
which are set out in note 37. A summary of the number of options granted to and exercised by Executive Directors is set

out below:;
Granted Exercised Granted Exercised
2003 2003 2002 2002
Number Number Number Number
Executive Directors of the parent entity and controlled entities - - 1,977,800 -

ERG GROUP 2003 FINANCIAL REPORT 40




U e mm = N T T I e S R P

L B T I T L W . pogy

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 JUNE 2003

32

Remuneration of Directors (continued)
No value has been ascribed to any options issued to any of the Executive Directors during the previous year

Shares [ssued to Directors of the Parent Entity

Executive Directors of the parent entity participate in the ERG Limited Employee Share incentive Scheme (Scheme) and foan
values in respect of shares issued are included in note |3. Interest on the loans was nil and shares are issued at market value in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Scheme. During the year, there were no shares (2002 nil) issued and approved
by shareholders for the benefit of Executive Directors. Further information is set out in notes 37 and 38.

Details of shares issued and the aggregate amount of loans for shares provided to Executive Directors of the parent entity during
the year are set out in note 38.

Shares [ssued to Directors of Controlled Entities

Executive Directors of controlled entities participate in the ERG Limited Employee Share Incentive Scheme (Scheme). Interest on
the loans was nil and shares are issued at market value in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Scheme. During the
year, there were no shares (2002: nil} issued for the benefit of the Executive Directors of controlled entities.

Executive Officers Executive Officers
of the Consolidated Entity of the Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$ $ $ $
33 Remuneration of Executives
Remuneration received, or due and receivable, by executive
officers domiciled in Australia whose remuneration was at
least $100,000, from entities in the consolidated entity and
related entities, in connection with the management of the affairs
of the entities in the consolidated entity whether as
an executive officer or otherwise 3,818,615 2,462,253 - -

The parent entity does not employ any executives.
The number of executive officers whose remuneration falls within the specified bands is as follows (commencing at $100,000).

Executive Officers
of the Consolidated Entity
2

2003 200

Number Number
$ 100000 - % 109999 - \
$ 160000 - $ 169999 - !
$ 180000 - % 189,999 - 2
$ 190000 - 3 199999 - |
$ 210000 - % 219999 - I
$ 220000 - % 229999 ! -
$ 230000 - $ 239999 - 2
$ 250000 - $ 259999 ! -
$ 260000 - $ 269999 ! -
$ 270000 - % 279999 i -
$ 330000 - $ 339999 I -
$ 380000 - $ 389999 2 -
$ 420000 - % 429999 i -
$ 950000 - % 959999 -
$1270000 - $1,27999% 1 -
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33 Remuneratiocn of Executives (continued)

Options Issued to Executives with Incomes of at Least $100,000

Executive officers participate in the ERG Limited Executive Option Plan, details of which are set out in note 37. There were no
options (2002: nil) granted to and exercised by Australian-based executive officers (with income of at least $100,000) during
the vean

Shares [ssued to Executives with Incomes of at Least $100,000

Executive officers participate in the ERG Limited Employee Share Incentive Scheme (Scheme) and loan values in respect of shares
issued are included in note 13. Interest on the loans was nil and shares are issued at market value in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Scheme. There were no shares (2002: nil) issued during the year to executive officers with incomes of at
least $100,000.

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$ $ $ $
34 Remuneration of Auditors
Remuneration for audit or review of the financial reports of
the parent entity or any entity in the consolidated entity:
Auditor of the parent entity 354,500 287,938 20,000 24996
Other auditors 223,000 277812 17,500 -
577,500 565,750 37,500 24996
Other services:
Tax - 93.866 - -
Accounting 140,475 24913 120,475 -
141,475 118,779 121,475 -
Total fees 718,975 684,529 158,975 24,996
Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
35 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Details and estimates of maximum amounts of contingent
liabilities are as follows:
Controlled Entities
Secured guarantees by ERG Limited in respect of bank
overdrafts, commercial bills, leasing and other facilities
provided by the parert entity's banker to controlled entities.
Secured as set out in notes 20 and 25 - - - 940
ERG Limited has provded a guarantee to the State
Government of Western Australia in support of the purchase
of the land at Balcatta, Western Australia by a controlled entity
(note 27) - - 1,300 1,300
Secured guarantees given by ERG Limited and controlled
entities in support of other leasing facilities 863 272 - -
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Consoclidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

35 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (continued)

ERG Limited has granted a guarantee and indemnity to the Public

Transport Ticketing Body (formerly the Public Transport Corporation)

of Victoria in connection with the monetary and performance

obligations of Onelink Transit Systems Pty Ltd (OLT) arising from

various automated fare collection system contracts. ERG Limited

holds cross-indemnities, via various agreements with its

co-shareholders in OLT, in respect to the performance of the

respective co-shareholders’ delivery obligations - - - -

ERG Property Pty Ltd, as trustee for The Energy Research Group

Unit Trust (ERG Trust), is the owner of land and buildings at Balcatta,

Western Australia. ERG Trust has given a first mortgage over the

land to the State Government of Western Australia. In addition,

ERG Property Pty Ltd and ERG Trust are jointly and severally

liable for repayment of the loan (note 27) - - - -

Other Persons

ERG Limited has granted a guarantee to the Australia and

New Zealand Banking Group Limited in connection with refinancing

of AFC Equipment Co Pty Ltd (AFCE) assets. Under this guarantee,

ERG Limited has provided an irrevocable guarantee for the

performance obligations of AFCE and has guaranteed the secured

monies which are supported by interest rate swap agreements 52,963 60,605 52,963 60,605

Bank guarantees and performance bonds held by contracting
parties in the normal course of business 154,449 57,108 144,545 145,841

Details and estimates of amounts of contingent assets are
as follows:

Other Persons

The consideration on the sale of Proton World International SA

includes an earn-out receivable from the purchaser, which is based

on certain performance milestones being achieved. ERG could earn

up to €22,500,000 (approximately A$38,000,000) based on these

milestones over a ten-year period. It is intended that this amount

will be recorded as it is progressively received 38,000 - - -

36 Commitments for Expenditure

() Capital Commitments
Total capital expenditure contracted for at balance
date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:
Within one year 62 351 - -
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Consoclidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
36 Commitments for Expenditure (continued)
(b) Lease Commitments
Total operating lease expenditure contracted for at balance
date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:
Within one year 23,805 22,270 317 -
Later than one year but not later than five years 61,023 71,655 824 -
Later than five years 3,695 - - -
Total operating lease commitments 88,623 93925 0,041 -
Representing;
Non-cancellable operating leases 88,623 93,925 1,141 -

The ability of a controlled entity (OnelLink Transit Systems Pty Ltd) to meet lease commitments to an associated entity

(AFC Equipment Co Pty Ltd) of $72280,356 (2002: $85.901,400), including interest due over the lease period and shown in the
above lease commitments, is supported by revenue due over a commensurate period arising from a service contract with an
unrelated party, guaranteed by the State Government of Victoria,

Commitments in relation to finance leases payable are as follows:

Within one year - 857 - -
Later than one year but not later than five years - 133 - -
Minimum lease payments - 990 - -
Less: Future finance charges - (50) - -
Recognised as a liability - 940 - -
Representing finance lease liabilities:

Current (note 20) - 817 - -
Non-current (note 25) - 123 - -
Total finance lease liabilities - 940 - -

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the leases is nil (2002: 10.3%).

37 Employee Entitlements and Superannuation Commitments

Employee Entitlements
The aggregate employee entitlements liability comprises:
Accrued wages, salaries, annual leave, long service leave and on-costs

Provisions (currenz) (note 22) 4,014 5487 206 -

Provisions (non-current) (note 26) 359 465 - -

Aggregate employee entitlements liability 4,473 5952 206 -
Consolidated Parent Entity

2003 2002 2003 2002

Number Number Number Number

Employee Numbers
Number of employees and contractors at year-end 787 896 73 5
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37 Employee Entitlements and Superannuation Commitments (continued)

Superannuation Commitments

All Australian employees are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death. An accumulated superannuation plan exists

with contributions from the consolidated entity to the accumulated benefit plan being calculated as a percentage of the employee’s
salary or wage. Entitlements paid to overseas employees by the overseas-controlled entities are made in accordance with the legal
requirements and regulations of each country.

The Proton World International SA (PWI) defined benefit pension fund existing at 30 June 2002 was made up of accrued benefits
to the value of $4,355,486. The net market value of the fund assets at that date was $1,819,669, resulting in an unfunded liability
of $2,535,818 at 30 June 2002 (refer to note 27). Vested benefits in the pension fund at 30 june 2002 were $658,868. The
valuation of components of the PWI defined benefit pension fund was carried out on | April 2002, On 24 April 2003,

ERG Card Systems Ltd disposed of 100% of the issued capital of PWI. On disposal of PWI, the liability of $2.535.818

was no longer a responsibility of ERG Card Systems Ltd (refer to note 27).

Employee Share Incentive Scheme

The parent entity has an Employee Share Incentive Scheme (Scheme) established in 1987 and subsequently amended on

31 October 1995. The Scheme provides Executive Directors, full-time and part-time employees of ERG Limited (ERG) and its
controlled entities with the opportunity to subscribe for ordinary fully paid shares in ERG, and for ERG to assist in funding the
subscription monies by way of an interest-free loan.

Under the Scheme, shares are issued to eligible participants at the market price at the time of invitation, less a discount of up to
0% as determined by the Directors. The market price is the lesser of the last sale price for ERG shares on the day preceding the
invitation, and the average last sale price for ERG shares during the five days preceding the date of invitation.

A condition attached to each application is that the participant must complete two years of employment from the date of
each aliotment of shares under the invitation. If the employee ceases employment during the two-year period or an employee
is dismissed for wilful misconduct or gross negligence, ERG will purchase back the shares for the original subscription price for
which the shares were issued and terminate the loan. Loan repayments, other than from dividends, are not permitted before
the expiration of the two-year period. Dividends paid to participants are applied 50% towards repayment of the loan and the
remaining 50% is paid to participants.

The employee shares are not listed on the Australian Stock Exchange and the aggregate number of employee shares on issue
may not exceed 5% of the total capital of the parent entity. The number of shares on issue at 30 June 2003 was 899,510 (2002
8,995,100 pre-consolidation shares) or 0.3% (2002: 1.4%) of the capital of the parent entity. Voting rights are attached to the
shares issued to participants.

Invitations are made from time to time to selected employees and invitations to Executive Directors require the approval of
members in a General Meeting, There are currently 56 (2002: 56) employees (including one Executive Director) participating in
the Scheme,

During the financial year, there were no ordinary fully paid shares (2002: nif) issued to participants. During the year. there were no
(2002: 3,000) shares bought back.

At the end of the financial year, an accumulated amount of $4.572,759 (2002: $4,573,1 17), representing 8§99.510 (2002: 8,595,100
pre-consolidation) shares, remains owing in respect of shares issued pursuant to the terms of the Scheme. The market value at the
end of the financial year in respect of those shares was $719,608 (2002: $2,698,530). As the subscription prices are considerably
higher than the current market prices of these shares, it is unlikely that employees will take up the shares and in turn repay the
loan to ERG. For this reason the receivable has been fully provided for. It is expected that when the shares are cancelled the
provision will be reversed and a corresponding reduction in share capital will be recognised. Further information relating to the
Scheme and the loans to Executive Directors under the Scheme is set out in note 38.

Executive Option Plan

The establishment of the ERG Limited Executive Option Plan was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the
Company held on 9 November 1998. Executive options do not carry any rights to dividends or voting rights.

During the financial year, no options were granted over unissued shares (2002: nil), 1,621,592 pre-consolidation options were
cancelled (2002: nil), a total of 747,000 pre-consolidation options expired (2002: 2,685,000) and no options were exercised
(2002: 175,000) (refer to the following table).
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37 Employee Entitlements and Superannuation Commitments (continued)

ERG Executive Option Plan options are exercisable after two years from the date of grant and expire after ten years or on
termination of the employee's employment. The exercise of options for Mr P | Fogarty and other key executives is conditional on
the achievement of certain performance hurdles.

Other Options

Curing the year, entities related to Mr D P Saville loaned the Company $25434,614. This amount is shown as a non-current
interest-bearing liability (refer to note 25). In consideration for this loan, post-consolidation options totalling 16,956,409 at an
exercise price of $2.00 have been agreed to be issued.

Unissued shares of the Company under option are:
Number of Options

Total Pre- Total Post-
Exercise Price Balance Issued Exercised  Cancelled Expired consolidation consolidation Exercise Price

Expiry Date 2002 2002 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003
19 July 2002 $0.93 150,000 - - - (150,000) - - -
26 October 2002 $093 450,000 - - - (450,000) - - -

11 January 2003 $2.59 30,000 - - - (30.000) - - -
12 January 2003 $261 15,000 - - - (15.000) - - -

I3 January 2003 $2.62 69,000 - - (12,000) (57.000) - - -
14 January 2003 $2.70 45,000 - - - (45,000) - - -

|7 November 2003 $3.18 3,000 - - - - 3,000 300 $31.80
|5 March 2007 $0.38 1,000,000 * - - - - 1,000,000 100,000 $3.80
29 March 2007 - - 1,000,000 * - - - 1,000,000 100.000 $3.76
29 March 2007 - - 4000000 * - - - 4,000,000 400000  $376-$439
29 March 2007 - - 2,000,000 * - - - 2,000,000 200,000 $4.50
9 December 2008 $0.37 3,750,000 - - - - 3,750,000 375,000 $3.70
{1 December 2008  $0.38 75,000 - - - - 75,000 7500 $3.80
| February 2009 $0.40 7437210 - —- (370592) - 7066618 706,662 $4.00
[6 July 2009 $093 2,190,000 - - (285,000) - 1,905,000 190,500 $9.30
30 August 2009 $119 330,000 - - (180,000) - 150,000 15,000 $11.90
26 November 2009 $2.60 75,000 - - - - 75,000 7.500 $26.00
29 November 2009 $2.60 75,000 - - - - 75,000 7,500 $26.00
2 December 2009 $2.64 315,000 - - - - 315,000 31,500 $26.40
10 January 2010 $2.54 120,000 - - (78,000) - 42,000 4200 $25.40
I January 2010 $2.59 105,000 - - (60,000) - 45,000 4,500 $2590

2 January 2010 $261 174,000 - - {9.000) - 165,000 16,500 $26.10

3 January 2010 $262 232,500 - - (178,500) - 54,000 5400 $26.20
14 January 2010 $2.70 235,500 - - (39,000) - 196,500 19,650 $27.00
25 February 2010 $375 12,000 - - - - 12,000 1,200 $37.50
14 June 2010 $3.08 180,000 - - - - 180,000 18,000 $30.80
| November 2010 $323 1,020,000 - - (225,000) - 795,000 79,500 $32.30
|7 November 2010 $3.18 1,177,000 - - (184.500) - 992,500 99,250 $31.80

19265210 7,000,000 - (1,621592) (747.000) 23896618 2,389,662

* Options issued outside the ERG Executive Option Plan. These options were issued pursuant to the PWI acquisition.

+ The amount of options which can be exercised and the price they can be exercised at is dependent upon the use of the Proton
technology and software within certain periods.
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37 Employee Entitlements and Superannuation Commitments (continued)

Exempt Employee Share Plan

The establishment of the ERG Limited Exempt Employee Share Plan (Plan) was approved by a special resolution of shareholders
on 9 November 1998,

The Plan provides permanent full-time and permanent part-time employees of ERG and its controlled entities with the opportunity
to participate in acquiring shares up to an amount not exceeding $1.000 per employee or such other amounts permitted under
the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 936 (as amended).

A condition attached to each application is that the participant must complete three vears of employment from the date of
acquisition of the shares before the shares can be withdrawn from the Plan or be disposed of by the participant. If the employee
ceases employment during the three-year period, the employee can either withdraw from the Plan or sell his’her shares.

Participants are entitled to receive any dividends, rights (both renounceable and non-renounceable), or other distributions made in
respect of shares held by the employee under the Plan.

The number of shares under all employee share schemes, including outstanding employee options, may not exceed 7.5% of the
total capital of the parent entity. The number of shares on issue under the Plan at 30 June 2003 was 6594 (2002: 110,767 pre-
consolidation shares) or 0.01% (2002: 0.01%) of the capital of the parent entity. During the current vear, 44,827 pre-consolidation
shares lapsed (2002: 34,040). Voting rights are attached to the shares issued to participants,

Invitations are made from time to time to eligible employees who have been invited by the Board of Directors to participate.
There are currently 210 (2002: 251) employees participating in the Plan,

38 Related Parties

Directors
The names of persons who were Directors of ERG Limited (ERG) at any time during the financial year are as follows:

A F Shepherd, P | Fogarty, D ] Humann, D P Saville and R N Topfer. During the year, A S Murdoch, E L Bolto and G L Crew
resigned as Directors.

The aggregate number of shares and options held by Directors of ERG or their Director-related entities in ERG is:

Parent Entity

2003 2002
Number Number
(post-consolidation) (pre-consolidation)
Ordinary shares 69,827,140 10,595,409
Unlisted shares issued under the ERG Limited Employee Share Incentive Scheme 525,000 5,250,000
Options issued under the ERG Limited Executive Option Plan 375,000 3,750,000

Remuneration and Service Agreements

ERG paid fees totalling $1,366,762 (2002: $1,023,000) to LTC Management Pty Ltd (LTC), a company owned and controlled by
Mr P | Fogarty. The total sum paid to LTC covers the services of Mr Fogarty and a full-time personal assistant, plus all reasonable
expenses and disbursements as approved by the Board of Directors. The remuneration amount to Mr Fogarty has been included

in Directors' remuneration (note 32) and executives' remuneration (note 33).

Transactions of Directors Concerning Shares, Share Options or Convertible Notes

The aggregate number of shares and share options directly issued by ERG, including shares issued pursuant to a rights issue and the
Dividend Reinvestment Plan of ERG, to Directors of ERG and to parties related to them during the financial year was nil
(2002: 385,743).

During the year, entities related to Mr D P Saville converted 3,000,000 unlisted convertible notes into 9,000,000

pre-consolidation ordinary shares. In addition, a top-up amount of $3454,060 was paid being the difference between the value of
the unlisted convertible notes and the value of the shares issued. This transaction occurred prior to his appointment as a
Director of ERG.

During the vear, a total of 5,000,000 unlisted convertible notes expired and the face value amount of $8,250,000 was repaid to an
entity related to Mr Saville, This transaction occurred prior to his appointment as a Director of ERG.
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38 Related Parties (continued)

The aggregate number of pre-consolidation ordinary shares issued by ERG to Directors and to parties related to them in
satisfaction of the interest payments due on the convertible notes on | April 2003 was 25,807,724.

The aggregate number of pre-consolidation ordinary shares issued by ERG to Directors and to parties related to them during the
financial year as a result of the conversion of listed convertible notes in accordance with the 2003 Recapitalisation Proposal was
688,205,970.

Under the terms and conditions of the ERG Limited Employee Share Incentive Scheme (Scheme), 11,250,000 shares have been
issued since the commencement of the Scheme to Mr Fogarty. There were no shares (2002: nil) issued to Mr Fogarty during the
year under the terms of the Scheme.

The aggregate amount of loans outstanding by Mr Fogarty, after crediting applicable dividends, at 30 june 2003 in respect of shares
issued pursuant to the Scheme was $3,238,125 (2002: $3,238,125) and the aggregate amount of repayments received during the

year was nil (2002: $26,250). Given the current share price, it is considered unlikely that these shares will be sold. Accordingly, a

provision has been raised for the amount of loans outstanding. For further details on the Scheme refer to note 37.

The number of options granted under the ERG Limited Executive Option Plan and the terms and conditions under which they
were granted were approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of ERG held on 9 November 1998. The terms and
conditions are described in note 37, There were no options (2002: nif) issued to Mr Fogarty during the financial year.

There were no other off-market transactions in shares made by the Directors or Director-related entities.

Other Transactions of Directors and Director-Related Entities

During the financial year, transactions were carried out with entities related to the Directors. All transactions were carried out
under normal terms and conditions and are detailed as follows:

*  Restructure and advisory services were provided to ERG by entities related to Mr R N Topfer, with fees for such services
totalling $6,380,000. Related entities to Mr Topfer also provided loans to ERG totalling $16,392,354. This amount was repaid
during the year. Interest and other borrowing costs on these loans of $926,929 and $378,000 respectively were also paid by
ERG to entities related to MrTopfer.

= Consulting services were provided to ERG by entities related to Mr A F Shepherd, with fees for such services totalling $56,200
and were earned before his appointment as a Director of the Company.

°  Loans were provided to ERG by entities related to Mr D P Saville totalling $25,434.614 (2002: nif) and were still outstanding
at year-end. The interest applicable to these loans is |0% payable every six months in cash or by the issuance of shares in
the Company subject to certain conditions. An amount of $23,009517 is repayable on 24 December 2007 and an amount
of $2,425097 is repayable on 28 January 2008. At year-end, interest accrued on these loans totalled $1,210,176. Other
borrowing costs in relation to these loans paid by ERG to entities related to Mr Saville totalled $1,035.573. In consideration
for this loan, post-consolidation options totalling 16,956,409 at an exercise price of $2.00 have been agreed to be issued. At
any time during the term of the loan, subject to necessary approvals, the Directorrelated entities can convert the amount
outstanding into ordinary shares in the Company at an issue price of $1.50 for each ordinary share. In the event any or all of
this lcan is repaid by the Company before these repayment dates, subject to any necessary approvals, the Company is required
to issue options in the Company at an exercise price of $1.50. The number of options to be issued is equal to the repayment
amount divided by |.50.

 Interest paid on convertible notes by ERG to entities related to Mr Saville totalled $3,326,069.

Wholly Owned Group

The wholly owned group consists of ERG Limited and its wholly owned controlled entities: ERG Management Services Ltd,

ERG Share Plan Pty Ltd, ERG Property Pty Ltd, ERG Telecommunications Pty Ltd, ERG Holdings Ltd, ERG Transit Systems (HK)
Limited, ERG IP Pty Ltd, ERG R&D Pty Ltd, ERG Transit Systems (Eur) NV, ERG Transit Systems (Fra) SA, ERG Card Systems Ltd,
ERG Card Systems (Aust) Ltd, ERG Transit Systems Ltd, ERG Transit Systems (Scand) AB, ERG Transit Systems (UK) Ltd,

ERG Transit Systems (Sing) Pte Ltd, ERG Transit Systems (USA) Inc, ERG Transit Systems (Ger) GmbH, Triumphant Launch Sdn Bhd
and Integrated Transit Solutions (Sing) Pte Ltd. Ownership interests are set out in note 39.
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38 Related Parties (continued)

Transactions between ERG and related parties in the wholly owned group during the years ended 30 June 2003 and
30 June 2002 consisted of:

> loans advanced

e loans repaid

° management fees and rent

o sales of product and services

°  reimbursement for disbursements, sundry costs, contract settlement and warranty work
e purchase of goods and services

e sale and transfer of intellectual property licences within the consolidated entity

o transfer of research and development expenditure

o restructure of loans to and from controlled entities within the consolidated entity resulting in the forgiveness and write off
of loans.

The above transactions were made on normal terms and conditions or at cost, except that there are no fixed terms and generally
no interest terms for the repayment of loans advanced by ERG or within the wholly owned group.

A provision of $100,000,000 (2002: $190,000,000) for an intra-group receivable was raised by the parent entity.

Aggregate amounts receivable from, and payable to, each class of other related parties at balance date are as follows:

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

Non-current receivables:

Controlled entities {loans) 574,956 623,936
Less: Provision for doubtful debts - - (309,775) (209.775)
Non-current payables:

Controlled entities (loans) - (174,999) (52,624)

Other Controlled Entities of the Conselidated Entity

Onelink Transit Systems Pty Ltd

During the financial year, ERG incurred costs on behalf of Onelink Transit Systems Pty Ltd (OLT) amounting to $12,499,461
(2002:$29.316,314). The balance payable by OLT to ERG at year-end was $11,538,656 (2002: $20,716,598). This balance is
included in note |3.

OLT has entered into a series of agreements in connection with the supply of an automated fare collection (AFC) system to the
Victorian Government currently managed by the Public Transport Ticketing Body (PTTB) of Victoria, Australia. ERG is a signing
party to several of these agreements, including an agreement for the supply and installation of equipment and software. All
agreements are on commercial terms and conditions.

ERG has granted a guarantee and indemnity to the PTTB of Victoria, Australia in connection with the monetary and performance
obligations of OLT arising from various AFC system contracts.

ERG holds cross-indemnities, via various agreements with its co-shareholders in Onelink Holdings Pty Ltd, in respect to the
performance of the respective co-shareholders’ delivery obligations.

The balance payable by ERG to OLT at yearend was nil (2002: $560,439). The balance is included in note |13 and has been netted
off against the receivables from OLT.

Onelink Holdings Pty Ltd

During the financial year, ERG did not make any further advances to Onelink Holdings Pty Ltd (OLH) (2002: nil). The balance
payable by OLH to ERG at yearend was $8561.221 (2002: $7.913,321) and is included in note §3. The net movement for the
financial year represents an internal interest charge which has been eliminated on consolidation.

The balance of interest payable by OLT 1o OLH at year-end was $2,361,221 (2002:$1,713321).
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Associated Companies
All transactions with associated companies are made on normal terms and conditions.

AFC Equipment Co Pty Ltd

OLT has entered into a series of agreements in connection with the supply of an AFC system for the PTTB. AFC Equipment
Co Pty Ltd (AFCE) is a signing party to several of these agreements, including an agreement for the lease of equipment and
software to OLT.

During the year, ERG did not recognise any interest income on the outstanding balance of the loan to AFCE {2002: $1,355289).
The interest rate applicable to the balance of the loan is based on a five-year bank bill rate and the balance of the loan is repayable
on demand.

During the year, OLT made net advances to AFCE of $7,675,032 (2002: $11,619,999). In accordance with an existing lease
agreement, AFCE made lease charges of $21,143,302 (2002: $19.120,673) to OLT during the year During the financial year, OLT
provided amounts totalling $28,818,334 (2002: $30,740,672) to AFCE, These amounts are included in note 13.

The closing balance of the payable by OLT to AFCE at year-end was nil (2002: $3,716,241). The closing balance of the amount
payable by AFCE to OLT at yearend was $3,958,791 (2002: nil).

The closing balance of the receivable by ERG from AFCE at yearend was $15374,951 (2002: $24,095,653). The amount of
$2,000,000 (2002: $6,339,753) has been included in note 9 and an amount of $13,374951 (2002: $17,755,900) in note |3. The
classification of the receivable between current and non-current is aligned with the forecast repayment schedule as provided undgl
the Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited refinancing proposal and the Down Stream Settlement Deed dated ~
21 May 2002.

Triumphant Launch Sdn Bhd

On 31 March 2002, the consolidated entity acquired 100% of Proton World International SA (PWI). This resulted in ERG obtaining
100% ownership of Triumphant Launch Sdn Bhd. Upon disposal of PWI on 24 April 2003, ERG retained this ownership.

During the 2002 financial year up to acquisition date, the consolidated entity incurred costs on behalf of, and charged consutting
fees to, Triumphant Launch Sdn Bhd amounting to $122,400.

ECard Pty Limited

Details of the total investment in ECard Pty Limited are set out in note 4 1. This shareholding was disposed of on 14 November
2002, Accordingly, the closing balance of payables by ERG to ECard Pty Limited at year-end was nil (2002: $36,520).

Prepayment Cards Limited

During the previous and current financial years, ERG and certain controlled entities continued to supply equipment and services

to Prepayment Cards Limited (PCL) under an existing contract for the delivery of a concessionary fare scheme for the Greater
Manchester Passenger Transport Executive,

The consolidated entity has entered into a number of contracts for the supply of hardware, software, maintenance and support.
The total value of the current contracts over the period of supply is approximately $45,500,000. Sales to PCL for the current year
amounted to $4,993,524 (2002: $24,257,840).

The balance of current receivables to ERG from PCL at year-end was $2,249,052 (2002: $544.,546). This amount is reflected in
trade debtors (note 7).

The balance of non-current receivables to ERG from PCL at year-end was $23,024,000 (2002: $23,024,000). A provision has been
raised during the current year for $6,000.000 (2002: nil). These amounts are included in note |3,

The closing balance of payables by ERG to PCL at year-end was $1,218,302 (2002: $4,042). This amount is reflected in trade
creditors (note [9).
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38 Related Parties (continued)

Ultimate Controlling Entity
ERG Limited is the ultimate parent entity of both the wholly owned group and of the consolidated entity.

Transactions Between Onelink Holdings Pty Ltd and its Related Parties

Consolidated Entity

2003 2002

Transaction Type Class of Related Party $ $
Management services/fees incurred Other related party:

* Fujitsu Australia Ltd 1,908,096 1,848,639
AFC management services/fees incurred Other related parties:

e Fujitsu Australia Ltd 1,814,901 2,138,595

° Mayne Group Ltd 3,602,206 2,782,989
Interest incurred Other related parties:

e Fujitsu Australia Ltd - 69,729

e Mayne Group Ltd - 232,456
Claims receivable from the Public Transport Other related parties:
Ticketing Body (formerly the Public Transport e Fujitsu Australia Ltd 58,157 10,538,243
Corporation) of Victoria, Australia = Mayne Group Ltd - 8,662,630
Computer/software purchases Other related party:

* Fujitsu Australia Ltd 83,649 46,370
Change request fees receivable/(payable) Other related parties:

e Fujitsu Australia Ltd - 603,770

» Mayne Group Ltd - (50,900)
Other trading services (payable)/receivable Other related parties:

e Fujitsu Australia Ltd - (6,000)

> Mayne Group Ltd - 8,014

The above transactions were made on normal terms and conditions or at cost, except that there are no fixed terms and generally
no interest terms for the repayment of loans advanced from or to related parties.
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39 Investments in Controlled Entities

Carrying Value of
Parent Entity’s Investment Equity Holding

Country of Class of 2003 2002 2003 2002

Name of Entity Notes Incorporation Shares $000 $000 % %
Parent Entity
ERG Limited Australia Ordinary - - - -
Controlled Entities
ERG Management Services Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG Share Plan Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG Property Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 100
The Energy Research Group Unit Trust Australia Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG Telecommunications Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 1,204 1,204 100 100
Integrated Transit Solutions (taly) Srl Italy Ordinary - - 98 28
Triumphant Launch Sdn Bhd Malaysia Ordinary - - 100 100
Onelink Holdings Pty Ltd 3%(a) Australia Ordinary 4,000 [1,567 34 34
which has the controlled entity:
Onelink Transit Systems Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 00
ERG Holdings Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 100
which has the controlled entities:
ERG Transit Systems (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG IP Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG R&D Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG Transit Systems (Sing) Pte Ltd Singapore Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG Transit Systems (USA) Inc USA Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG Transit Systems (Ger) GmbH Germany Ordinary - - 100 100
Integrated Transit Solutions Ltd 39(b) Australia Ordinary - - 50 50
Integrated Transit Solutions

(Sing) Pte Ltd Singapore Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG Transit Systems (Eur) NV Belgium Ordinary - - 100 100
which has the controlled entity:
ERG Transit Systems (Fra} SA France Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG Card Systems Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 100
which has the controlled entity:
ERG Card Systems (Aust) Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 100
Proton World International SA Belgium Ordinary - - - t00
which has the controlled entity:
Proton World Americas Inc USA Ordinary - - - 100
ERG Transit Systems Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 100
which has the controlled entities:
ERG Transit Systems (Scand) AB Sweden Ordinary - - 100 100
ERG Transit Systems (UK) Ltd UK Ordinary - - 100 100

5,204 12,771
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39 Investments in Controlled Entities (continued)

= ERG Transit Systems (Scand) AB is audited by Deloitte & Touche, Sweden

e ERG Transit Systems (UK) Ltd is audited by Deloitte & Touche, Manchester, United Kingdom

e ERGTransit Systems (Eur) NV and ERG Transit Systems (Ger) GmbH are audited by Deloitte & Touche, Belgium

* Integrated Transit Solutions (ltaly) Srl is audited by Deloitte & Touche, ltaly

o ERG Transit Systems (USA) Inc is audited by Deloitte & Touche, USA

> ERGTransit Systems (Sing) Pte Ltd and Integrated Transit Solutions (Sing) Pte Ltd are audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,

Singapore
»  ERGTransit Systems (HK) Limited is audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Hong Kong
o ERGTransit Systems (Fra) SA is audited by Socodec Exco, Bourgogne, France
e Triumphant Launch Sdn Bhd is audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Overseas subsidiaries carry on business in the country of incorporation.

Qutside Equity Interests in Controlled Entities
{a) The company is a controlled entity due to the following reasons:

(i) ERG Limited (ERG) controls the Board of Onelink Moldings Pty Ltd (OLH) by virtue of a casting vote held by the
Chairman who is appointed by ERG under the Shareholder Agreement

(i) ERG is to meet the financing and performance obligations of OLH

(iii) the shareholders of OLH have agreed, under the terms of the Shareholder Agreement, that OLH will be a controlled
entity of ERG for the purposes of the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards.

(b) The company is a controlled entity due to the following reasons:

(i) ERG controls the Board of Integrated Transit Solutions Ltd (ITS) which is fully comprised of ERG representatives. This is a
permanent arrangement documented in an agreement between the shareholders of ITS (Agreement)

(i) ERG is to meet the financing and performance obligations of TS

(i) the shareholders of ITS have agreed, under the terms of the Agreement, that [TS will be a controlled entity of ERG for the
purposes of the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards.

Acquisition and Disposal of Controlled Entity

On 15 March 2002, the consolidated entity acquired the 90% of the issued capital of Proton World International SA (PWI) that it
did not already own. Through the acquisition of P\W, the consolidated entity also acquired the 50% of the issued capital it did not
already own in Triumphant Launch Sdn Bhd, an entity previously owned equally by the consclidated entity and PWI; and Proton
World Americas Inc, a wholly owned subsidiary of PWI. The operating results of these newly controlled entities were included in
the statement of financial performance since the date of acquisition.

The consideration payable to one of the vendors is to be increased by €1,000,000 (equivalent to A$1,752.850 at balance date),
payable two years after acquisition, provided that the vendor complies with specific performance criteria that enhanced the value of
PWI. This contingent payable was recognised during the financial year

In addition, two of the vendors received 8,000,000 unlisted options over ERG shares that are exercisable upon the occurrence of
specified events linked to each party's ongoing support of PWI and the suite of PWI products. The exercise price of the options is
based on the weighted average price of ERG shares in the seven days prior to the date of acquisition and will not exceed 150% of
that weighted average price.

With respect to the agreements 1o acquire the shares in PWI from three of the four vendors, ERG has recognised a liability of
$48,906,530 (2002: $38,022,191) in relation to deferred consideration (refer to note 27). The subsequent sale of PWI, as noted
on the following page, has not had any effect on this liability.
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39 Investments in Controlled Entities (continued)

On 24 April 2003, the consolidated entity disposed of 100% of the issued capital of PWI and its wholly owned subsidiary Proton
World Americas Inc. As part of this arrangement the company retained 100% of the issued capital of Triumphant Launch Sdn Bhd.
The operating results of these controlled entities have been included in the statement of financial performance until the date of
disposal.

The consideration on the sale of PWI includes an earn-out receivable from the purchaser which is based on certain performance
milestones being achieved. ERG could earn up to €22,500,000 (approximately A$38,000,000) based on these milestones over a
ten-year period. It is intended that this amount will be recorded as it is progressively received.

Details of the original PWI acquisition in 2002 are as follows:
Consolidated

2003 2002

$000 $000
Fair value of identifiable net assets of the controlled entities acquired:
Cash - 13,397
Trade debtors - 8,838
Property, plant and equipment - 961
Prepayments - 688
inventories - 324
Other debtors - 250
Product development - 178
Investments - 37
Bank borrowings — current - (2312)
Deferred income - (3518)
Other creditors and accruals - (3.820)
Provisions - (6,614)
Trade creditors - (4,825)
Bank borrowings — non-current - (1164
Net liabilities acquired - (8,057)
Goodwill on consolidation - 150,377
Total consideration - 142,320
Consideration consists of:
Cash and deferred consideration - 95,204
Cost of original investment - 25905
Shares issued - 21,152
Other acquisition costs - 59
Total consideration - 142,320
Outflow of cash to acquire controlled entities, net of cash acquired:
Cash consideration paid at acquisition - 18,481
Other acquisition costs - 59
Total outflow of cash - 18,540
Balances acquired:
Cash - 13,397
Bank borrowings - (2,312)
Net cash acquired - [1.085
Net outflow of cash - 7,455
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39 Investments in Controlled Entities (continued)

Details of the PWI disposal in 2003 are as follows:

Consolidated

2003 2002
$000 $000
Total consideration is made up as follows:
Cash consideration 80,865 -
Receivables — current 6,606 -
Receivables — non-current 7,117 -
Total consideration 94,598 -
Less: Costs of disposal (1,041) -
93,557 -
Book value of assets sold:
Current assets
Cash 33,072 -
Receivables 5,691 -
Inventory 609 -
Other 328 -
Non-current assets
Other financial assets 41 -
Property, plant and equipment 359 -
Intangible assets 53 -
Goodwill on consolidation 136,809 -
Current liabilities
Payables (8,939) -
Borrowings (2,204) -
Provisions (1,562) -
Other (4,718) -
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing fiability (7,053) -
Other (2,535) -
Net assets disposed of 149,951 -
Loss on disposal of former controlled entity (56,394) -
93,557 -
inflow of cash from disposal of former controlled entity,
net of cash disposed.
Cash consideration 80,865 -
Less: Costs of disposal (1,041) -
Less: Cash balances disposed:
Cash (33,072) -
Borrowings 2,204 -
Inflow of cash 48,956 -
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40 Cross-Guarantee and Indemmnity

Pursuant to class orders dated 19 December 1991 and |3 August 1998, relief has been granted to controlled entities of

ERG Limited (ERG) from the Corporations Act 200/ requirements for preparation, audit and publication of financial reports and
Directors' reports. As a condition of the class orders, ERG and the controlied entities subject to the class orders, ERG Card
Systems (Aust) Ltd, ERG Card Systems Ltd, ERG Holdings Ltd, ERG Management Services Ltd, ERG Property Pty Ltd in its own
right and as trustee for The Energy Research Group Unit Trust, ERG R&D Pty Ltd, ERG Telecommunications Pty Ltd and

ERG Transit Systems Ltd, entered into deeds of indemnity on 5 May 1995 and 8 June 1999. The effect of these deeds is that ERG
has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event of winding up the controlled entities. The controlled entities have also given a
similar guarantee in the event that ERG is wound up.

The above entities represent a "Closed Group” for the purpose of the class order and, as there are no other parties to the Deed
of Cross-Guarantee that are controlled by ERG, they also represent the "Extended Closed Group’.

Set out below is a consolidated statement of financial performance for the year ended 30 June 2003 of the Closed Group and
represents the entities subject to the Deed of Cross-Guarantee,

2003 2002

$000 $000
Revenue from ordinary activities 151,052 98,428
Expenses from ordinary activities (290,232) (221,169)
Borrowing costs (20,436) (29.482)
Share of net loss of associates accounted for using the equity method (2,950) (3,488)
(Loss) from ordinary activities before income tax (162,566) (I55711)
Income tax benefit - 3,608
(Loss) from ordinary activities after income tax (162,566) (152,103)
Total changes in equity other than those resulting from transactions with owners as owners (162,566) (152,103)

Set out below is a summary of movements in consolidated (accumulated losses) retained profits for the year ended 30 June 2003
of the Closed Group and represents the entities subject to the Deed of Cross-Guarantee,

(Accumulated losses) retained profits at the beginning of the financial year (104,807) 47296
{Loss) from ordinary activities after income tax expense (162,566) (152,103)
(Accumulated losses) at the end of the financial year (267,373) (104,807)

Set out below is a consolidated statement of financial position at 30 June 2003 of the Closed Group and represents the entities
subject to the Deed of Cross-Guarantee.

Current Assets

Cash assets . 9,699 33,921
Receivables 9,680 21950
Inventories 2,437 18729
Other financial assets - 15793
Other 2,686 4,309
Total current assets 24,502 94,702

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 295,000 287,839
Investments accounted for using the equity method 2,405 5355
Cther financial asses 66,343 170,287
Property, plant and equipment 12,519 14,776
Intangible assets 81,809 95,329
Total non-current assets 458,186 573.586
Total assets 482,688 668,288
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2003 2002
$000 $000
40 Cross-Guarantee and Indemnity (continued)
Current Liabilities
Payables 16,030 31,269
Interest-bearing liabilities 32,212 68,743
Provisions 5,664 4967
Other 2,325 5918
Total current liabilities 56,231 110,897
Non-Current Liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 25,434 261747
Provisions 359 465
Other 50,206 38,022
Total non-current liabilities 75,999 300,234
Total liabilities 132,230 411,131
Net assets 350,458 257,157
Equity
Contributed equity 617,831 361,964
(Accumulated losses) (267,373) (104,807)
Total equity 350,458 257157

41 Investments in Associated Companies

Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting and are carried at recoverable amount, by the parent entity (refer to notes 14 and 15). Information relating to the
associated companies is set out below:

Ownership Consolidated Parent Entity
Interest Carrying Amount Carrying Amount
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Name of Company Principal Activity % % $000 $000 $000 $000

Unlisted Corporations

AFC Equipment Co Pty Ltd Financing and leasing of

equipment and software 333 333 - - - 2000
Prepayment Cards Limited Supplying and servicing of

prepaid fare collection systems 47.1 47.1 2,405 5355 2,405 6542
ECard Pty Limited Development of smart

card market - 390 - - - —
Total investments in associated companies 2,405 5.355 2,405 8542

All of the aforementioned associated companies have a reporting date of 30 June, except for Prepayment Cards Limited which has
a reporting date of 31 March.

ECard Pty Limited is no longer an associate due to the sale of 39% shareholding on 14 November 2002.
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Consolidated

2003 2002
$000 $00¢
41 Investments in Associated Companies (continued)
Movements in Carrying Amounts of Investments in Associates
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 5,355 65,351
Acquisition of investments - 2,368
Provision for diminution - (58.876)
Share of loss from ordinary activities after income tax (2,950) (3.488)
Carrying amount at the end of the financial year (note 14) 2,405 5355

Results Attributable to Associates

Loss from ordinary activities before income tax (2,950) (3,488)
Income tax expense - -

Loss from ordinary activities after income tax (2,950) (3,488)
Accumulated losses attributable to associates at the beginning of the financial year (20,999) (17511
Accumulated losses attributable to associates at the end of the financial year (23,949) (20,999)

Share of Associates’ Expenditure Commitments

Lease commitments 1,254 475
Capital commitments - [,140
Total share of associates’ commitments 1,254 1615

Summary of the Performance and Financial Position of Associates
The aggregate profits, assets and liabilities of associates are:

Loss from ordinary activities after income tax (8,076) (38,289)
Assets 87,098 137977
Liabilities (69,207) (86,154)
Net assets 17,891 51,823

42 Events Occurring After Balance Date

The consolidated entity announced that an agreement has been signed with Azienda Tramvie e Autobus del Comune di Roma
(ATAC), the organisation administering the public transport in Rome, to restructure the original contract for the supply, installation
and operation of the public transport ticketing system in Rome and Lazio.

The restructure will result in the return of approximately $50,800,000 in cash to ERG in the short term, the elimination of
approximately $7,000,000 in annual depreciation charges and the continued involvement in the operation of the system for eight
years. The terms of the new relationship are as follows:

o ATAC will purchase the public transport ticketing hardware, with the exception of the central clearing house, from ERG for a
consideration of $35,700,000. On signing of the contracts $27.900,000 is due within 15 days, of which $10,200,000 has been
received. The remainder of $7,800,000 is due in two instalments within six months. ATAC has pre-arranged external bank
financing for this purchase.

e ERG and ATAC will establish a new company ("Newco'") that will operate the ticketing system. ERG will own 30% of Newco
and will contribute approximately $3,100,000 in cash to the new entity.

o Newco will purchase the rights to use ERG'’s software for $10,000,000 payable in cash on signing of the contracts. ERG will
also receive an annual software maintenance fee of $1,900000 for a period of eight years.

* In return for operating the system, Newco will receive an annual fee from ATAC of 7.85% of all transit fares processed by the
system. This operating contract has an initial term of eight years, with the annual fee estimated to be in the range of
$35,000,000-40,000,000, before operating costs.

e ERG will be paid an additional $5,100,000 for software engineering services to be supplied over the next 12 months.
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42 Events Qccurring After Balance Date (continued)
This event did not have a financial impact in the year ended 30 june 2003.

At the date of this report, other than as detailed above, no matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2003 that will
significantly affect or may significantly affect:

e the operations in the financial year subsequent to 30 June 2003 of the consolidated entity constituted by ERG and entities it
controls from time to time; or

e the results of those operations; or

e the state of affairs in the financial year subsequent to 30 June 2003 of the consolidated entity.

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000
43 Reconciliation of (Loss) Profit from Ordinary

Activities After Income Tax to Net Cash (Qutflow)
Inflow from Operating Activities
(Loss) profit from ordinary activities after income tax (201,554) (249.799)  (208,720) (252919)
Correction of fundamental error - - 46,625 -
Depreciation and amortisation 38,584 76,129 11,932 4321
Amortisation of borrowing costs - 4,126 - 4,126
Equity accounted losses 2,950 3,488 - -
Unrezlised profit on sales to equity associate - 2,006 - -
Interest on equity component of convertible note 870 969 870 969
(Profit) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (736) 616 85 -
Provision for employee entitlements 345 387 91 -
Provision for warranty 589 (2,185) - -
Provision for inventories 328 (4.567) - -
Write down to recoverable amount of investment 4,790 - 13,625 (4,338)
Write down to recoverable amount of intangibles 2,465 - - -
Provision for doubtful debts 16,1010 (5.678) 103,744 190,000
Foreign exchange ~ net 12 1,257 6,687 (43)
Write down of investments - 59933 - 27,771
Net (profit) loss on sale of investments (5,247) 14,064 - 11,797
Loss on sale of former controlled entity 56,394 - - -
Reinvestment of dividends received - (791) - -
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in prepayments 1,318 (4,986) (154) 299
{Increase) decrease in trade debtors 33,370 5.150 4,054 10,166
(Increase) decrease in inventory 25,878 20,152 751 (rn
{Increase) decrease in other assets - - - -
(Increase) decrease in future income tax benefit - 23593 - 135
{Increase) decrease in other debtors 1,801 (3.968) 5,959 30
Increase (decrease) in trade creditors (1,752) (14,745) 102 -
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses (9,245) 16,590 9205 I
Increase (decrease) in deposits held and deferred income 17,533 6,820 - -
Increase (decrease) in provisions 929 5722 703 -
Increase (decrease) in deferred income tax liability - (19.625) - (3.644)
Increase (decrease) in other non-current liabilities 10,715 10,629 - -
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities (3,452) (54713) (12,741) (11430)
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30 JUNE 2003

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000C $000 $000
43 Reconciliation of (Loss) Profit from Ordinary
Activities After Income Tax to Net Cash (Qutflow)
Inflow from Operating Activities (continued)
Financing Arrangements
The consolidated entity has access to the following
financing facilities:
Total facilities available at balance date
Stand-by credit lines 25,435 38,636 25,435 20,000
Leasing - 940 - 76|
25,435 39576 25,435 20,761
Facilities utilised at balance date
Stand-by credit lines 25,43% 36,459 25,435 20,000
Leasing - 940 - 761
25,435 37,399 25,435 20761
Facilities not utilised at balance date
Stand-by credit lines - 2,177 - -
Leasing - - - —
- 2177 - -

The leasing facilities were used to fund property, plant and equipment including computer equipment. The facilities were non-
revolving and have now been fully paid out.

The stand-by credit lines may be drawn at any time and are subject to annual review. The $20,000,000 Commonwealth Bank of
Awustralia facility was fully paid during 2003.

44 Non-Cash Financing and [nvesting Activities

Shares in the parent entity were issued upon conversion of the listed convertible notes into ordinary shares to the value of
$250,000,000 (2002: $7,177,500). (Refer to note 25 for further detalils of the convertible notes.)

The parent entity also issued ordinary shares to the value of $9,374,223 (refer to note 28) in satisfaction of an interest payment
due on the listed convertible notes and ordinary shares with a face value of $1,495,940 upon the conversion of unlisted
convertible notes to equity.

During the previous financial vear, the parent entity issued ordinary share capital to the value of $21,151,614 (refer to note 28)
as partial consideration for the acquisition of the shares which the consolidated entity did not already own in Proton World
international SA. The purchase price also included a deferred cash settlement of $48,906,530. (Refer to note 39 for further
details of this acquisition.)
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Consolidated

2003 2002
Cents Cents

45 Earnings per Share
Basic (loss) earnings per share (188.8) (316.6)
Diluted (loss) earnings per share (188.8) (316.6)

Consolidated

2003 2002
3000 $000
Earnings used in calculating basic earnings per share and
diluted earnings per share (198,258) (243.879)

Consolidated

2003 2002
Number Number
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year used in the calculation of basic earnings
per share 105,009,913 77,032,869

In accordance with the 2003 Recapitalisation Proposal, the Company implemented a ten for one share consolidation. The
comparative has been adjusted to reflect this consolidation.

Diluted Earnings per Share
The following weighted average potential ordinary shares are not dilutive and are therefore excluded from the weighted average
number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share:

Consolidated

2003 2002

Number Number

Convertible notes 7,264,955 10,190,457
Options 1,805,299 1,063,466
9,080,254 11,253,963

There have been no other conversions to, call of, or subscriptions for ordinary shares or issues of potential ordinary shares since
the reporting date and before the completion of these financial statements,

46 Financial Instruments

() Off-Balance Sheet Derivative Instruments
ERG Limited and certain controlled entities are parties to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order
to hedge exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and to trade.
Forward Exchange Contracts

The consolidated entity enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge certain anticipated purchase and sale
commitments denominated in foreign currencies.
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46 Financial Instruments (continued)

Buy Australian Dollars Average Exchange Rate
2003 2002 2003 2002

Sell Foreign Currency $000 $000

Maturity

Less than one year:

Hong Kong dollar - [1,985 - 41328

Singapore dollar - 5,494 - 1.0663

New Zealand dollar - 345 - 12185
- 17,824

Later than one year but not later than two years:

Hong Kong dollar - 4,900 - 42213
- 4,900

Later than two years but not later than five years:

Hong Kong dollar - 1,896 - 39560
- 1,896

As these contracts are hedging anticipated future purchases or sales, any unrealised gains and losses on the contracts, together with
the cost of the contracts, are deferred and will be recognised in the measurement of the underlying transaction. Included in the
amounts deferred are any gains and losses on hedging contracts terminated prior to maturity where the related hedged transaction
is still expected to occur,

There were no outstanding contracts to buy foreign currency at 30 June 2002 or 30 June 2003.

The net unrecognised loss on hedges of anticipated foreign currency purchases and sales at 30 June 2003 was nil (2002 loss
$23,624).

(il Credit Risk Exposure
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The
consolidated entity measures credit risk on a fair value basis.

The consolidated entity does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of
counterparties having similar characteristics.

Foreign exchange contracts are subject to credit risk in relation to the relevant counterparties, which are principally large banks.
The maximum credit risk exposure on foreign currency contracts is the full amount of the foreign currency the consolidated entity
pays when settlement occurs, should the counterparty fail to pay the amount which it is committed to pay the consolidated entity.
The full amount of the exposure is disclosed in note 46(i).

(i) Interest Rate Risk Exposure
The consolidated entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for each class of financial
assets and liabilities are set out on the following page.

Exposures arise predominantly from assets and liabilities bearing variable interest rates as the consolidated entity intends to hold
fixed rate assets and liabilities to maturity.
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46 Financial Instruments (continued)

2003 Fixed Interest Maturing in:
Floating | Year Over | to 5 Non-Interest
Interest Rate or Less Years Bearing Total
Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and deposits 8 21,604 259 - 1,010 22,873
Receivables 9 13 - — — 171,894 71,894
Other financial assets 115 - - - 724 724

21,604 259 - 173628 19549
Weighted average interest rate 2.57% 3.52%

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other creditors 19,24 - - - 59.888 59,888
Other loans 20,23.25,27 - 32,210 25,435 1,302 58947
Provisions 22,26 - - - 12,380 12,380
- 32210 25435 73,570 31,215
Weighted average interest rate 3.57% 10.00%
Net financial assets (liabilities) 21,604 (31,851 (25,435) 100,058 64,276
2002 Fixed Interest Maturing in:
Floating ! Year Over | to5 Non-Interest
Interest Rate or Less Years Bearing Total
Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000C

Financial Assets

Cash and deposits 8 38919 - - (518) 38,401
Receivables 9,13 - 6,340 17,756 168,187 192,283
Other financial assets 11,15 - - - 21,347 21,347

38919 6,340 17756 189,016 252,031
Weighted average interest rate 3.25% 524% 5.24%

Financial Liabilities

Bank overdrafts and commercial bills 20,25 - 25417 7011 - 36,428
Trade and other creditors 19 - - - 93,224 93,7224
Convertible notes 20,25 - 22818 247218 - 270,036
Other loans 20,23,25 - 25,165 14529 5,637 45331
Lease liabilities 20,25 - 817 123 - 940
Provisions 22,26 - - - 12,435 12,435
- 78217 268,881 111,296 458,394
Weighted average interest rate 5.61% 7.24%
Net financial assets {liabilities) 38919 71877y (251.125) 77,720 (206,363}
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46 Financial Instruments {continued)
Reconciliation of Net Financial Assets to Net Assets
2003 2002
Notes $000 $000
Net financial (liabilities) as per previous page 64,276 (206,363)
Non-financial assets and liabilities:
Inventories 10 25,053 34902
fnvestments accounted for using the equity method [4 2,405 5355
Property, plant and equipment 16 70,226 84,841
Intangibles 17 89,926 243,243
Other assets 12,18 26,401 49,764
Current tax liabilities 21 (969) (803)
Other liabilities 23,27 (78,603) (59.192)
Net assets per statemenit of financial position 198,715 151,747
(iv) Net Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

On-Statement of Financial Position

In the opinion of the Directors, the net fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value.

Off-Statement of Financial Position

For forward exchange contracts, the net fair value is taken to be the unrealised gain or loss at balance date calculated by reference
10 the current forward rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles.

47

Technology Investment Transaction

ERG IP Pty Ltd (ERG IP) has previously entered into a Technology Investment Transaction with two investors (‘the Investors™).
Under the transaction, ERG IP is required to pay the Investors a royalty based on a percentage of certain revenues derived by the
ERG Group. Royalties payable to the Investors are accrued as an expense from ordinary activities in the year incurred. A royalty
expense of $54,875 was attributable to the current financial year (2002: $182,957).

in certain limited circumstances, ERG IP may be required to subscribe for shares ("Subscription Obligation™) in the Investors.
ERG [P's Subscription Obligation, if called upon, will be fully set-off against a security deposit established by ERG IP at the time of
the transaction. The security deposit and Subscription Obligation have not been recorded in the statement of financial position.

At 30 June 2003, the security deposit of $36,130,000 (2002: $33,567,000) would fully discharge the potential Subscription
Obligation.

In certain limited circumstances, the parent entities of the Investors also have the right to exercise put options in respect of the
shares they hold in the Investors. If the put options were exercised at 30 June 2003, it is estimated that ERG IP's potential liability
would range between $2 and $1 1,356,193 (2002: $2 and $10,525,133). The put options have not been recorded in the statement
of financial position.

The Subscription Obligation and put options may be enacted in circumstances which include failure by the parties to meet
performance obligations, material misrepresentations, winding up or dissolution of any of the parties, the appointment of a receiver
or receiver and manager, trustee, administrator or similar officer, the disallowance of all or any part of licence fees as a deduction
from the assessable income of the Investors, and the expiration or termination of the transaction agreement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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48 Fundamental Error

ERG Limited (ltalian Branch) was incorporated on 28 March 2000. Being a branch office of the parent entity, the assets, liabilities
and performance of this office are required to be included both within the parent entity and the consolidation information in the
financial report. However, since incorporation, the assets, liabilities and performance of ERG Limited (ltalian Branch) have been
recorded only on a consolidated basis. Accordingly, the parent entity information has been risstated for the effect of this branch
office. The amount of the correction to accumulated losses at | July 2001 is $5,308,665 loss. For the financial year ended

30 June 2002, the effect on the statement of financial performance is to increase the loss by $41,316,249. The following

restated statement of financial performance, statement of financial position and statement of cash flows show the effect of these
adjustments had they been corrected in the 2002 financial year.

The net effect of the adjustments detailed above have actually been corrected in the financial year ended 30 June 2003, being the
first year this error was noted, and have been reflected on the statement of financial performance as a correction of fundamental
error amounting to $46,624.914. There is no tax effect resulting from this adjustment.
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48 Fundamental Error (continued)

Restated Statement of Financial Performance for the Year Ended 30 June 2003

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $00¢ $000

Revenue from ordinary activities 327,631 301,552 38,519 36,746
Expenses from ordinary activities (504,729) (514499)  (181,559) (305,681)
Borrowing costs (21,159) (29.703) (19,055) (27.993)
Share of net loss of associates accounted for using the

equity method (2,950) (3.488) - -
Correction of fundamental error - - - -
(Loss) from ordinary activities before income tax (2010,207) (246,138)  (162,095) (296.928)
Income tax (expense} benefit relating to ordinary activities (347) (3.661) - 3,509
(Loss) from ordinary activities after related income tax (2010,554) (249,799)  (162,095) (293419)
Net loss attributable to outside equity interest 3,296 5920 - -
Net (loss) attributable to members of ERG Limited (198,258) (243.879)  (162,095) (293.419)
Net exchange differences on translation of financial

reports of self-sustaining foreign operations (7,345) (1,183) 714 (816)
Total changes in equity other than those resulting

from transactions with owners as owners (205,603) (245062)  (161,381) (294.235)

Cents Cents

Basic (loss) earnings per share (188.8) (316.6)

Diluted (loss) earnings per share (188.8) (316.6)
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48 Fundamental Error (continued)

Restated Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2003

Consolidated Parent Entity
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

Current Assets
Cash assets 22,873 38401 - 12,473 3,633
Receivables 81,523 124,650 7,472 12,940
Inventories 25,053 34902 1,675 2,359
Other financial assets - 15,793 - -
Other 12,705 21,466 1,005 6,603
Total current assets 142,154 235212 22,627 25535
Non-Current Assets
Receivables 920,371 67,633 128,840 277,841
Investments accounted for using the equity method 2,405 5355 - -
Other financial assets 724 5554 8,286 21911
Property. plant and equipment 70,226 84,841 53,666 63,089
Intangible assets 89,926 2437243 26,294 30,044
Other 13,696 28,298 - -
Total non-current assets 267,348 434,924 217,086 392,885
Total assets 409,502 670,136 239,713 418420
Current Liabilities
Payables 59,846 93,224 12,059 21,068
Interest-bearing liabilities 32,212 78217 - 42818
Current tax liabilities 969 803 - -
Provisions 12,021 [1,970 1,706 932
Other 22,069 14,991 2,805 4337
Total current liabilities 127,117 199,205 16,570 69,155
Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 42 - 42 -
Interest-bearing liabilities 25,435 268,881 25,435 247218
Provisions 359 465 - -
Other 57,834 49,838 - -
Total non-current liabilities 83,670 319,184 25,477 247218
Total liabilities 210,787 518,389 42,047 316,373
Net assets 198,715 151,747 197,666 102,047
Equity
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 617,831 361,964 617,831 361,964

Reserves (9,705) (4016) 714 (1,134)

(Accumulated losses) (423,228) (223314)  (420,879) (258,783)
Total parent entity interest 184,898 134,634 197,666 102,047
Outside equity interests in controlled entities 13,817 17,013 - -
Total equity 198,718 151,747 197,666 102,047
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48 Fundamental Error (continued)

Restated Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 30 June 2003

Consolidated Parent Entity

2003 2002 2003 2002

5000 $000 $000 $000
Cash Flows from Qperating Activities
Receipts from customers 257,729 279231 30,917 22868
Payments to suppliers and employees (224,279) (300,609) (26,810) {40,064
Dividends received - 3 - -
Interest received 950 3,303 451 2,720
income tax {paid) refund received (181n) 10 - -
Government grants received - \ - -
Interest paid and borrowing costs (13,671) (24215) (10,219) (23,160)
Research and development expenditure (16,956) (10,594) - -
Redundancy costs (664) (1,943) - -
Restructure and advisory costs (6,380) - (6,380) -
Net cash (outfllow) inflow from operating activities (3,452) (54.713) (12,741) (37,636)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Research and development expenditure capitalised - (12,583) - -
Repayments from associated entity 8,721 - 8,721 9.364
Advances to associated entity (7,675) (2,170) - -
Payments for investment in associated entity (4,337) (13.983) (4,337) (13,983)
Payment for purchzse of controlled entity, net of cash acquired - (7,455) - -
Proceeds from sale of investment in associated entity 5,000 - - -
Proceeds from sale of controlled entity, net of cash disposed 48,956 - - -
Payment for purchese of technology licence (8,905) - - -
Payments for property, plant and equipment (4,395) (14911 (1,999) -
Payments for purchase of investment - (6.139) - -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,379 795 1,409 -
Proceeds from sale of investment 16,125 22,604 - -
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities 55,869 (33,842) 3,794 (4.619)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Advances to controlled entities - - 53,602 (62.109)
Proceeds from issue of shares - 99,954 - 99,954
Dividends paid (17) (4,885) (17 (4,885}
Repayment of cther loans (23,719) (5,259) (16,392) -
Repayment of convertible notes (21,322) - (21,322) -
Share issue expenses (2,445) - (2,445) -
Proceeds of other loans 410,827 - 41,827 -
Bond payments (32,179) - (17,566) -
Proceeds from commercial bills - 45,000 - 45,000
Repayment of commercial bills {20,000) (35,000) (20,000) (35.000)
Repayment of finance lease principal (942) (1,321) - -
MNet cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities (58,797) 98,489 17,687 42,960
Net increase (decrease) in cash held (6,380) 9,934 8,740 705
Cash at the beginning of the financial year 28,984 20512 3,633 2,888
Effects of exchange rate changes on opening cash

held in foreign currencies 269 (1,462) 102 40
Cash at the end of the financial year 22,873 28,984 12,475 3,633
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The Directors declare that:
(8) the financial statements and notes thereto set out on pages 8 to 68

(i) comply with Accounting Standards

(i) give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Company and the consolidated entity
(b) in the Directors’ opinion

(i) the financial staterents and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001

(i) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable.

At the date of this declaration, the Company is within the class of companies affected by ASIC Class Order 98/1418. The nature of the
Deed of Cross-Guarantee is such that each company which is party to the deed guarantees to each creditor the payment in full of any
debt in accordance with the Deed of Cross-Guarantee.

In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the companies to which the ASIC Class Order
applies, as detailed in note 40 to the financial statements, will, as a group, be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are,
or may become, subject by virtue of the Deed of Cross-Guarantee.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to s295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

P ) Fogarty
Director

Perth, Western Australia, 30 September 2003
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Independent Audit Report to the Touche
Members of ERG Limited Tehmatsu

Scope

The Financial Report and Directors’ Responsibility

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of cash flows, accompanying
notes to the financial statements, and the Directors’ declaration for both ERG Limited (the Company) and the consolidated entity, for

the financial year ended 30 June 2003 as set out on pages 8 to 69. The consolidated entity comprises the Company and the entities it
controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year.

The Directeors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with
the Carporations Act 200! . This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are
designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit Approach

We have conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the Company.
Our audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards to provide reasonable assurance whether the financial
report is free of material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgment, selective
testing, the inherent limitations of internal controls, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit
cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the financial report is presented fairly in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001 and Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia so as to present
a view which is consistent with our understanding of the Company’s and the consolidated entity's financial position, and performance as
represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows.

Cur procedures included examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the financial report, and
the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting estimates made by the Directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature and extent
of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls,

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements and the
Corporations Act 200/,

Audit Opinion
In our opinion, the financial report of ERG Limited is in accordance with:
(a) the Corporations Act: 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company's and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2003 and of their
performance for the year ended on that date

(iiy complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001

(b) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia.

O?//o, e/ GMM /@LMMM

eloitte Touche Tohmatsu

?@ée) @/M@@ .

P Mclver
Partner
Chartered Accountants

Perth, Western Australia, 30 September 2003

The liability of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is fimited by, and 1o the extent of, the Accountants’ Scheme under the Professional Stondards Act {994 (NSW).
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ZRG LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Investor Information

The investor information set out below was applicable as at 23 September 2003.

Twenty Largest Shareholders

Number of Percentage of

Name Shares Issued Capital
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 47,186,043 |7.64
National Nominees Limited 12,633,882 472
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 11,093,820 415
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 10993966 4.1
PAN Australian Nominees Pty Limited 9,755,867 3.65
ANZ Nominees Limited 4,096,229 1.53
Banksys SA 3,101,651 |16
AMP Life Limited 2736014 1.02
UCA Growth Fund Limited 2,000,000 0.75
Beck Corporation Pty Ltd 1,900,000 071
Tower Trust Limited 1,698,654 064
American Express Travel Related Services Company Inc 1,484,165 055
Interpay Nederland BY 1,484,165 055
Visa International Service Association 1,484,165 0.55
Comsec Nominees Pty Limited 1,087,348 041
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 1,084,176 0.41
Utilico International Limited 1,063,764 0.40
Townson Property Corporation Pty Ltd 1,044,000 0.39
Mr Peter John Fogarty 794 494 0.30
KPL Limited 749,731 0.28

117,472,134 4392

Substantial Shareholders

The Ingot Entities collectively hold 64,317,041 shares as at 23 September 2003. The majority of the beneficial holdings are held through
nominee registered holders. The beneficial holdings are detailed as follows:

Entity Address Holding

Utilico Investment Trust PLC 8% Floor, Exchange House, Primrose Street 44,502,210
London EC2A 2NY England

Ingot Capital Investments Pty Limited Level 1,1 York Street 9819436
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

Stocks Convertible Trust PLC 77a High Street, Brentwood 8.891,739
Essex CMI14 4RR England

Utllico International Limited 97 The Terrace 1,103,656

Wellington New Zealand

Distribution of Listed Qrdinary Shareholders

Units Held - Listed Ordinary Shares Holders Total Units Percentage
- 1,000 ‘ 31933 13,137,781 49
(oot — 5000 13,136 30848415 1.5
500t - 10,000 2,479 18920,461 7.1
10,001 - 100,000 2,154 56,387,010 AN
100,001+ 156 148,201,882 554
49,858 267,495,549 100.0

There were 22,554 holders of less than a marketable parcel of shares,

The percentage of the total holding held by the twenty largest shareholders was 43.92%.
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Investor Information

Shareholder Enquiries
Shareholders seeking information regarding their shareholdings should contact the Company's share registry:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

Level 2, Reserve Bank Building

45 St George's Terrace

Perth Western Australia 6000

Telephone  +61 8 9323 2000

Facsimile +61 8 9323 2033

Website www.computershare.com

Email perthservices@computershare.com.au

Each enquiry should refer to the Securityholder Reference Number (SRN) or Holder Identification Number (HIN) which is shown on
the holding statements and dividend statements.

Alternatively, you can conveniently check your details by visiting our website www.erggroup.com and clicking on the Investor Relations
heading. For security reasons you will then need to key in your SRN or HIN, plus family name and postcode, to enable you to access
your personal information.

This service can provide you with:

»  current holding balances

»  dividend history

> tax file number (TFN) quotation status

> historical price information

e graphs of the share price against market indices

»  downloadable forms for making changes to your shareholder details, such as change of address or dividend direct
credit instructions.

Your Shareholding in ERG Limited

ERG Limited is a participating company in the Australian Stock Exchange's Clearing House Electronic Subregister System (CHESS) which
provides a faster and more efficient settlement of share sales and purchases,

Shareholders with queries concerning the operation of CHESS may contact their stockbroker, the Australian Stock Exchange or the
Company's share registry detailed above. Shareholders with specific enquiries about their buy and sell transactions should contact their
sponsoring stockbroker.

American Depositary Receipts, sponsored by The Bank of New York, can be purchased through brokers in the US.

Change of Address

If you change your address, please notify the share registry in writing as soon as possible, quoting your SRN and your old address for
security purposes. Broker-sponsored shareholders should directly notify their sponsoring stockbroker.

Change of Name

Shareholders who have changed their name should notify the share registry or their sponsoring stockbroker in writing attaching a copy
of the relevant marriage certificate or deed poll.

Tax File Number

The Company is obliged to deduct tax from dividend payments to shareholders registered in Australia who have not quoted their TFN
to the Company. If you have not already quoted your TFN, you may do so by contacting the share registry.

Removal from Annual Report Mailing List

Shareholders who do not wish to receive the annual report, or who are receiving more than one copy, or elect to view the annual
report through our website, should advise the registry in writing,




Group Directory.

AUSTRALIA

Western Australia
Head Office

ERG Group

247 Balcatta Road
Balcatta WA 6021
Telephone

Facsimiles

ERG Group (Corporate) +61 8 9273 1208

+61 892731127
+61 89344 3686
Administration/Accounts +61 8 9273 1189

ERG Card Systems
ERG Transit Systems

New South Wales
ERG Transit Systems Ltd
Unit A, 28-32 Egerton Street
Silverwater NSW 2128
Telephone +61 2 §748 0800
Facsimile +61 2 9748 8760

ERG Card Systems (Aust) Lid. ~— -

ERG Transit Systems Ltd
Town Hall House

Level 21, 456 Kent Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Telephone +61 2 9390 5503
Facsimile +61 2 9390 5599
Victoria

ERG Transit Systems Ltd

121127 High Street

Prahran Vic 318l ‘
Telephone +61 3 9526 2300
Facsimile +61 3 9526 2433

Queensland ;

ERG Transit Systems Ltd

Unit 3, 80 Hope Street

South Brisbane Qld 4101
Telephone +61 7 3255 0299
Facsimile +61 7 3255 0549

+61 8 9273 1400

NT L4Z 2H6.
1905 890 2794
T A1 905 8904590

S“stems (Fr a.) SA -~

' 'f+33 38140 I'1 40"
+33 3 81 53 73 84

: ns Systems (HK) Ltd
|3IO-| l Telford Housé

852 2798 7339
4852 2753 8798

ViaTorine 167

001 84 Rome

- 439 06 4786 61—

Facélmlle 439 06 4786 6225

+65 6837 2273
.+65 6837 2298

= Arenavigen47.
SE—121 28 S*tockholm—Globen

Telephone: : +46.8 659 0800
Facsimite:z == #46 8 659 7730
UNITED:KINGPOM

ERG Transtt Systems (UK) Lad
Unit |-Riverside -
 ‘Waters-Meeting Road

The Valley:
Botton BEF&TT - —
Telephone:: = =+44 1204 384 709

Facsimile ™ 27 ... %44 1204 384 806

ERG Trans:t Systems (USA) Inc
Suite 900,-+800 Sutter Strest
Concord CA 94520

Telephone = 1 925 686 8200
Facsimile - - +] 925 686 8220

ERG Transit Systems (USA) Inc
Suite TN, 415 First Aventue South

. Seattle WA 98104

Telephone +] 206 749 5500
Facsimile +1 206 749 9670

Visit olir VWebsite: www.erggroup.com




